Dissemination, Diffusion, and Scale Up of Family Health Innovations in Low-Income Countries



Yale Global Health Leadership Institute OCTOBER 2011

This report was prepared for the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, Family Health Division by researchers at the Yale Global Health Leadership Institute.

Dissemination, Diffusion and Scale Up of Family Health Innovations in Low-Income Countries

Principal Investigators

Elizabeth H. Bradley, MBA, PhD Professor of Public Health, Yale School of Public Health Faculty Director, Yale Global Health Leadership Institute

Leslie A. Curry, MPH, PhD Research Scientist, Yale School of Public Health Faculty, Global Health Leadership Institute

Co-Investigator

Rafael Pérez-Escamilla, PhD Professor of Epidemiology, Yale School of Public Health Director, Office of Community Health

Research Team (in alphabetical order)

David Berg, PhD Shannon Bledsoe, MA Dana Karen Ciccone, MIA Ashley Fox, PhD Dilpreet Minhas, MPH Sarah Pallas, MPhil Kristina Talbert-Slagle, PhD Lauren Taylor, MPH Christina Yuan, MPH

This work was funded by and prepared for the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation with a particular emphasis on meeting the needs of the Foundation's Family Health Division.

Suggested Citation: Bradley EH, Curry L, Pérez-Escamilla R, et al. (2011) Dissemination, Diffusion and Scale Up of Family Health Innovations in Low-Income Countries.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	5
Glossary	6
Chapter 1 - AIDED: A Model for Dissemination, Diffusion, and Scale Up	8
Introduction	9
Methods	11
Overview	11
Key informant interviews	12
Systematic literature review	14
Validation with key informants and external experts	16
Results	16
The AIDED model	18
Assess the landscape.	18
Innovate to fit	19
Develop support	20
Engage with user groups	23
Devolve efforts for spreading the innovation	26
Discussion	28
References	33
Chapter 1 Figures and Tables	38
Chapter 2 - Depo-Provera: An Application of the AIDED Model	41
Background	42
Methods	43
Results	45
Assess	46
Innovate	47
Develop	49
Engage	52
Devolve	54
Discussion	56
References	60
Chapter 2 Figures and Tables	62
Chapter 3 - Exclusive Breastfeeding: An Application of the AIDED Model	67
Background	68

Methods	70
Results	73
Assess	73
Innovate	75
Develop	77
Engage	81
Devolve	84
Discussion	88
References	92
Chapter 3 Figures and Tables	95
Chapter 4 - Community Health Worker Approaches: An Application of the AIDED Model	101
Background	
Methods	103
Results	106
Assess	107
Innovate	109
Develop	112
Engage	114
Devolve	116
Discussion	116
Conclusions	126
References	128
Chapter 4 Figures and Tables	132
Chapter 5 – Social Marketing: An Application of the AIDED Model	138
Background	139
Methods	140
Results	143
Assess	144
Innovate	146
Develop	148
Engage	150
Devolve	152
Discussion	153
References	155

Chapter 5 Figures and Tables	
Chapter 6 - Summary and Next Steps	162
Summary of evidence supporting the AIDED model	
Framework for measurement of the AIDED model	165
Next steps	
Conclusion	
Chapter 6 Figures and Tables	
Appendix	

Executive Summary

In this report, we present the AIDED model for guiding dissemination, diffusion, and scale up of family health innovations in low-income countries. The model was developed using in-depth interviews with experts and practitioners, a systematic review of peer-reviewed and gray literature, and pressure testing with multiple audiences. The AIDED model posits five interrelated components to the complex process of scale up: 1) assess, 2) innovate, 3) develop, 4) engage, and 5) devolve. We identify key activities in the five components that have been linked to successful scale-up efforts of selected family health innovations: Depo-Provera, exclusive breastfeeding, community health worker approaches, and social marketing.

The model represents scale up as a complex adaptive system in which the several interlocking parts interact in diverse and sometimes unpredictable ways. Nonetheless, the indepth interviews and literature synthesis suggests important patterns that are prominent in successful scale-up efforts and less apparent in failed efforts. These include explicit, early investment in assessment of community receptivity to the innovation and of the key environmental forces that may promote or limit scale up; tailoring of the innovation to fit target user groups; development of political, regulatory, socio-cultural, and economic support for the use of the innovation in target user groups; deep engagement with target user groups to ensure that the innovation from the index user groups to additional sets of user groups often through social and professional networks and relationships. We found only limited evidence for differences in effective scale-up approaches across the different innovation types.

Glossary

Absorption capacity	groups' ability to recognize new information, assimilate it, and apply it to meet the groups' objectives
Adaptation	the process through which the user groups redesign the innovation to better fit their preferences and environment
Assess	to obtain a precise understanding of the index user groups' receptivity to intended innovations and of the environmental context and stakeholders that influence user groups' decisions and practices
Breastfeeding 1-6-24	the practice of initiating breastfeeding within one hour of birth, breastfeeding exclusively for six months, and continuing to breastfeed while introducing complementary feeding until at least two years of age
Community health worker	person trained to assist professional health personnel in communicating with community residents concerning health needs, health behaviors, the availability of health services, and/or in providing basic health care
Complex adaptive system	system that includes several interlocking parts, multiple feedback loops, and several pathways to success; characterized by emergent and somewhat unpredictable events
Depo-Provera	long-acting contraceptive administered by intramuscular injection
Develop	the process of priming the environment to be supportive of increased use of the innovation
Devolve	the process through which the index user groups release and spread the innovation for its re-introduction in new user groups within their peer networks
Diffusion	passive spread of an innovation, which is typically informal and largely uncontrolled
Dissemination	active and planned efforts to encourage target groups to adopt an innovation
Engage	the process of introducing the innovation from outside the user group to inside the user group through such methods as boundary spanners, translating the innovation so that user groups can assimilate the new information, and integrating the innovation into the routine practices and social norms of the user group
Failure	an outcome in which an innovation was used by the index user groups but not subsequently taken up by additional user groups

Index user groups	the first target of dissemination efforts; the first set of targeted user groups who put the innovation to use
Innovate	the process of designing, redesigning, and packaging an innovation so that it is acceptable and perceived as advantageous by potential user groups in their specific context or environment
Innovation	the process of putting an idea into practice among groups for whom the idea is new
Integration	the process by which user groups assimilate the innovation into routine practices and social norms
Introduction	the process by which information about the innovation is given to potential user groups by someone who has an essential, pre-existing role in the potential user groups and who also has contact with people outside the potential user groups
Replication	the process by which identical copies of the original innovation are created by index user groups
Scale up	widespread use among target populations
Social marketing	the application of commercial marketing techniques to design and implement programs to promote socially beneficial behavior change
Translation	the process by which user groups interpret the innovation so that user groups can more readily assimilate the new information

Chapter 1 - AIDED: A Model for Dissemination, Diffusion, and Scale Up in Low-Income Countries

Introduction

Examples abound of innovations that have been shown to be both efficacious and cost-

effective and yet are not widely implemented in practice. Why this occurs is the subject of

much scholarship and debate, particularly in global health where the need for scale up of effective practices is dire; understanding the underlying mechanisms is essential for identifying strategies to promote dissemination, diffusion, and scale up of such innovations.

Several factors have been proposed to explain why effective innovations fail to scale up for widespread use.

Dissemination: active and planned efforts to encourage target groups to adopt an innovation

Diffusion: passive spread of an innovation, which is typically informal and largely uncontrolled

Scale up: widespread use among target populations

These factors can be classified in several broad domains: 1) features of the innovations, 2) characteristics and preferences of potential users of the innovation, 3) social, economic, and political environments in which dissemination and take up occur, and 4) methods by which the innovation is disseminated (Yamey, 2011; Simmons et al, 2007; Greenhalgh et al, 2005; Rogers, 1995; Greenhalgh et al, 2004; Yuan et al, 2010; Wejnert, 2002; McCannon and Perla, 2009). Such broad domains are conceptually useful; however, they provide limited practical guidance on how to successfully scale up evidence-based innovations in global health. Individual empirical studies of scale-up efforts in low-income countries have been published (Billings et al, 2007; Douglas et al, 2010; Noor et al, 2007; Shumbusho et al, 2009; Enarson et al, 2009; Kikumbih et al, 2005; Nunn et al, 2007), but we lack a practical model for dissemination, diffusion, and scale up of innovations in such settings where the need is most acute.

Accordingly, we sought to develop a practical model for dissemination and diffusion of innovations to understand what works in scaling up evidence-based health innovations in lowincome countries. Because extensive literature already exists about models of individual behavior change (Prochaska and Norcross, 2010; Prochaska and DiClemente, 1983; Bandura, 1997; Janis and Mann, 1977; Prochaska, 2008; Velicer et al, 1985; Adams and White, 2005; Brug et al, 2005; Ajzen, 1985; Ajzen, 1991; Godin and Kok, 1996; Rivis et al, 2009; Mullen et al, 1987; Rise et al,

2010; Armitage and Conner, 2001) and about dissemination and diffusion of innovation in health service organizations in high-income countries (Greenhalgh et al, 2005), we focused on spread processes at the organizational and community level in low- and middle-income countries, which may be distinct from those examined in previous literature. We view spread as an ecological phenomenon involving interactions among groups and their environments. This complex process of scale up involves many highly diverse groups, including user communities, provider organizations, non-governmental organizations, funders, and policy making groups. We sought to develop a model that would be applicable to different types of family health innovations, including products, health behaviors, organizational forms, and business models. We used Depo-Provera as an example of a product innovation, exclusive breastfeeding as an example of a health behavior innovation, community health workers (CHWs) as an example of an innovation in organizational form, and social marketing as an example of a business model innovation. We focused on exclusive breastfeeding instead of breastfeeding 1-6-24 because breastfeeding 1-6-24 is not discussed in adequate depth in the literature. These sample innovations provided useful lenses through which to examine the dissemination, diffusion, and

scale-up processes because of their strong evidence base and potential impact in improving health globally.

Methods

Overview

We used multiple methods in this study, including in-depth interviews, systematic literature review, and 'pressure testing' with selected key informants and third party experts. This combination of methods was selected to enable integration of findings from both peerreviewed academic sources and firsthand practitioner experience. In addition, we examined

the theoretical literature on dissemination, diffusion, and scale up from diverse disciplines including biology, economics, psychology, organizational theory, sociology, and knowledge management. The study had several phases. First, we conducted in-depth interviews, following principles of grounded theory (Glaser and Strauss, 1967) to generate a hypothesized a fivecomponent conceptual model, which we called the

Methods at-a-glance

Interviews with 27 key informants with expertise in family health innovations in lowincome countries

A systematic review of peerreviewed and gray literature for each of the innovations

'Pressure testing' feedback sessions with 5 key informants in 4 independent audiences

AIDED model. Second, we completed a systematic review of peer-reviewed and gray literature relevant to scale up of the four innovations. As part of this synthesis, we employed a standardized data extraction process to identify enabling factors and barriers to dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability reported in the literature. We also mapped the enabling factors and barriers identified by the literature to the five AIDED model components to determine the degree to which the empirical literature supported the AIDED model and to identify evidence gaps. Third, we pressure tested the model by 'member checking' (Lincoln and Guba, 1985), or 'respondent validation' (Mays and Pope, 2000) a commonly used technique to establish credibility of qualitative research findings. During this process, the findings were given back to several of those interviewed for the study and discussed in forums of experts and practitioners. We refined the model based on feedback as appropriate (see **Appendix** for feedback and our responses).

Key informant interviews

We conducted in-depth interviews with key informants who had a broad range of

experiences with dissemination and diffusion of the four selected family health innovations in low-income countries. We chose a qualitative approach because this method is well suited for studying complex social processes (Patton, 2002; Sofaer, S. 1999) and for

"Pilot and pray is what most people do in global health. They pilot test some intervention in a district...and then hope for and look for a positive result and then are always somewhat surprised and disappointed when it doesn't scale."

generating novel insights (Crabtree and Miller, 1999; Mays and Pope, 1995; Glaser and Strauss, 1967) through the use of inductive approaches. We developed a purposeful sample of key informants using several sources including relevant peer-reviewed or gray literature, our team's professional networks, and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, which has launched major initiatives in the selected family health innovations. We enrolled respondents until we achieved theoretical saturation (Morse, 1995; Patton, 2002), i.e., until successive interviews produced no new concepts, which occurred with 27 interviews.

Interviews were conducted by research team members with experience in qualitative interviewing; two researchers with diverse backgrounds conducted each interview using a

standard interview guide (**Figure 1**) with broad, open-ended questions and probes to clarify concepts and elicit detail. Respondents were asked to consider relevant experiences in both their current and any previous professional roles. Interviews were conducted in person as feasible (n=12) and via telephone (n=15). Interviews were approximately one hour in duration and were audio-taped and professionally transcribed. In two cases where we had technical difficulties, we used a dedicated note taker instead of a tape recorder. Prior to agreeing to participate in the study, each interviewee received a detailed information sheet describing the study including the risks and benefits and the procedures for confidentiality. Interviewers reviewed and confirmed participants' oral consent to participate and be recorded before initiating each interview. The study was reviewed by the Yale Human Subjects Committee and granted an exemption under 45 CFR 46.101(b)(2).

Analysis was performed by a core multidisciplinary team with expertise in qualitative data analysis. We developed a code structure in stages using systematic, inductive procedures to generate insights grounded in the views expressed by study participants, using principles of grounded theory (Glaser and Strauss, 1967). We used the constant comparison method (Patton, 2002; Glaser and Strauss, 1967; Bradley et al, 2007) to classify key concepts, expanding and refining properties of the codes with review of successive transcripts. We reconciled differences in coding through consensus and finalized a comprehensive code structure, which was systematically applied to all transcripts. We integrated the final codes into larger themes to generate five interrelated, core components of the dissemination, diffusion, and scale-up process as described by key informants.

We employed several methods recommended by experts in qualitative research to improve the trustworthiness and reliability of the findings (Patton, 2002; Curry et al, 2009; Mays and Pope, 2000). These included tape-recording interviews after consent, using a team of five data coders and analysts who reflected different disciplines, and retaining an audit trail of methods and coding decisions throughout the analysis. For a subset of key informants, we performed member checking (Mays and Pope, 2000; Lincoln and Guba, 1985; Mays and Pope, 1995) and incorporated their additional insights from review of the initial findings. We used ATLAS.ti Scientific Software, version 6.1, to facilitate organization, analysis, and retrieval of data.

Systematic literature review

We conducted a systematic review of peer-reviewed and gray literature for each of the four selected innovations. The objective of the literature review was to synthesize the empirical evidence on enabling factors and barriers to dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of each of the innovations in low- and middle-income countries. We included studies conducted in middle-income countries in the review because many countries with middle income (e.g., India, Brazil) today had low income in the past. For each innovation, we searched for peer-reviewed literature in 11 electronic databases (MEDLINE, CINAHL, EMBASE, Web of Knowledge, PsycINFO, Global Health, EconLit, Social Sciences Citation Index, International Bibliography of Social Sciences, Social Services Abstracts, and Sociological Abstracts), including any literature published since the earliest date indexed in each database up to 2010. In addition, we searched the websites of 20 leading global health donors, implementers, and technical agencies to identify relevant gray literature (WHO, UNICEF, UNDP, UNFPA, the World Bank, the African Development Bank, the Inter-American Development Bank, the Asian Development Bank, USAID, CIDA, DFID, SIDA, GTZ, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, CARE, GAIN, Family Health International, Partners in Health, Management Sciences for Health, and John Snow, Inc.). All searches used a standard set of search terms related to dissemination, diffusion, scale up and sustainability and a tailored set of search terms specific to the innovation; the specific search terms for each innovation are presented in Chapters 2 through 5 of this report.

For the peer-reviewed literature, we screened the abstracts of all search results and screened the full text of those articles retained following abstract screening. Screening was conducted independently by two team members to ensure consistent application of the predetermined exclusion criteria. An article was excluded if it did not meet the study's definition of the innovation, if it did not address dissemination, diffusion, scale up, or sustainability of the innovation, if it did not provide empirical evidence about scale up of the innovation, if the full text of the article was not available online, or if the article was not available in English, French, Spanish, or Portuguese.

Gray literature searches included any documents available via the organization's web site on the February 2011 search dates. Due to the large volume of hits generated from these web site searches, the titles of all hits were screened first. If a document appeared relevant on the basis of its title, the full text was reviewed using the same exclusion criteria as applied to the academic literature. Results from the peer reviewed and gray literature searches are presented in Chapters 2 through 5 of this report.

Data extraction from the final sample of peer-reviewed and gray literature was conducted independently by two research team members using a pre-established data extraction form to identify enabling factors and barriers to dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability. The resulting enabling factors and barriers were then mapped to the five AIDED model components to determine the degree of support in the empirical literature for the scale-up process captured in the AIDED model. These mappings of empirical findings to AIDED model components are reported in Chapters 2 through 5 for each of the innovations, respectively.

Validation with key informants and external experts

We also conducted 'member checking' (Lincoln and Guba, 1985), or 'respondent validation' (Mays and Pope, 2000) a commonly used technique to establish credibility of qualitative research findings. In this process, data and interpretations are shared with study participants so that they can react to and provide feedback on the information; these reactions are then addressed and accounted for in the analysis. We conducted 5 of these sessions with study participants; we also conducted 4 additional feedback sessions with non-participant expert groups.

Results

Analysis of in-depth interview data from 27 key informants (**Table 1** on page 40) revealed five interrelated components in the process of dissemination, diffusion, and scale up: assess, innovate, develop, engage, and devolve, which together comprise the AIDED model (**Figure 2** on page 39). Key informants highlighted the complexity of the process, indicating that

the overall process was nonlinear with multiple feedback loops, and suggested that donors and

implementers rarely appreciated this complexity:

There's a lot of magical thinking about what this pilot project or proof of concept will do because it's not very real in terms of the stakes necessary to actually sustain for impact and scale. (Interview #3)

Pilot and pray is what most people do in global health. They pilot test some intervention in a district...and then hope for and look for a positive result and then are always somewhat surprised and disappointed when it doesn't scale. (Interview #5)

With complexity and non-linearity as cross-cutting themes, the following five components

consistently emerged from informants' descriptions of their experiences; taken together, they

comprise the AIDED model. The remainder of this chapter describes the five components of

the AIDED model, supported by data from the key informant interviews. The subsequent

four chapters present applications of the AIDED model to the innovations using the results of

the systematic literature review.

Five components of the AIDED model

Assess: Understand user groups' receptivity to the innovation and the degree of support for the innovation in the political, regulatory, economic, socio-cultural, and technological environments

Innovate: Design and package the innovation to fit with user groups and their environmental context, and to enable index user groups to spread the innovation via social networks

Develop: Build on sources of support and address resistance among stakeholders and opinion leaders; encourage policies, social norms, and infrastructure that will support take up of innovation

Engage: Use existing roles and resources within user groups to introduce, translate, and integrate the innovation into each user group's routine practices

Devolve: Capitalize on existing social networks of index user groups to release and spread the innovation to new user groups

The AIDED model

Assess the landscape.

The first component involves obtaining a precise understanding of the index user groups' receptivity to the intended innovation as well as the environmental context and stakeholders that influence user groups' decisions and practices. Receptivity was distinguished from either need or demand. Need referred to what would be necessary to improve family health from a public health perspective whereas demand referred to what a family may desire, given the net costs and benefits of alternative choices. In contrast, receptivity referred to a state of being open to possible use of the innovation. Key informants suggested that a primary limitation in many scale-up efforts was conflating need and want:

In public health, there is often a lot of confusion between the need and the demand for innovations. There is a tendency to approach the idea with, "okay, if I look at the incidence of this particular disease and I know that this particular intervention can solve that disease...then, why isn't this diffusing more?" You have to work from what consumers want. (Interview #23)

In addition to needs assessment, which is commonly done, the assessment component

includes examining environmental conditions that may promote or impede take up of the innovation. Key informants explained that such conditions include the political, regulatory, economic, social, cultural, technological, and information environments. Such assessments may span multiple levels from the local to the global, as expressed by one key informant with regard to breastfeeding programs:

Assessments occur at various levels. You have the assessment in the community to find out the beliefs and practices in the community. You have opinion leader research...to find out where you stand in terms of policies and their attitudes towards breastfeeding, and then stakeholder analysis. So we have all those types of assessments at the very beginning. (Interview #12) Assessment should also examine previous experiences with the innovation in order to avoid

past pitfalls and identify present barriers to scale up, as one key informant explained:

Has there been any prior experience with whatever process of change you are trying to implement? And if so, what were the formal and informal, explicit and implicit lessons learned by the actors involved? What were these collective pearls of wisdom? (Interview #9)

Innovate to fit.

This component includes designing, redesigning, and packaging an innovation so that it is acceptable and perceived as advantageous by potential user groups in their specific context or environment. Key informants described the process of designing, re-designing, and packaging the innovation as achieving "fit" between the innovation and the user group. Involvement of stakeholders from the user groups at this early stage facilitated matching of the innovation to the user group needs and wants. One key informant highlighted the importance of precise fit to a particular context in the case of Depo-Provera:

To activate this [the injection], it is very simple. A super simple device, it was not a handme-down. This was reengineered for the developing country. There was no developed country use for this technology at all. (Interview #1)

Also important in the process were non-technical features of the innovation design and packaging. For instance, in the case of CHWs as an innovation, experts spoke about CHW task assignments, role definitions, and community perceptions as examples of design and packaging. Key informants highlighted how the visible benefits of using CHWs generated a perceived advantage for the innovation, which was critical to its fit with the community needs and wants, and subsequent take up:

The community has to see CHWs as valuable. If they are doing something the community really values, it will work....In Nepal, CHWs were valued by the community mostly because [of] the Vitamin A program where the community health worker would give

Vitamin A to kids. And that lowered mortality fast, and the communities really valued that. It raised the community health worker status quickly because they had Vitamin A. [Also], kids are dying of pneumonia and [if] the community health worker can save the kid by getting them to the right place and having medicines, then [the] community values that. It is very visible. (Interview #11)

Develop support.

This component refers to priming the environment to be supportive of increased use of the innovation. Developing support involved not only enhancing awareness of the innovation but also building on support and addressing resistance in the environment. This component was therefore directly informed by the environmental assessment. Key informants described resistance from groups that might suffer economic or political losses if the innovation became routine practice:

What you hear at the ministries of health is from people whose livelihood may be affected or whose turf or influence they think is being diminished...we are getting from the nursing association that we have unemployed nurses in Kenya. Why should we have community workers giving Depo injections ...the midwives and doctors will give similar answers and... it turns out to be a turf battle. (Interview #14)

Also involving such groups in the other components such as assessment and innovation was viewed as helpful to addressing resistance and building support.

In addition to potential resistance or lack of support from user groups, key informants also described resistance from diverse groups at local, national, and global levels. These levels included clinicians whose market is threatened by CHWs, Ministry of Finance officials who must balance investments in health with other development priorities, and global agencies that focus on specific diseases rather than broader family health innovations. Key informants indicated that the potential supporters and resisters differed by innovation, market, country, and the time period; hence actions were viewed to be most effective when they were tailored to the

specific context in which the innovation was being disseminated or diffused.

Key informants emphasized the importance of strategic networking and collaboration in

the development of political and economic support and support at the regional, national, and

global levels.

If you understood the political science and the political economy you'd see actually what I need to do is I need to target policy makers first. (Interview #5)

One [effort is] focused at the policy level and working with decision makers...getting them the information that they need to then further promote or, if they are not already convinced, to help them be convinced. (Interview #14)

Legislation and regulatory action that supported the innovation also played a critical role

according to key informants. For instance, in the case of exclusive breastfeeding, a key

informant related the importance of legislation to provide four months paid maternity leave

and to curb the marketing of substitutes for breast milk in Brazil:

Another important aspect that came...were the policies that were...elected by the government...[it was] decided to provide four months of paid maternity leave to formal working women....so '88 came this decision, this law, and also in 1988...an approval of the National Code of Marketing of Breast-Milk Substitute...also important for the continuation of the pro-breastfeeding campaign. (Interview #22)

Several participants also described the development of new policies endorsing task-shifting,

which was noted as fundamental to the spread of both CHWs and Depo-Provera. Here, one

participant describes unsuccessful efforts to encourage take up of injectable contraception in

India due to resistance to task-shifting among policy makers and providers:

The task shifting point is a major policy decision that needs to be made at the country level of saying CHWs [are] able to use injectables. And despite the fact that there was any number of demonstration projects that showed that you could train easily a frontline worker to be able to use an injectable like this one, there typically was no appetite to switch policy. (Interview #1) Understanding and addressing resistance was sometimes accomplished by using data, in some cases from controlled trials funded in the country and in other cases through more nontraditional forms of data. For instance, the highly successful scale up of CHWs in Pakistan involved building political support through evidence-based advocacy:

We spent a year collecting and generating local data from the district on perinatal mortality, its distribution, and causes of death. This more than anything was critical in focusing the attention of the local politicians and policy makers. [We] made several presentations to the Minister of Health and the Director General ...to persuade them of the importance of doing something and getting the buy-in from the program people. (Interview #27)

Key informants also discussed the role of economic incentives in developing support for

the innovation and to propel dissemination and diffusion. In the case of Depo-Provera, for

instance, key informants discussed the importance of developing sufficient incentives to

produce, sell, and buy the product:

It's really not rocket science. You get a product; you put it in a box....If it's cheap enough, people will buy it. If it's too cheap, retailers won't stock it. Play with those two variables. The margins have to be attractive to those within the retail chain, but the end price has to be affordable to the consumer. (Interview #7)

You promise [the manufacturer] more volume, asking them for lower margins. And the premise was that that drug now would go to the supply chain and end up at the frontline at between 30 and 50 cents, more or less. (Interview #3)

Several key informants also noted economic disincentives as major sources of

resistance, particularly in the areas of exclusive breastfeeding and use of CHWs, which were

viewed by infant formula companies and clinicians, respectively, as crowding out their

businesses. Some key informants in this context indicated that economic incentives (monetary

or non-monetary) for end users were important if the innovation required substantial personal

behavioral change, such as adherence to exclusive breastfeeding:

Despite their desire to breastfeed, [women] cannot do it because of economical reasons, social reasons...what kind of incentives should be given to women and families in order to increase the prevalence of choosing breastfeeding....It's a competition between different priorities that women go through. It's not that they don't want to. They have to do something else, to go to work. So the financial incentives would be important I think and that has not been done. (Interview #8)

Engage with user groups.

This component encompasses a set of complex actions to embed the innovation in the social norms of the index user groups. Engagement with user groups was viewed by key informants as occurring throughout the scale-up process and involved: 1) introduction of the innovation from outside the user group to inside the user group via boundary spanners, 2) translation of the innovation so that user groups could assimilate the new information, and 3) integration of the innovation into the routine practices and social norms of the user group.

Introduction of the innovation referred to giving information about the innovation to the potential user group. Critical to the process, however, was that this introduction be accomplished by someone who had an essential, pre-existing role in the potential user group and who also had contact with people outside the potential user group. Key informants described this boundary-spanning role:

We were using community volunteers that were already active in the community....So when we trained them, one of the first activities that they did was community meetings to introduce the new service. So they went out to different types of meetings with different members of the community and that was awareness going in the community about the new service. (Interview 25)

Translation was the facilitation of transmission of the new information so that it may become embedded in the routines and social norms of the user group, allowing new information about the innovation to be assimilated by the potential user groups. Key informants indicated that this is also most effective if led by members of the user groups. In contrast to the innovate component, which includes design and packaging activities that occur

more commonly outside of the user group, translation refers to activities that occur inside the

user group and within existing social structures of the group. In the most concrete

manifestation of this function, translation included the development of practical guides,

blueprints, and protocols in the spoken language of the user group. In reflecting on the success

factors in implementing the community health worker model in Nepal, one key informant

described how people in the community collaborated in translation:

But I think one of the reasons the manual was particularly good [was] ...we contracted with the literacy group and with UNICEF because they had the only good artists...And the three groups [the literacy group, UNICEF, and the Ministry] had to work together to produce the sort of communications...that worked with the CHWs. (Interview #11)

Translation also included more subtle ways to contextualize or frame the innovation in a way

that made it appealing to larger numbers of people in the user group, such as describing the

innovation using local idioms, stories, or historical examples, or associating the innovation with

important values or practices within the group. For instance, describing the implementation of

a community health worker program, a key informant said:

We realized that the best [health] counselors were our cleaning ladies because they knew how to talk with the ladies. They knew the vocabulary, you know....They were from the same neighborhoods...They were more or less the age of the ladies...They were also mothers having the same problems. They talked to them very easily, not [acting as if] I am the boss here...I think it feels as if they were having a conversation. (Interview #21)

In some cases, translation occurred via opinion leaders who, because of their position in the community, were effective in translating information pertinent to the innovation to be assimilated by the larger community. For example, one participant described the experience in

Haiti in which condom use had not been acceptable in the community until a pastor translated

the use of condoms into terms that resonated with the larger community:

[A] pastor agreed to lead up a survey of church goers questioning people in the church about sexual behavior and condom use, and the results came out that showed everybody that that level of promiscuity was as pervasive in the churches as it was outside the churches...It really, really made a huge breakthrough. It broke down barriers and it had an incredible impact on how the churches stopped giving the messages [that were] stigmatizing and discriminating. The bishops there were letting condoms be distributed and actually talking about protection. You know, it just turned them around. (Interview #13)

Integration, the final aspect of the engage component, referred to the embedding of the

innovation in the routines and social norms of a user group. Experts highlighted that such

integration was possible, but rare, and manifested in a variety of ways. In some instances,

integration was enabled because support for the innovation had already been developed in the

user group's environment, such as through legislation and changes to broader cultural norms

beyond the immediate user group. For instance, a key informant described this kind of

integration relative to breastfeeding in Brazil:

The behavior change comes with this facilitation [by] the facilities that the woman finds in society. Instead of being sent out of the bus because she's breastfeeding or out of the health center because she's breastfeeding, on the contrary, she is well received so this behavior became normal. (Interview #22)

In other instances, the innovation became part of social norms of the community, reflecting its integration into the routine practices of the user groups and its sustainability over time. For instance, the CHW position in Nepal was viewed as an honor as it was believed to contribute to one's *dharma* for community service, which was thought to increase their acceptance in what they understood as the "afterlife."

Each of the communities wanted to be a quality midwife and to wear the brand of a Bidan Delima. There was an advertisement campaign, but much more so, it was a peer pressure, a sisterhood.... (Interview #10) At this stage of integration and replication, the innovation was understood as part of the status quo (rather than a threat to the status quo) passed on through routine social interactions, as described by one key informant:

[The diffusion] is not something that a funder or a grantee, not even the Ministry, can really say that they handle. These are social systems that are already operating. I mean the relations between neighbors and households...serve a purpose other than the delivery of healthcare services...they serve a human purpose. (Interview #9)

Devolve efforts for spreading the innovation.

This component involves the index user groups releasing and spreading the innovation for its re-introduction in new user groups within their peer networks. The release of the innovation from the index user groups may result in replication, adaptation, or failure. Key informants indicated that exact replication was a rare phenomenon. Adaptation, the process in which the user groups redesign the innovation to better fit their preferences and environment, was reported as more common by key informants. Failure, when an innovation was used by the index user groups but not subsequently taken up by additional user groups, was also perceived by informants as a common occurrence. Key informants underscored the importance of peer networks in facilitating the process of release and spread to new user groups, suggesting that trust among the network members was essential, as described in these examples:

It's true for Depo. We're having huge success now in family planning in Africa by putting early adopters to counsel other women...getting them to talk about their experience in family planning...I think we are seeing a real normative change in a whole bunch of communities in which we operate around family planning, IUDs, sterilization, injectables because, you know, you get women talking to other women. (Interview #19)

It is human social networks. In the case of vaccination, [we identified] women in communities that had what we thought were natural leadership skills. And in a very haphazard, often times not a real structured manner, we went out en masse as a health system in my state to look for these women and they became the ones that we marketed to. And they were the ones who actually drove the adoption of vaccination among their peer communities. (Interview #9)

In this component, the external parties that helped to establish the innovation in the index user groups may be most important in continuing to help strengthen user groups' networks to facilitate the spread of innovation. Supporting convening of such networks was as described by one key informant:

We did try to bring stakeholders together so they could learn from each other on their experience....In Madagascar, we had the nutrition task force where they might be 50 different organizations...By exchanging information, these groups picked up the tools and the approaches and they would implement them. In Ghana, we worked with support groups [of women to] bring people from different areas of the country together...you [have one] community influencing another community.... So we just try to facilitate some of this, bringing people from different parts of the country together to exchange information. (Interview #12)

Key informants noted that relinquishing the process of group-to-group spread to the

networks had risks, highlighting that "some innovations have some negative and positive

spinoffs" (Interview #11). Positive spinoffs of spread included the take up of innovation

complements. For example, key informants described how increasing the use of CHWs also

spread messages and services that they promoted, such as antenatal care, better hygiene, HIV

testing, and other public health efforts. In contrast, negative unintended consequences were

also identified and some key informants were concerned that scale-up success should be

determined based on comprehensive monitoring and evaluation efforts.

We need a balanced view and measurement impact because sometimes things [can have negative effects]. Think about the pneumonia vaccine. It is good, but it increases illness too maybe. If we can predict that ahead of time, we can plan for it and maybe lessen the negative impacts. (Interview #11)

Discussion

We identified five distinct but interrelated components that comprised the AIDED model for dissemination, diffusion, and scale up of selected family health interventions in low-income countries: assess the landscape, innovate to fit, develop support, engage with index user groups, and devolve efforts for spreading the innovation. Critical to implementing such an

Progression through the AIDED components is not linear Engagement with user groups and development of support in the environment can begin in the assessment and innovation components. For example, user group members and key political and economic stakeholders can be involved in identifying receptivity to the innovation and/or designing the innovation to fit. Assess <

approach is the recognition that the progression through these components may be nonlinear and involve multiple feedback loops, which can necessitate reversions to previous components. For instance, resistance in the environment that arises in the

component of engaging index user groups may require returning to the components of assess the landscape, innovate to fit, and develop support in order to address the barriers to spread.

The model further indicates that successful scale up is not fully under the control of the donor or innovator but rather grows organically out of a deep understanding of and engagement with user groups and their environmental context. Although the model that emerged identified five common components, key informants cautioned that there was no single, definitive way to achieve effective scale up in every context. Rather, they noted the "myth of the magic bullet (Interview #23)," which was summarized by explaining that "these things are often very contextual, and there isn't a magic bullet. Just because something worked

well in one country, doesn't mean it's going to work elsewhere" (Interview #23). Hence, specific actions and strategies within each component remain context-dependent.

The findings suggest that the full process of dissemination, diffusion, and scale up is dependent upon a complex adaptive system, which includes several interlocking parts, multiple feedback loops, and several pathways to success. The emergent and somewhat unpredictable nature of the system has several implications. First, real-time, valid information flow across the system is essential to effective scale up. Because actors in the system adapt based on what they

Issue	Implication
Real-time, valid information flow across the system is essential because misinformation can create suboptimal situations quickly.	Invest in data infrastructure and information-sharing relationships.
Scale up is a multi-factorial process that cannot be attributed simply to specific, planned actions.	Use system interventions that coordinate multiple levels of action (e.g., global, national, local).
Outcomes are somewhat unpredictable in complex adaptive systems.	Develop contingency plans for potential unintended negative consequences.

understand as environmental conditions, misinformation can create suboptimal situations quickly. Therefore, investments in the data infrastructure and the relationships that underpin valid and reliable information flow are paramount. Second, the achievement of widespread innovation use is the result of a multi-factorial process and cannot be attributed simply to specific, planned actions. Because there are multiple paths to the same outcome, system interventions that include coordination of multiple levels of action (e.g., global, national, local) are most likely to produce successful scale up. Last, because the full outcomes are somewhat unpredictable in complex adaptive systems, it is important to anticipate unintended negative consequences that may emerge and to develop contingency plans for these potential occurrences. Furthermore, careful attention to incentives and accountability systems to limit negative consequences is essential to ethical and effective efforts to disseminate and diffuse innovations.

The AIDED model builds on and extends previous literature about scaling up health innovations. Substantial literature exists on scaling up disease-specific interventions such as anti-retroviral therapy for the treatment of HIV/AIDS (Hirnschall and Schwartländer, 2011; Hecht et al, 2010; McCarthy et al, 2006; Gupta et al, 2004), DOTS therapy for the treatment of tuberculosis (Marais et al, 2010; Cobelens et al, 2008; Elzinga et al, 2004), and bed nets for the prevention of malaria (Dunn et al, 2011; Alonso et al, 2011; Flaxman et al, 2010). These studies have consistently identified factors related to product availability, mass and social marketing, funding subsidies and price as driving scale-up success. In an effort to broaden this understanding of the scale-up process, the AIDED model was developed to apply to a range of different innovation types including not only products, but also health behaviors, organizational structures, and business models across diverse diseases and health conditions. Second, the AIDED model traces out the full arc of dissemination, diffusion, and scale up, rather than simply the final step of achieving widespread use of the innovation. Because the AIDED model takes as its point of departure the question of how an innovation is introduced to initial index groups, it offers novel insights into the micro-dynamics of spread that must precede and drive any widespread take up of the innovation. Third, the AIDED model focuses on groups (e.g., organization or community) as mechanisms of spread, in contrast to prior scale-up studies of

individual behavior change (Fischer Walker et al 2011; Larson et al, 2009; Msellati, 2009; Gaziano et al, 2007). Fourth, the AIDED model highlights how the process of dissemination, diffusion, and scale up reflects a complex adaptive system with implications for innovators and funders. Although some studies have addressed the system effects of health innovation scale up, (Peterson, 2010; Assefa et al, 2009; Van Damme et al, 2008; Knippenberg et al, 2005; Lamptey and Wilson 2005), previous work has not fully described the inherent resistance to change and important leverage points for rapid spread, which derive from the complexity and adaptive nature of the scale-up process. Finally, the AIDED model proposes a practical tool for applying the model components to activities and measures that could be used by those designing and implementing scale-up initiatives. Similar to other scale-up frameworks (Yamey, 2011; Simmons and Shiffman, 2007), the AIDED model recognizes the importance of features of the innovation, the user group, and the environment as central to scale up; however, the AIDED model as presented here offers an added level of practical guidance for how these characteristics can be assessed and leveraged for scale up.

Our findings should be interpreted in light of several limitations. First, the inductive approach used to construct the AIDED model did not allow for simultaneous empirical testing of the model. Although this qualitative approach enabled us to identify distinct components within the complex system of dissemination, diffusion, and scale up, future research is required to validate the AIDED model in new contexts other than those described by our key informants. Second, social desirability response bias (Sudman and Bradburn, 1996), in which participants may have misrepresented their experiences in order to provide desirable answers, may have occurred. To minimize this potential bias, our interview teams sought to elicit details that would

be difficult to misrepresent, and instructed respondents to share both positive and negative experiences. Finally, the AIDED model does not address long term sustainability of interventions that are successfully scaled up. This will require further research that can help identify lessons learned based on contrasting levels of success sustaining the scaling up of the same intervention (e.g., breastfeeding promotion, support, and protection) in different countries.

Paradoxically, complex adaptive systems are at once capable of fast and sweeping changes and homeostatic, as each part of the system responds to disturbances in such a way that the system maintains the status quo. We identify several leverage points for launching substantial changes in large systems. Nevertheless, recognizing the fundamental complexity of the dissemination, diffusion, and scale-up process, funders and innovators alike will require flexible strategies of assessment, innovation, development, engagement, and devolution to enable effective change in the use of family health innovations in low-income countries.

References

- Adams J, White M. (2005) Why don't stage-based activity promotion interventions work? Health Educ Res 20(2): 237-243.
- Ajzen I. (1985) From intentions to actions: A theory of planned behavior. In: Kuhl J, Beckmann J, editors. Action control: From cognition to behavior. Berlin, New York: Springer-Verlag. pp. 11-39.
- Ajzen I. (1991) The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 50: 179-211.
- Alonso PL, Brown G, Arevalo-Herrera M, Binka F, Chitnis C, et al. (2011) A research agenda to underpin malaria eradication. PLoS Med 8(1).
- Armitage CJ, Conner M. (2001) Efficacy of the theory of planned behaviour: A meta-analytic review. Br J Soc Psychol 40: 471-499.
- Assefa Y, Jerene D, Lulseged S, Ooms G, Van Damme W. (2009) Rapid scale-up of antiretroviral treatment in Ethiopia: Successes and system-wide effects. PLoS Med 6(4): e1000056. 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000056.
- Bandura A. (1997) Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company.
- Billings DL, Crane BB, Benson J, Solo J, Fetters T. (2007) Scaling up a public health innovation: A comparative study of post-abortion care in Bolivia and Mexico. Soc Sci Med 64(11): 2210-2222.
- Bradley EH, Curry LA, Devers KJ. (2007) Qualitative data analysis for health services research: Developing taxonomy, themes, and theory. Health Serv Res 42(4): 1758-72.
- Brug J, Conner M, Harré N, Kremers S, McKellar S, et al. (2005) The transtheoretical model and stages of change: A critique. Health Educ Res 20(2): 244-258.
- Cobelens F, Heldal E, Kimerling ME, Mitnick CD, Podewils LJ, et al. (2008) Scaling up programmatic management of drug-resistant tuberculosis: A prioritized research agenda. PLoS Med 5(7): e150.

Crabtree B, Miller W, editors. (1999) Doing qualitative research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Curry LA, Nembhard IM, Bradley EH. (2009) Qualitative and mixed methods provide unique contributions to outcomes research. Circulation 119(10): 1442-1452.

- Douglas GP, Gadabu OJ, Joukes S, Mumba S, McKay MV, et al. (2010) Using touchscreen electronic medical record systems to support and monitor national scale-up of antiretroviral therapy in Malawi. PLoS Med 7(8).
- Dunn CE, Le Mare A, Makungu C. (2011) Malaria risk behaviours, socio-cultural practices and rural livelihoods in southern Tanzania: Implications for bednet usage. Soc Sci Med 72(3): 408-417.
- Elzinga G, Raviglione MC, Maher D. (2004) Scale up: Meeting targets in global tuberculosis control. The Lancet 363(9411): 814-819.
- Enarson PE, Gie R, Enarson DA, Mwansambo C. (2009) Development and implementation of a national programme for the management of severe and very severe pneumonia in children in Malawi. PLoS Med 6(11): e1000137.
- Flaxman AD, Fullman N, Otten MW, Menon M, Cibulskis RE, et al. (2010) Rapid scaling up of insecticide-treated bed net coverage in Africa and its relationship with development assistance for health: A systematic synthesis of supply, distribution, and household survey data. PLoS Med. 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000328.
- Fischer Walker CL, Friberg IK, Binkin N, Young M, Walker N, et al. (2011) Scaling up diarrhea prevention and treatment interventions: A lives saved tool analysis. PLoS Med.
- Gaziano TA, Galea G, Reddy KS. (2007) Scaling up interventions for chronic disease prevention: The evidence. The Lancet 370(9603): 1939-1946.
- Glaser B, Strauss A. (1967) The discovery of grounded research: Strategies for qualitative research. Chicago: Aldine.
- Godin G, Kok G. (1996) The theory of planned behavior: A review of its applications to healthrelated behaviors. Am J Health Promot 11(2): 87-98.
- Greenhalgh T, Robert G, MacFarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O. (2004) Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: Systematic review and recommendations. Milbank Q 82: 581-629.
- Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Bate P, MacFarlane F, Kyriakidou O. (2005) Diffusion of innovations in health service organisations: A systematic literature review. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Gupta R, Irwin A, Raviglione MC, Kim JY. (2004) Scaling-up treatment for HIV/AIDS: Lessons learned from multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. The Lancet 363(9405): 320-324.

- Hecht R, Stover J, Bollinger L, Muhib F, Case K, et al. (2010) Financing of HIV/AIDS programme scale-up in low-income countries and middle-income countries, 2009-31. The Lancet 376(9748): 1254-1260.
- Hirnschall G, Schwartländer B. (2011) Treatment 2.0: Catalysing the next phase of scale-up. The Lancet 378(9787): 209-211.
- Janis I, Mann L. (1977) Decision making: A psychological analysis of conflict, choice and commitment. New York: Free Press.
- Kikumbih N, Hanson K, Mills A, Mponda H, Schellenberg JA. (2005) The economics of social marketing: The case of mosquito nets in Tanzania. Soc Sci Med 60(2): 369-381.
- Knippenberg R, Lawn JE, Darmstadt GL, Begkoyian G, Fogstad H, et al. (2005) Systematic scaling up of neonatal care in countries. The Lancet 365(9464): 1087-1098.
- Lamptey P, Wilson D. (2005) Scaling up AIDS treatment: What is the potential impact and what are the risks? PLoS Med 2(2): e39.
- Larson CP, Rani Saha U, Nazrul H. (2009) Impact monitoring of the national scale up of zinc treatment for childhood diarrhea in Bangladesh: Repeat ecologic surveys. PLoS Med.
- Lincoln Y, Guba E. (1985) Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, Calif.: Sage.
- Marais BJ, Raviglione MC, Donald PR, Harries AD, Kritski AL, et al. (2010) Scale-up of services and research priorities for diagnosis, management, and control of tuberculosis: A call to action. The Lancet 375(9732): 2179-2191.
- Mays N, Pope C. (1995) Rigour and qualitative research. BMJ 311: 109-112.
- Mays N, Pope C. (2000) Qualitative research in health care: Analysing qualitative data. BMJ 320: 50-52.
- McCannon CJ, Perla RJ. (2009) Learning networks for sustainable, large-scale improvement. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 35: 286-291.
- McCarthy E, O'Brien ME, Rodriguez WR. (2006) Training and HIV-treatment scale-up: Establishing an implementation research agenda. PLoS Med.
- Morse J. (1995) The significance of saturation. Qual Health Res 5: 147-149.
- Msellati P. (2009) Improving mothers' access to PMTCT programs in West Africa: A public health perspective. Soc Sci Med 69(6): 807-812.
- Mullen PD, Hersey JC, Iverson D. (1987) Health behavior models compared. Soc Sci Med 24(11): 973-981.
- Noor AM, Amin AA, Akhwale WS, Snow RW. (2007) Increasing coverage and decreasing inequity in insecticide-treated bed net use among rural Kenyan children. PLoS Med 4(8).
- Nunn AS, Fonseca EM, Bastos FI, Gruskin S, Salomon JA. (2007) Evolution of antiretroviral drug costs in Brazil in the context of free and universal access to AIDS treatment. PLoS Med 4(11): e305.
- Patton MQ. (2002) Qualitative research and evaluation methods. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Peterson S. (2010) Assessing the scale-up of child survival interventions. The Lancet 375(9714): 530-531.
- Pope C, Mays N. (1995) Reaching the parts other methods cannot reach: An introduction to qualitative methods in health and health services research. BMJ 311: 42-45.
- Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC. (1983) Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: Toward an integrative model of change. J Consult Clin Psychol 51: 390-395.
- Prochaska JO. (2008) Decision making in the transtheoretical model of behavior change. Med Decis Making 28: 845-849.
- Prochaska JO, Norcross JC. (2010) Systems of psychotherapy: A transtheoretical analysis. Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole, Cengage Learning.
- Rise J, Sheeran P, Hukkelberg S. (2010) The role of self-identity in the theory of planned behavior: A meta-analysis. J Appl Soc Psychol 40: 1085-1105.
- Rivis A, Sheeran P, Armitage CJ. (2009) Expanding the affective and normative components of the theory of planned behavior: A meta-analysis of anticipated affect and moral norms. J Appl Soc Psychol 39(12): 2985-3019.
- Rogers EM. (1995) Diffusion of innovations. New York: Free Press.
- Shumbusho F, van Griensven J, Lowrance D, Turate I, Weaver MA, et al. (2009) Task shifting for scale-up of HIV care: Evaluation of nurse-centered antiretroviral treatment at rural health centers in Rwanda. PLoS Med 6(10): e1000163.
- Simmons R, Fajans P, Ghiron L, editors. (2007) Scaling up health service delivery. Geneva: World Health Organization. 30 p. Available: http://www.expandnet.net/volume.htm via the Internet.

- Simmons R, Shiffman J. (2007) Scaling up health service innovations: A framework for action. In:
 Simmons R, Fajans P, Ghiron L, editors. Scaling up health service delivery. Geneva:
 World Health Organization. pp. 1-30. Available: http://www.expandnet.net/volume.htm via the Internet.
- Sofaer S. (1999) Qualitative methods: What are they and why use them? Health Serv Res 34: 1101-1118.
- Sudman S, Bradburn NM. (1996) Thinking about answers: The application of cognitive processes to survey methodology. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Van Damme W, Kober K, Kegels G. (2008) Scaling-up antiretroviral treatment in southern African countries with human resource shortage: How will health systems adapt? Soc Sci Med 66(10): 2108-2121.
- Velicer WF, DiClemente CC, Prochaska JO, Brandenburg N. (1985) Decisional balance measure for assessing and predicting smoking status. J Pers Soc Psychol 48: 1279-1289.
- Wejnert B. (2002) Integrating models of diffusion innovations: A conceptual framework. Annu Rev Sociol 8: 297-326.
- Yamey G. (2011) Scaling up global health interventions: A proposed framework for success. PLOS Med 8(6).
- Yuan CT, Nembhard IM, Stern AF, Brush JE, Krumholz HM, et al. (2010) Blueprint for dissemination of evidence-based practices. Issue Brief (Commonw Fund) 86: 1-16.

Chapter 1 Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Discussion guide used in key informant interviews.

- 1. Let's start by having you describe your role in your current organization.
- 2. We are interested in your experience with Family Health interventions. Thinking of one intervention in particular, can you describe the process, from implementation to scale up of the intervention?
- 3. What kinds of challenges came up and how were those handled?
- 4. Looking back, is there anything that might have been done differently?
- 5. Is there anything else we should have asked to help us understand your experience with the intervention and process of implementation and scale up better?

Figure 2. AIDED model of dissemination, diffusion, and scale up (CAPTION)

The figure on the following page illustrates the user groups (shaded circles) of an innovation (puzzle piece) within their shared environment (rounded rectangle). The model begins with the assess component, which surveys index user groups' receptivity to the innovation and the economic, political, regulatory, socio-cultural and technological environmental conditions. This component also includes identification and engagement stakeholders. The innovate component involves designing and packaging the innovation to fit the index user groups based on the assessment results. The develop component creates a supportive environment for spread of the innovation (represented here by the shaded boundary around the environment). The engage component introduces the innovation to index user groups, where the innovation is translated, integrated, replicated and/or adapted. In the devolve component, the innovation is released from the index user groups to new user groups as a replication, adaptation, or failure of spread. Although the figure is arrayed from left to right, the model recognizes that components may need to be undertaken simultaneously or returned to in iterative feedback loops, as indicated by the blue circular arrows following the list of AIDED components.

Figure 2. AIDED model of dissemination, diffusion, and scale up



Table 1. Table of key informants.

Area of expertise	Number	Organizations
Depo-Provera	4	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
		Family Health International (2)
		Marie Stopes International
Exclusive breastfeeding	4	Alive & Thrive
		Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
		MCH Division, Sao Paulo State Department Brazil
		Pan American Health Organization
Community health worker	4	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (2)
		Division of Maternal and Child Health, Aga Khan
		Malaria Consortium, Uganda
		University Medical Center, Pakistan
Social marketing	6	Abt Associates
		Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
		The Manoff Group
		Population Services International, Guatemala
		Private Sector Partnerships One (PSP-One) Project
		USAID, Guatemala
Policy making	4	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (4)
Miscellaneous	5	Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (5)
Total	27	

Chapter 2 - Depo-Provera: An Application of the AIDED Model

Background

Depo-Provera, a long-acting contraceptive administered by intramuscular injection, is an effective, convenient and increasingly popular family planning method (Malarcher et al, 2011; Stanback et al, 2010; WHO, 2009; Weil et al, 2008). Widespread recognition of these benefits, accompanied by approval by the US Food and Drug Administration in 1992, catalyzed a global doubling of injectable contraceptive use between 1995 and 2005 (Lande et al, 2006). This trend is particularly prevalent among low-income countries; one study found the percentage of married women using injectable contraceptives including Depo-Provera increased between 1995 and 2005 in 40 out of 44 low-income countries (Lande et al, 2006). Nevertheless, Depo-Provera remains out of reach for many women in low- and middle-income countries, particularly those living in rural areas and those who rely on clinic-based distribution systems. Community-based models of distribution have been implemented in a number of countries from diverse development contexts including Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bolivia, Ethiopia, Guatemala, Madagascar, Malawi, Nepal, Peru, and Uganda (Green, 2010; Stanback, 2010; Malarcher, 2010). These models have had varying degrees of success in reaching new and underserved populations for whom the introduction of Depo-Provera and, in some cases, the availability of any form of contraception, is novel.

Despite its demonstrated efficacy, and dramatic increases in its use, little is known about the process of moving from implementation to scaling up models of community based distribution of Depo-Provera. The scale-up has been described in several countries including Uganda (Akol et al, 2009), Ghana (Lande et al, 2006), Vietnam (Fajans et al, 2007), Afghanistan (Huber et al, 2010), Malawi (Hamblin et al, 2009), India (Levy et al, 2009) and Rhodesia (Kaler,

2000). In this chapter, we summarize relevant peer-reviewed and gray literature on scale up of Depo-Provera to illustrate key elements of each of the 5 components of the AIDED model, and identify unifying themes regarding scale up of Depo-Provera that may have relevance for other contraceptive technologies in low- and middle-income countries.

Methods

We conducted a systematic review of the literature on the scale up, and sustainability of Depo-Provera in low- and middle-income countries. We searched 11 electronic databases including MEDLINE, CINAHL, EMBASE, Web of Knowledge, PsycINFO, Global Health, EconLit, Social Sciences Citation Index, International Bibliography of Social Sciences, Social Services Abstracts, and Sociological Abstracts. We included any literature published since the earliest date indexed in each database up to the December 2010 search date. More than ten keywords were used to search for articles related to Depo-Provera (**Table 1**). The keywords were replication, scale up, sustainability, diffusion, dissemination, take up, innovation, diffusion of innovation, technology transfer, information dissemination, acculturation, assimilation, and fidelity.

The searches yielded an initial sample of 249 unique articles after eliminating duplicates (Figure 1). We screened the abstracts of all articles in this initial sample (n=249). An article was excluded at the abstract screening stage if it did not address Depo-Provera as defined in this study or if it did not discuss the scale up or sustainability of Depo-Provera (n=222). We then reviewed the full text of the articles retained following abstract screening (n=27). At the full text screening stage, exclusion criteria were: superficial in its discussion and/or did not provide empirical evidence about the scale up or sustainability of Depo-Provera (n=7), did not address

scale up or sustainability of Depo-Provera (n=4), did not meet the study's definition of Depo-Provera (n=3), did not address low- or middle-income countries (n=3), or full text of the article was not available online (n=1). Following the full text screening, 9 articles were retained for data extraction and analysis.

The gray literature searches targeted the publications/resources databases and websites of the World Health Organization (WHO), UNICEF, UNDP, UNFPA, the World Bank, the African Development Bank, the Inter-American Development Bank, and the Asian Development Bank. We also reviewed the project reports published by major international aid organizations (USAID, CIDA, DFID, SIDA, GTZ), the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; and other influential nongovernmental organizations and partnerships in global health including CARE, GAIN, Family Health International, Partners in Health, Management Sciences for Health, and John Snow, Inc. Due to the large volume of hits generated from these web site searches, the titles of all hits were screened first. If a document appeared relevant on the basis of its title, the full text was reviewed using the same exclusion criteria as applied to the academic literature. Finally, we conducted purposeful searches using the same general approach for cases widely recognized as major Depo-Provera implementation initiatives. This process resulted in 9 documents that addressed the scale up and/or sustainability of Depo-Provera in low- and middle-income countries.

Data extraction from the final sample of academic articles (n=9) and gray literature documents (n=9) was conducted independently by two research team members using a preestablished data extraction form. For each article, the data extraction process identified the study design, geographic location, key findings related to scale up and sustainability of the

intervention. Differences in preliminary data extraction results were harmonized through discussion between the two team members to arrive at a final set of factors influencing the success of Depo-Provera program scale up and/or sustainability. Enabling factors and barriers to scale up and/or sustainability were then grouped into thematic categories, with disagreements resolved through negotiated consensus between the two team members.

Results

The final sample of 18 sources (9 academic articles and 9 gray literature documents) included studies representing a wide range of geographies and methodologies (**Table 2**). These studies examined Depo-Provera programs from 12 unique countries; 5 studies included multiple countries. Among the literature from which we extracted data, 5 of the studies used qualitative methods, such as in-depth interviews, focus groups, or observations, 2 sources presented findings from pre/post interventional studies, 3 used mixed methods (2 document review augmented with key informant interviews, 1 pre/post intervention augmented with key informant interviews, 2 were cross-sectional, 3 were literature reviews or commentaries and 1 involved time-series modeling. 2 of the papers failed to report their methodologies (**Table 2**).

The data extraction process identified 15 enabling factors and 10 barriers to dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and/or sustainability of Depo-Provera programs, which were then mapped to the five AIDED components (**Tables 3 and 4**). In the following section, we summarize the factors (or key activities) and barriers identified in the literature as they relate to each component of the AIDED model, and provide illustrative examples for each. We present four unifying themes characterizing the scale up of Depo-Provera that may also have relevance for scale up of technologic interventions in family health in low- and middle-income countries.

Assess

Key enabling factors. The assess component refers to assessment of the broad landscape within a potential user group , including the needs and wants of the user community, its absorptive capacity, and the political, economic, legal/regulatory, technological and social conditions within its internal and external environment. In the literature we reviewed, the activities described included conducting broad landscape and stakeholder assessments from community to international levels (n=6 articles), dialogue with the community at early stages to understand cultural and religious norms relevant to contraception and family planning (n=5), piloting to determine feasibility in the particular context(n=3), creating structures to ensure use of assessment findings through implementation and scale up (n=1), and identifying potential sources of resistance (n=1).

Barriers: Two barriers to scale up were noted for the assess component, suggesting that a landscape assessment might have identified and addressed such impediments early in the process, ultimately facilitating scale up. These barriers were misaligned government policies (e.g., favoring provision of contraceptives my medical personnel) (n=1), opposition by medical professionals (n=1) and social and cultural norms and dynamics (n=2).

Illustrative example. The process of a comprehensive baseline assessment was described as critical to the introduction of Depo-Provera as part of a package of family planning interventions in Vietnam (Fajans et al, 2007). In 1994, guided by the Strategic Approach to Contraceptive Introduction sponsored by the World Health Organization (Fajans, WHO Report, 2007), the Vietnamese government began the intervention planning with a participatory needs assessment, carried out by the Ministry of Health, the National Committee of Population and

Family Planning and the Vietnam Women's union and together with several international partners. The purpose of the assessment was to determine the suitability and need for contraceptive introduction within a larger initiative to strengthen quality of care in the service delivery system. A dissemination workshop followed in 1995, in which stakeholders reviewed and approved the assessment findings; the pilot intervention began in 1996. Though time intensive, this process served to generate consensus on a dual goal: to improve quality while successfully introducing Depo-Provera to broaden the range of contraceptive choices for women. Individuals who had participated in the strategic assessment were subsequently involved in the design and management of the pilot studies, ensuring continued responsiveness to the issues identified through the assessment. This core team also became the resource team to provide supervision, guidance and mentoring in scale up efforts, as the project grew in scale from 4 to 21 provinces (Depo-Provera is now available in all 64 provinces). In addition to the national level process, tailored, focused assessments were carried out to inform implementation at the local level. Situational analysis was conducted at each of the four pilot sites before implementation; findings were used to improve client flow, logistics and infection control practices at the sites.

Innovate

Key enabling factors. The innovate component includes designing, re-designing, and packaging an innovation so that the innovation is acceptable and perceived as advantageous by potential user groups in their specific context or environment. These processes of designing, re-designing, and packaging the innovation are aimed at achieving 'fit' between the innovation and the user group. In the literature we reviewed, activities in this component included

tailoring the innovation to the existing system capacity (n=9), creating innovative design and packaging features (n=3), ensuring 'fit' between design and socio-cultural norms (n=3); and tailoring innovation to current system capacity (n=9). In particular, the ability for a woman to receive Depo-Provera injections without having to inform her husband or family was highlighted as a critical design feature that enabled scale up in several low-income contexts.

Barriers: Two barriers identified in the literature mapped to the innovate component: lack of system capacity (n=5) and social and cultural norms and dynamics (n=1).

Illustrative examples. Illustrations of the design, redesign, and packaging of Depo-Provera were highly diverse across the case reports. In Rhodesia (now Zimbabwe), for instance, the degree of 'fit' with cultural and religious norms was defined as a key element in the process of creating design features. These norms were manifest in a strong taboo against women controlling fertility, with male dominance and desire to control family size and ensure marital fidelity. Depo-Provera's injectable form allowed 'fit' despite these norms. Administered every 3 months, the Depo-Provera enabled women to take the injection in secret, allowing women navigate the traditionally patriarchal authority without creating friction in their own relationships (Kaler, 2000). The "private acceptors," as the literature refers to them, were married women who used Depo-Provera without consent or knowledge of husbands. This secretive use was facilitated by mobile well-baby clinics that also supplied contraceptives and an approved system of bookkeeping that allowed private acceptors' records to be segregated from others to ensure confidentiality. The scale up of Depo-Provera in Rhodesia was substantial; between 1994 and 2006, the proportion of women choosing injectables for contraception rose from 3% to 10% (Lande et al, 2006).

Literature from a variety of low- and middle- income countries has also supported the use of a specific type of design, the Uniject syringe, for provision of contraceptive injections. In a small pilot among 20 Brazilian providers of another injectable contraceptive, Cyclofem, 80 percent reported that the device was easier to use than a traditional vial and syringe because it did not require disinfection or filling prior to administering the injection. The providers also believed that their clients were reassured knowing that the syringe and needle had not been previously used (Childress, 2011).

The importance of the messaging aspect of the innovation's design was illustrated in the experience of Afghanistan. In addition to detailed information on effectiveness and safety, quotations from the Quran (the holy book of Islam) on the value of birth spacing and breast feeding were included in the packaging of the Depo-Provera. Each quotation was approved by religious leaders known as *mullahs* to allow women to feel that their contraceptive choice was endorsed by the religious structures in the community. Program staff identified the increased social acceptability provided by this kind of packaging as a factor in scale up of Depo-Provera. Overall, the absolute number of women using Depo-Provera doubled, moving the proportion using Depo-Provera from 14 to 40% of women in target groups and use of injectable contraceptives increased most dramatically when compared to other methods (Huber et al, 2010).

Develop

Key enabling factors. In the develop component, attention is directed to fostering enabling relationships, environments and networks among partners that can support and facilitate spread of the innovation. In the literature we reviewed, development activities

included the development of delivery system supports (n=9), collaboration with stakeholders to identify or create supportive structures in the economic, political and technological spheres (n=5), effective education through social marketing (n=4) and nationalistic messaging about Depo-Provera's value (n=2).

Barriers: Five barrier factors were related to the develop component, suggesting the importance of directing attention during development efforts to potential impediments. These included lack of system capacity (n=5), competing alternatives for political or consumer attention (n=3), misaligned government policies and priorities (n=3), data collection challenges (n=3) and lack of knowledge/awareness (n=1).

Illustrative examples. Investment in building and strengthening relationships was common to programs that reported success in scaling up. In Uganda, substantial outreach and advocacy efforts included leadership from the Ministry of Health (MOH) and its nongovernmental organization (NGO) allies; these efforts have been fully catalogued in an advocacy guide (Green, 2010). In this case, the development of cooperative partnerships between the public and private sector required particular attention to the political climate including key decision makers and influential stakeholders, as well as flexibility to adapt to unforeseen shifts in the political environment. This required MOH and NGO partners to develop clear role definitions for all involved; it was agreed that the public sector would be the primary implementer, with the private sector organizations providing mainly technical assistance. This division of labor facilitated scale up and sustainability as the functions were largely detached from transient funding agendas. Together, both the public and private sector also undertook

"continuous community sensitization" efforts, which aimed at creating awareness and educating the community as to the availability of Depo-Provera (Akol et al, 2009).

In addition to developing cooperative environments amongst stakeholders, building systems capacity that can support the innovation's scale up also emerged as a factor facilitating scale up. For instance, in Vietnam, where the introduction of Depo-Provera was framed as a quality improvement effort, new management and supervisory practices were introduced before the launch of the intervention, and included management information tools such as a logbook for clients to record side effects and other information. This required substantial investment in training program staff across the system, from the MOH to provinces, to individual providers and field motivators. The program adopted a philosophy and practice of supportive supervision (in contrast to inspection and attainment of quotas), which included managers discussing service implementation and problem solving with providers (Fajans et al, 2007).

In India, a USAID-sponsored project introduced in 2003 aimed to scale up availability and access to Depo-Provera in three provinces. The project relied on a private-sector distribution strategy using well-regarded obstetricians and gynecologists to stress the effectiveness and safety of Depo-Provera; however, program managers described the lack of public sector support as being an impediment to success. Specifically, the absence of government endorsement of Depo-Provera in the public sector slowed the pace of growth of the overall market. Not only did the absence of the product from the public health system affect volumes, but as a result some private providers and marketers may have taken a very cautious approach to adopting Depo-Provera themselves (Levy et al, 2009).

In Zambia, training was essential to making providers more confident about and comfortable with administering Depo-Provera and managing side effects and complications. One of the training approaches involved a popular kit with an innovative system that categorized clients according to lifestyle and then identified the family planning methods that would most likely meet their specific needs. The Central Board of Health recently described this model of profiling clients as a best practice, calling attention to its benefit of grouping clients by needs, rather than generic overview of various contraceptive methods (Solo et al, 2005). Between 1992 and 2001–2002, injectable use (both Noristerat and Depo-Provera) increased from 0.1% to 4.5%. Depo-Provera was found to be particularly popular and was finally approved for use in the country in 2004 (Solo et al, 2005).

Engage

Key enabling factors. Although engagement occurs throughout the process of dissemination and diffusion, it is particularly central to the tasks of introducing the innovation from outside the user group to inside the user group, translating the innovation so that user groups can assimilate the new information, and integrating the innovation into the routine practices and social norms of the user group. In the literature we reviewed, these tasks included activities carried out within and across multiple groups, including religious, government and community groups; they are iterative in nature, and may occur from inception through devolution of the innovation. Factors related to engagement included: dialogue with community at early stages and throughout implementation (n=5), effective education through social marketing (n=4), use of data to improve program performance (n=3) and compatibility with religious norms (n=1).

Barriers: Three barriers related to the engage component were identified. They included social and cultural norms and dynamics (n=1), lack of knowledge and awareness on the part of the community (n=1), and opposition by medical professionals (n=1).

Illustrative examples. In Afghanistan (Huber et al, 2010), local *mullahs* were engaged by program staff to carry the innovation into the community, where they ultimately grew to play a central role in contraceptive education. Through prolonged and candid discussions, all 37 mullahs in the three focal areas accepted the presence of modern birth control (of which Depo-Provera was one option) for the purposes of birth spacing. While their initial role had been to approve Depo-Provera packaging, the mullahs soon began preaching about the benefits of injectables at Friday morning prayers. The involvement of these community leaders, all of whom were men, provided additional means by which to inform women of risks and benefits and understood instructions. The close and visible participation of mullahs in contraceptive education was reported as one of several key factors to scaling success.

At the time of the family planning intervention in Vietnam (Fajans et al, 2007), health care providers had historically been paternalistic in their approach to patient care, particularly in the realm of contraception; this orientation was reinforced by the health care system. The family planning initiative required a major shift in these provider norms toward a patientcentered model of care in which a woman's autonomous decision regarding contraception was supported. This shift required medical professionals to facilitate patient choice through sharing comprehensive information, and practicing informed consent. These changes were encouraged by supervisors and supported with revised patient education materials for clients stressing voluntary choice. A related feature of the program was aimed at increasing community

involvement in health care service planning. Pilot sites were encouraged to seek views of clients and community and to respond to them through action plans and follow up activities; the degree of involvement was monitored and reinforced through quality of care indicators.

Engaging community leaders has helped the introduction of injectables and other methods in Ghana and Vietnam (Lande et al, 2006). The Navrongo Initiative in Ghana, for example, encouraged support for family planning by enlisting the help of opinion leaders and using men's and women's social networks. Councils of elders formed health care action committees, and village leaders and elders convened regular community gatherings that offered opportunities for village leaders to endorse family planning and encourage open communication around reproductive health. This form of engagement employed by the Navrongo Initiative team was identified as central to increases in women choosing injectable forms of contraception offered by community providers (Lande et al, 2006). The role of patient counseling and one-on-one engagement with target users has proven particularly critical in scaling up Depo-Provera. In part, this finding reflects the well-documented side effects of Depo-Provera (i.e., amenorrhea) that many women may find worrisome and which ultimately cause some to discontinue use.

Devolve

Key enabling factors. This component involves the index user groups releasing and spreading the innovation for its re-introduction in new user groups within their peer networks. These user groups and their networks replicate and release the innovation (in adapted and potentially failed forms) in the way they see most appropriate. In the literature we reviewed,

activities in this component included providing adequate supports (n=9) and using peer social networks (n=5).

Barriers: Four barriers at this stage of the process included the rural nature of target program areas (n=5), inadequate resources for scaled-up activities (n=4), misaligned government policies and priorities (n=3), and lack of stakeholder support (n=1).

Illustrative examples. Social networks were reported as a key mechanism in the devolution of Depo-Provera. In Rural Thailand (Entwisle et al, 1996), "conversational networks" and interpersonal influence were central to flow of information about family planning and contraceptive choice. Women discussed birth control with neighbors and friends during the course of daily activities (e.g., at the rice mill, the communal well, in the fields). These interactions occurred across age and generation boundaries; however, class and status boundaries were less permeable and information was less likely to be shared across these groups. Furthermore, contraceptive method dominance varied widely between neighboring villages, suggesting the interlocking networks within a village may be a conservative force, making villages less amenable to information from external sources.

In some circumstances, external supports facilitated the devolution process. For instance, in Vietnam (Fajans et al, 2007), substantial attention was directed at supporting scale up of the four pilot programs. Resources from international donor partners and the national government were used to develop a modular tool kit as a guide to adapting and implementing the innovation. Developers of the guide anticipated it would be useful for subsequent sites, yet also expected there would need to be some adaptation to 'fit' local contexts. The kit included a comprehensive enumeration of core implementation steps from establishing a task force and

conducting situational analysis to identifying appropriate sites through to quality improvement activities.

Discussion

This systematic review of existing empirical and gray literature identified a limited number of publications of use in understanding the process of successful dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of Depo-Provera in low- and middle- income countries. Nevertheless, the results offer empirical support, in varying degrees, for each of the AIDED model components. The majority of the evidence relates to the activities described in the model's innovate, develop and engage components; there is some support for the assess and devolve components. Several general lessons are suggested from the findings and may be applicable to the scale up of other technology-based innovations in low- and middle- income countries.

First, the design and packaging of technological innovations should be broadly conceived and iteratively refined in order to ensure 'fit' with end user groups. Attributes of innovation design and packaging are diverse in nature and form; they may include physical properties as well as psychological or emotional aspects of messaging. Taken together, these highly diverse attributes determine the degree to which the innovation will 'fit' the needs and wants of the desired user group. Particularly in family planning, where the role of cultural and religious context is paramount, deep understanding of the potential user group is central, and is acquired through an iterative process of assessment and engagement. This understanding must be manifest in the design and packaging of the innovation, including the potential need for refinement as the scale-up unfolds. In the case of the introduction of Depo-Provera in

Zimbabwe, understanding cultural norms such as male dominance of sexual relationships and family planning directly informed the design of features to enable women to use Depo-Provera without the knowledge of their husbands. Importantly, design and packaging of an innovation does not happen in isolation or at single, bounded point in time but is rather highly iterative in nature. For instance, as in Afghanistan, the act of engaging opinion leaders (such as religious leaders) can include involving them in packaging and messaging to ensure that qualities of the innovation are compatible with norms.

Second, technological innovations should be embedded in existing programs and delivery systems; this requires attention to, and sometimes investment in, both structural and managerial capacity. The embedding of the innovation within existing systems was commonly described as a core principle, even when investment in developing systems capacity to support the integration of the innovation may be required (Akol et al, 2009; Simmons et al, 1994, Montgomery, 1998). Particularly in cases where Depo-Provera is being distributed through community-based distribution models, the identification or development of adequate managerial capacity has proven to be essential for quality and efficiency, for instance in order to ensure injections are being given safely and supply chain is maintained. Similarly, structural features of the delivery system can maximize 'fit' and therefore increase the likelihood of scale up. In Rhodesia, having women deliver injections, and having them dispense those injections in non-clinic settings such as well baby clinics and markets to allowed women to use Depo-Provera without the knowledge of others.

Third, anticipating and managing resistance from a variety of constituencies both inside and outside the target user groups is a critical activity throughout the scale-up process.

The constituencies affected by the introduction of the innovation may be highly diverse (e.g., medical professionals in Vietnam and husbands and mothers-in-law in Rhodesia). While the interests and beliefs of some stakeholders are likely to be known in advance of the introduction of an innovation, others may only be identified through the assessment process. Nevertheless, resistance must be anticipated and managed on multiple fronts and throughout the scale-up process. Strategies for addressing resistance may be applied in the innovation design and packaging (e.g., the case of Afghanistan), the development of the environment (e.g. the case of Uganda), and in processes of engagement (e.g. the case of Vietnam).

Fourth, diffusive spread beyond the index group is enabled by existing networks within the user groups, and may require diverse and continuing support from external entities. The power and potential of existing peer networks was leveraged in several cases we reviewed. The literature we reviewed suggested spread of family health innovations through peer networks might not require additional external resources, in one example from Vietnam, the external group that introduced the innovation was very deliberate in investing financial and human resources in the transfer of knowledge activities for scale up beyond the pilot sites. This took the form of a training kit that was intended to provide guidance about essential programmatic elements yet also be adapted for local context. In addition to knowledge transfer activities, external entities may also provide various financial and non-financial supports to strengthen or create new user group networks to facilitate spread (Fajans, 2007).

The evidence base for the safety and efficacy of Depo-Provera, including administration by community-based paraprofessionals has been well established (Malarcher et al, 2011; Stanback et al, 2010; WHO, 2009; Weil et al, 2008; Levy et al, 2006). Furthermore, data show

steady increases in its use in a variety of low- and middle-income country contexts.

Nevertheless, the specific process and component parts of scaling up Depo-Provera programs have not been well documented or described. Available empirical and gray literature provides support, in varying degrees, for each of the 5 components of the AIDED model. Recurrent themes derived from the synthesis of this literature may also be of use in understanding the process of scale of other technology-based family health interventions.

References

*denotes peer-reviewed article used for data extraction in systematic literature review **denotes gray literature source used for data extraction in systematic literature review

- Akol A, Wamala, P, Kreuger K, Abbott A. (2009) Scaling Up Community-based Access to Injectable Contraceptives in Uganda: Lessons Learned from Private- and Public-Sector Implementation. Family Health International.**
- Childress, B. (2011) The Uniject injection system: Multi-country experience and evidence. PATH.**
- Entwisle B, Rindfuss R, Guilkey D, Aphichat C, Curran S, Sawangdee Y. (1996) Community and contraceptive choice in rural Thailand: A case study of Nang Rong. Demography 33:1-11.*
- Fajans P, Nguyen T, Whittaker M, Satia J, Phuong Mai T, Dinh Can T, Thanh Nhan D, Newton N. (2007) Strategic choices in scaling up: introducing injectable contraception and improving quality of care in Viet Nam. Scaling up health service delivery: from pilot innovations to policies and programmes. Geneva: WHO.*
- Fajans P, Simmons R, Ghiron L. (2007) The WHO Strategic Approach to strengthening sexual and reproductive health policies and programmes. Geneva: WHO. *
- Godley J. (2001) Kinship networks and contraceptive choice in Nang Rong, Thailand Intl Family Planning Perspectives 27:4-10.*
- Green, Cynthia. (2010) Community-Based Access to Injectables: An advocacy guide. Washington DC: Futures Group.**
- Hamblin, Kelly, and Msefula M. (2009) *Malawi: Distribution of DMPA at the Community Level— Lessons Learned.* Arlington, VA:USAID.**
- Huber D, Saeedi N, Samadi A . (2010) Achieving success with family planning in rural Afghanistan. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 88:227-231.*
- Kaler A. (2000) Who has told you to do this thing? Toward a feminist interpretation of contraceptive diffusion in Rhodesia, 1970-1980. Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society 25:3: 677-708.*
- Lande R, Richey C. (2006) Expanding Services for Injectables. Population Reports, Series K, No.6. Baltimore, INFO Project, John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health.**
- Lee R, Nacionales L, Pedroso L. (2009) The influence of local policy on contraceptive provision and use in three locals in the Philippines, Reproductive Health Matters 34:99-107.*

- Levy R, Agarwal D, Miller P. (2009) Expanding Access and Demand for DMPA in Uttar Pradesh, Jharkhand and Uttarkhand. USAID Evaluation Report.**
- Marlacher S, Meirik O, Lebetkin E, Shah I, Spieler J, Stanback J. (2011) Provision of DMPA by community health workers: what the evidence shows. Contraception. 83;495-503.
- Montgomery MR. (1993) The diffusion of fertility control in Taiwan: Evidences from pooled cross section time series models. Population Studies. 47:457-479.*
- Montgomery MR, Casterline, J, Heiland, F. (1998) Social networks and the diffusion of fertility control. 1998. Population Council, Policy Research Division, Working Papers, 1998 No.119.*
- Simmons R, Fajans P, Lubis F. (1994) Contraceptive introduction and the management of choice: the role of Cyclofem in Indonesia. Contraception 49:509-526.*
- Solo J, Luhanga M, Wohlfah D. (2005) Zambia Case Study: Ready for Change. A Repositioning Family Planning Case Study. New York: The Acquire Project/EngenderHealth.**
- Stanback J, Spieler J, Shah I, Finger W. (2010) Community-based health workers can safely and effectively administer injectable contraceptives: conclusions from a technical consultation. Contraception. 81:181-184.
- Weil B, Kreuger K, Stanbeck J, Hoke T. (2008) Provision of Injectable Contraception Services Through Community-Based Distribution. Family Health International.**
- Weil T, Wheeler S. (2008) Safety, Feasibility, and Acceptability of Community-Based Distribution of Depo-Medroxy Progesterone Acetate (DMPA) in Madagascar. Family Health International.**
- World Health Organization, US Agency for International Development, Family Health International. (2009) Community-Based Health Workers Can Safely and Effectively Administer Injectable Contraceptives: Conclusions from a Technical Consultation Research Triangle Park (NC): Family Health International.

Chapter 2 Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Literature review schematic



Table 1. Final start list of text words used for Depo-Provera literature search

Depo-Provera	Medroxyprogesterone Acetate
(Medroxyprogesterone acetate)	Injectable medroxyprogesterone
	Injectable medroxyprogesterone acetate
	DMPA
	Depo-
	Depo-Provera
	Depo-Provera
	Depo-Provera Contraceptive
	Depo-SubQ Provera 104

Table 2. Characteristics of final literature sample (n = 18 sources)

	# of sources
Methodology	
Qualitative interview, focus groups or observations	5
Cross-sectional interviews, questionnaires	2
or chart review	
Pre-post intervention without comparison group	2
Literature review or commentary	3
Simulation modeling	1
Mixed methods	3
Methods not described	2
TOTAL	18
Geographic Area	
Rhodesia	1
Afghanistan	1
Indonesia	1
Thailand	2
Viet Nam	1
Ghana	1
Taiwan	1
Phillipines	1
Zambia	1
Madagascar	1
Uganda	1
India	1
Multiple LMIC Countries (eg. literature review)	5
TOTAL	18

Table 3. Enabling factors for the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of Depo-Provera by AIDED model components

Enabling factor	# sources citing factor	AIDED model component(s) mapped to factor
Development of delivery system supports (training of health workers/field motivators, creation of training manuals or checklists, supply chain improvements, recruitment of women, chart tracking)	9	Develop
Tailoring innovation to existing system capacity (CBD systems already in place, women in CHW roles, other existing program infrastructure (ie. Well baby clinics), current supply chain flows) -	8	Innovate
Landscape or stakeholder assessment	6	Assess
Use of social networks	5	Devolve
Collaboration with stakeholders to identify or creating supportive structures in the economic, political and technological spheres	5	Assess, Develop
Dialogue with community at early stages	5	Assess, Engage
Effective education through social marketing re: risks and instructions (including community input)	4	Develop, Engage
Piloting to determine feasibility	3	Assess
Innovation design features (injectable at 3 month intervals)	3	Innovate
Ensuring 'fit' with cultural norms (can take in secret)	3	Assess, Innovate
Use of data to improve program performance	3	Engage
Nationalistic messaging (population control, etc.)	2	Develop
Adherence to religious norms (support of leaders)	1	Innovate, Develop, Engage
Identifying potential sources of resistance, such as from the professional medical community	1	Assess
Creating structures to ensure use of assessment findings through implementation and scale up (e.g., the same individuals that conducted the assessment remained involved through the process of scaling)	1	Assess

Table 4. Barriers to the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of Depo-Provera by AIDED model components

Barrier	# sources citing factor	AIDED model component(s) mapped to factor
Lack of system capacity (delivery/administrative challenges, lack of equipment, supply chain stockouts due to mismanagement, staff burden)	5	Innovate, Develop
Rural nature of program areas (made supply chain and human resource chain difficult to maintain)	5	Devolve
Inadequate resources for scaled-up activities (declined as expansion proceeded)	4	Devolve
Competing alternatives (in family planning product; eg. other brand names, delivery sector; eg. public vs private)	3	Develop
Misaligned government policies and priorities (favored HIV/AIDS projects, within FP, emphasized long acting methods, favored provision of FP through medical personnel)	3	Assess, Develop, Devolve
Data collection challenges (contact between front line and supervisors too rare, front line not understanding tools, follow-up challenges etc.)	3	Develop
Social/cultural norms (male dominance/power concerns about fidelity and family size; mothers in law)	1	Assess, Innovate, Engage,
Lack of knowledge/awareness (inadequate counseling/patient education/lack of patient centered care, information sharing)	1	Develop, Engage
Opposition by medical professionals	1	Assess, Engage
Lack of ongoing stakeholder support (key leaders left after pilot phase)	1	Devolve

Chapter 3 - Exclusive Breastfeeding: An Application of the AIDED Model

67

Background

Breastfeeding (BF) provides substantial advantages for both mothers and children through its nutritional and immunological benefits, as well as favorable hormonal changes in the maternal body stimulated by the infant sucking of the breast. BF is associated with a lower risk for diarrhea and pneumonia among young children, sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS), obesity during childhood and adolescence, and better cognitive development (Brion et al, 2011; Harder et al, 2005; Hauck et al, 2011; Lamberti et al, 2011). Mothers who breast feed are less likely to experience severe post-partum hemorrhaging and less likely to develop breast and ovarian cancer (Collaborative, 2002). In addition, in societies where modern methods of contraception are not readily available, BF acts as a powerful fertility regulator (Labbok and McDonald, 1990). Maternal and child health benefits associated with BF are maximized when infants are exclusively breastfed (i.e., breast milk only) for the first six months, followed by the introduction of nutritious and safe complementary foods and the continuation of BF until two years of age (WHO, 2001).

Epidemiological evidence strongly supports the need for strengthening BF promotion, protection, and support worldwide¹, with particular emphasis in the endorsement of exclusive breastfeeding (EBF) and the timely initiation of breastfeeding (within one hour after birth). For example, this need is evident by the fact that the prevalence of the timely initiation of

¹ Comprehensive BF programs need to address the dimensions of promotion (e.g., behavior change communication campaigns), protection (e.g., enforcement of WHO Code) and support (e.g., facility and community based BF support programs). In this article the term 'BF Promotion' acknowledges these three dimensions.

breastfeeding is 48% in the 68 "countdown" countries² that experience 90% of the global maternal-child mortality burden. In addition, despite that prolonged BF is a common practice in these countries, the prevalence of EBF among infants less than six months old is only 34% (Bhutta et al, 2010). Thus, increased BF promotion has great potential to improve global maternal-child health. It has been estimated that large scale BF promotion has the potential to prevent 11.6% of infant deaths and reduce 21.9 million disability adjusted life years (Bhutta et al, 2008).

BF promotion programs have focused on timely initiation of BF, EBF for the first 6 months and/or continued BF until the child is at least 24 months old (1-6-24 model). In recent times, EBF promotion has become a top priority for these programs because most mothers in the world, including those living in the "countdown" countries, do not practice EBF. In addition, successfully promoting EBF requires avoiding prelacteal feeding (i.e., non-breast milk sources of nourishment offered to newborn before first BF episode), and thus fostering a timely initiation of BF. Likewise, there is a strong correlation between the length of time that women breastfeed exclusively and the continuation of BF once complementary foods are introduced into the infant's diet. We lack evidence-based knowledge about how to promote and ensure the effective scale up of EBF. Accordingly, from a combination of peer reviewed and gray literature,

² These are countries targeted by "The Countdown to 2015" global initiative launched in 2005 with the aim of holding governments accountable for their commitments to achieving the Millennium Development Goal related to child mortality (MDG 4). This global initiative was subsequently expanded to monitor progress in maternal health (MDG 5). The initiative partners include UN and multilateral agencies, non-governmental organizations, health professional associations, bilateral donors and foundations, and academic and research institutions.

we sought to identify the key factors and approaches that promote or impede the scale up of EBF in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

Methods

We conducted a systematic review of the academic and gray literature on the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of EBF programs in low- and middleincome countries. We defined a comprehensive EBF program as one that promotes the 1-6-24 model, or initiation of breastfeeding within one hour of birth, conducted exclusively for six months, and continued along with complementary feeding until at least two years of age. For both the academic and gray literature, we searched for publications that contained keywords related both to breastfeeding and scale up or sustainability. The keywords used to search for breastfeeding were breast, feeding, exclusive breastfeeding, baby-friendly hospital initiative, and complementary feeding. The keywords used to search for scale up or sustainability were replication, scale up, sustainability, diffusion, dissemination, take up, innovation, diffusion of innovation, technology transfer, information dissemination, acculturation, assimilation, and fidelity. The electronic search strings were repeatedly refined in response to emerging data and modified as appropriate for different databases, while retaining a consistent set of core search terms. We included papers that: (i) discussed breastfeeding, (ii) addressed factors related to the diffusion, dissemination, and take up and sustainable breastfeeding, and (iii) went beyond superficial description or commentary.

Searches for academic literature were conducted in 11 electronic databases, including: MEDLINE, CINAHL, EMBASE, Web of Knowledge, PsycINFO, Global Health, EconLit, Social Sciences Citation Index, International Bibliography of Social Sciences, Social Services Abstracts,

and Sociological Abstracts. We included any literature published since the earliest date indexed in each database through December 2010. These academic literature searches yielded an initial sample of 69 unique articles after eliminating duplicates (Figure 1). We screened the abstracts of all articles in this initial sample (n=69), and excluded any articles that did not address breastfeeding as defined in this study (n=25) or did not discuss the scale up or sustainability of breastfeeding (n=27). We then screened the full text of the remaining articles (n=17), and further excluded any articles that did not meet the study's definition of breastfeeding (n=2), did not address scale up or sustainability of breastfeeding (n=5), was superficial in its discussion of breastfeeding and/or did not provide empirical evidence about the scale up or sustainability of breastfeeding programs (n=1), and did not have the full text of the article available online (n=4). Five articles were retained for data extraction and analysis. Three articles that were not detected through the electronic searches but available in the first author's files were included (de Oliveira et al, 2003; de Oliveira et al, 2005; Horton et al, 2006). In addition, an article published after the electronic searches had been conducted was also included (Tylleskär et al, 2011). Thus, we retained a total of 9 articles for final data extraction.

The gray literature searches targeted the publications/resources databases and websites of the World Health Organization (WHO), UNICEF, UNDP, UNFPA, the World Bank, the African Development Bank, the Inter-American Development Bank, and the Asian Development Bank. We also reviewed the project reports published by major international aid organizations (USAID, CIDA, DFID, SIDA, GTZ); the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria; and other influential nongovernmental organizations and partnerships in global health including CARE, GAIN, Family Health International, Partners in Health, Management Sciences for Health,
and John Snow, Inc. Gray literature searches included any documents available via the organization's web site on search dates within February 2011. Due to the large volume of hits generated from these web site searches, the titles of all documents were screened first; if the title appeared relevant, then the full text was immediately reviewed using the same exclusion criteria as applied to the academic literature. This process resulted in four documents that address the scale up and/or sustainability of exclusive breastfeeding in low- and middle-income countries. An additional four documents identified from the lead author's files were also included (Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1988; Labbok and McDonald, 1990; Pérez-Escamilla, 2004; Timpo 2007) for a total of eight gray literature documents.

Data extraction from the final sample of academic articles (n=9) and gray literature documents (n=8) was conducted independently by the lead author using a pre-established data extraction form. For each article, the data extraction process identified the study design, geographic location, characteristics of the breastfeeding intervention, key findings related to scale up and/or sustainability of the breastfeeding intervention, and the degree of success in scaling up and/or sustaining the intervention. Preliminary data extraction results were presented and discussed with the remaining of the co-authors, and a final set of factors influencing the success of breastfeeding program scale up and/or sustainability was identified. Enabling factors and barriers to scale up and/or sustainability were then grouped into thematic categories, with disagreements resolved through negotiated consensus between the team members.

Results

The final sample of 17 sources (9 academic articles and 8 gray literature documents) included studies representing a wide range of geographies and methodologies (**Table 1**). There were 24 countries included, with the majority of studies taking place in Latin America (seven countries), followed by sub-Saharan Africa and East Asia (five countries), South and South East Asia (three countries), and Central Asia (one country). Study designs varied greatly as well, as six studies followed a case study approach, four were literature reviews, four thought pieces, four included secular trend analyses (i.e., changes in BF outcomes across time), four used pre/post intervention designs without a control group, four were based on interviews with program officers, and one used focus groups and in-depth interviews with decision makers. We also identified one cost-effectiveness analysis based on pre/post studies with control groups and one large scale randomized controlled community trial.

The data extraction process identified 22 enabling factors and 15 barriers for dissemination, diffusion, and scale up and/or sustainability that were then mapped into the five AIDED components (**Table 2**). In the following section, we summarize the enabling factors and barriers identified in the literature by each component of the AIDED model, and provide illustrative examples for each. Finally, we conclude with the key unifying themes characterizing the scale up of BF promotion, which may also have relevance for scale up of other family health behavioral interventions.

Assess

The assess component refers to assessment of the broad landscape within a potential user community, including its needs and wants, absorptive capacity, and the political,

economic, legal/regulatory, technological and social conditions within its internal and external environment.

Key enabling factors: The empirical evidence indicates that successful dissemination, diffusion, and scaling up of breastfeeding promotion programs has relied heavily on baseline facility and community needs assessments (Baker et al, 2006; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Timpo, 2007), as well as operational (formative) research/pilot studies (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari, 2008; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Tylleskär et al, 2011; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008). These efforts have been particularly successful when needs assessments are conducted with the scale up of BF promotion in mind, and take into account the input from key stakeholders working in different sectors (Salud et al, 2009; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008).

Illustrative example: In Pembo, Philippines, a BF promotion scale up project team launched the process by conducting secondary data analyses of national infant feeding practices, an analysis of infant feeding formula advertisement and questionable promotional practices, and community based participatory research with the local target community (Salud et al, 2009). This formative work provided the impetus for designing and launching a proof of concept pilot BF promotion intervention with the ultimate goal of bringing breastfeeding up to scale. After finding that peer counseling was effective at improving EBF based on a pre-post interventional study design with 312 dyads, the program was then scaled up in less than 2 years to reach 161,612 people in urban areas. Now, a new goal of further scale to a one million people catchment area has been set. The evidence-informed political sensitization and community mobilization resulting from the formative evaluation phase was key to the success of this program.

Innovate

The innovate component includes designing, redesigning, and packaging an innovation so that it is acceptable and perceived as advantageous by potential user groups in their specific context or environment. These processes are aimed at achieving a 'fit' between the innovation and the user group.

Key enabling factors: Three innovations that have been key for effectively fitting and packaging of BF promotion programs, resulting in successful scale up, are: (i) communications and mass media campaigns that set the stage for the introduction of a BF promotion program in target areas (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Rea, 2003; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008); (ii) facility-based delivery systems (e.g., Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative, BFHI)³ (Horton et al, 1996; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Labbok and McDonald, 1990; Pérez-Escamilla, 2004; Rea, 2003; Timpo, 2007; WHO, 1998; WHO, 2008); (iii) community-based EBF promotion & support programs that include peer counselors, CHWs, mother-to-mother support groups (Baker et al, 2006; Salud et al, 2009; Tylleskär et al, 2011; WHO, 2008), and visible community events (e.g., world breastfeeding week) (Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009).

³ The Baby-Friendly Hospital Initiative (BFHI), launched in 1991, is an effort by UNICEF and the World Health Organization to ensure that all maternities, whether free standing or in a hospital, become centers of breastfeeding support. A maternity facility can be designated 'baby-friendly' when it does not accept free or lowcost breastmilk substitutes, feeding bottles or teats, and has implemented 10 specific steps to support successful breastfeeding. These steps include helping women initiate BF within half an hour after birth, rooming-in, BF support, and facilitating community level BF support once women leave the facility (a list of each step can be found at link below). The process is currently controlled by national breastfeeding authorities, using Global Criteria that can be applied to maternity care in every country. Implementation guides for the BFHI have been developed by UNICEF and WHO. Source: <u>http://www.unicef.org/programme/breastfeeding/baby.htm#10</u> [accessed: September 18, 2011]

Illustrative examples: First, between 1975 and today, Brazil has experienced an increase of more than eight months in average BF duration, accompanied by an impressive eight fold increase in EBF rates among infants under six months old. The Brazilian program that has led to these remarkable results has included innovative community approaches to improve the 'fit' of the organization to local needs. A good example is the 'Baby Friendly Primary Health Care Unit' (BFPHCI) innovation that was built upon the facility-based Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative, and was successfully scaled up in the state of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. This new initiative includes ten universal steps that should be met at local primary health care units (i.e., not at the hospital level) in order to promote and support breastfeeding at the community level. Some of these steps include breastfeeding training for all primary health care unit staff, including community health agents (equivalent to peer counselors), and the formation of breastfeeding support groups. In the state of Rio de Janeiro, where BFPHCI has been scaled up, EBF rates among children < 6 months were significantly higher in those primary health care units with better BFPHCI implementation (De Oliveira, 2003; De Oliveira, 2005).

A second set of examples are the many mass media BF promotion campaigns that have been designed with the specific goals of increasing the acceptability of BF and creating an atmosphere where this infant feeding behavior is perceived as advantageous (Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Rea, 2003; Tognetti 1985). These campaigns can be particularly effective when based on formative marketing research that fully takes into account the needs and community wants (Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998). After doing extensive formative research, Brazil launched its national BF program in March 1981 through a mass media campaign that had the specific goal of preparing the ground for receptivity of implementation; this goal was achieve by sensitizing

the public and government about the need for and the types of major structural and behavioral changes expected ahead. This initial campaign lasted 45 days and included reaching out to 13.5 million households via TV, and many more via radio. Other components included press advertisements and messages on lottery tickets, telephone bills, electricity bills, water bills, and bank statements. Overall, the campaign was very successful at preparing the ground for the implementation of the program.

Lastly, the annual World Breastfeeding Week celebrated worldwide is an innovation that has also served the purpose of fostering a BF friendly atmosphere and preparing target institutions and communities for the introduction of forthcoming BF programs. For example, the previously discussed Pembo project was formally launched at a highly visible event during World Breastfeeding week, and was attended by the local and state department of health officials as well as women from the community. The 'packaging' for the delivery of BF promotion through peer counselors followed soon thereafter. As illustrated in the following sections, both mass media and visible community events are approaches that have also been used for the 'development' and/or 'engagement' components of the AIDED scale-up.

Develop

In the develop component, attention is directed to fostering enabling relationships, environments and networks among partners who can support and facilitate the spread of the innovation. This section summarizes how international consensus meetings, fostering political will, legislation, workforce development and infrastructure investments are key for developing the intersectoral partnerships needed for successful scale up (Bhandari et al, 2008; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Rea, 2003; Timpo, 2007; Tognetti, 1985).

Key enabling factors. Global BF promotion efforts have been built upon the foundation established by evidence-based international consensus meetings/declarations (Bellagio and beyond) (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Horton et al, 1996; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Labbok and McDonald, 1990; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Tognetti et al, 1985) and global infant feeding recommendations issued by UNICEF and WHO (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Tylleskär et al, 2011). Translating this support into action has greatly benefited from the efforts of international advocacy groups (e.g., International Baby Food Action Network (IBFAN), World Alliance for Breastfeeding Action (WABA)) (Baker et al, 2006; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009) and local advocacy groups, as well as coalition building with various stakeholders, including public opinion leaders (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Timpo, 2007; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008). Before scale up can proceed, it is crucial to elicit will (Burke, 2004; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Timpo 2007; WHO, 2008) and long term commitment for scale up (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Timpo, 2007; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008) from policy makers through political sensitization (Baker et al, 2006; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Timpo, 2007; WHO, 2008) based on cost/savings analyses (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; UNICEF, 2010), and civil society mobilization and engagement (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; WHO, 2008).

Maternity leave and work place legislation, as well as the enforcement of the WHO International Code of Marketing of Breast Milk Substitutes (WHO Code)⁴, are key for attaining the supportive environment needed for EBF promotion to succeed on a large scale (Bhandari et al, 2008; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; UNICEF, 2010). The frequent violation of the WHO Code has consistently been identified as a major barrier for BF promotion (Burke, 2004; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Labbok and McDonald, 1990; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Tognetti, 1985; Tylleskär et al, 2011).

The back bone of sustainable large scale BF promotion is the training of administrators, health professionals, and paraprofessionals (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Burke, 2004; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Tylleskär et al, 2011), a process that can be facilitated by improvements in medical/nursing school curriculums (Rea, 2003; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Labbok and McDonald, 1990; Timpo, 2007; WHO, 2008). The physical infrastructure for the delivery of BF support at the facility and community level needs to be in place for successful large scale up to occur. For example, a major barrier for the initial implementation of BFHI in many countries was that maternity wards were not designed to accommodate rooming-in (Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Labbok and McDonald, 1990). Lack of community-level infrastructure for lactation management support continues to be a major barrier for EBF promotion globally (Bhandari, 2008; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008).

Illustrative example: The BF promotion literature illustrates the value of reaching global consensus, and explains both why it is necessary and how to successfully promote desired

⁴ A detailed description of the WHO code can be found at <u>http://www.unicef.org/programme/breastfeeding/code.htm</u> [accessed: September 18, 2011]

family health behaviors. The evidence-based outcome recommendations (e.g., EBF for 6 months) and the effective evidence-based approaches for promoting the desirable behavior (e.g., BFHI, community peer counselors) led intersectoral coalitions to organize highly visible consensus conferences. These, in turn, led to consensus declarations or global calls for action that provided the momentum for global BF promotion scale up.

In the 1970s, a global coalition formed by civil society and other stakeholders pressured infant formula companies to change their marketing approaches. This movement eventually led to the development of the WHO Code, adopted in 1981 by the WHO Assembly. In 1990, The Innocenti Declaration on the Protection, Promotion, and Support of Breastfeeding⁵ recommended four actions: establishment of national BF committees, implementation of the ten Steps to Successful Breastfeeding in maternity services, national legislation to protect the BF rights of employed women, and implementation of WHO Code. In 1991, after being successful at generating strong political will, WHO and UNICEF launched the BFHI, leading to the rapid global uptake and spread of this innovative program. Subsequently, the 2002 Global Strategy for Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF) reaffirmed the goals of the 1990 Innocenti Declaration and emphasized the need for strengthening BF support at the community level. The empirical evidence strongly supports the major influence that these consensus meetings have had in the successful launching and sustaining of BF promotion programs at scale in low- and middle-income countries (Bhandari et al, 2008; Burke, 2004; Horton et al, 2006; Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Labbok and McDonald, 1990; Pérez-Escamilla, 2004; Rea, 2003; Salud et al, 2009; Timpo, 2007; Tognetti, 1985; Tylleskär et al, 2011; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 1998; WHO, 2008).

⁵<u>http://www.unicef.org/programme/breastfeeding/innocenti.htm</u> [accessed: September 18, 2011]

Media campaigns have also been used to generate support among stakeholders, which is key for the successful implementation of the program. For example, in the Brazilian program, the National Nutrition Institute requested funds from UNICEF in 1980 to develop an audiovisual presentation to document the need for a BF promotion program and elicit support among politicians, health officials, mass media, community leader and the Catholic Church (Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Rea, 2003). The audiovisual featured well known and highly respected pediatricians. The key messages were (i) "BF promotion saves money", and (ii) "we understand how to promote BF." After touring the country and presenting this audiovisual to the ministers of health and welfare, the government agreed to launch the Brazilian National BF promotion program in 1981. The success of this strategy for generating political will and support can be traced back to the extensive formative assessment phase upon which the content of the messages and the dissemination strategies were based.

Engage

Although engagement occurs throughout the process of dissemination and diffusion, it is particularly central to the tasks of introducing the innovation from outside the user group to inside the user group through such methods as boundary spanners, translating the innovation so that user groups can assimilate the new information, and integrating the innovation into the routine practices and social norms of the user group.

Key enabling factors: BF promotion programs ultimately seek to engage the mother in considering the utilization of optimal infant feeding behaviors, including EBF. There are many factors that influence a mother's infant feeding decisions, including the advice from health care providers, family, neighbors, friends, media and others. Small trials have shown that women

across cultures are significantly more likely to practice EBF when they are presented with innovative approaches that take into account the contexts in which they live. The key for the success of these interventions has been addressing cultural beliefs surrounding their infant feeding choices, such as the often unfounded belief that women are not able to produce enough milk for EBF their infants (Burke, 2004; Baker et al, 2006; Salud et al, 2009; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008). This pervasive belief has consistently been identified as one of the strongest risk factors for the early introduction of replacement infant feedings including infant formula. Once infant formula is introduced, the likelihood that the mother will revert to EBF is exceedingly low, and any BF duration becomes shortened as a result. Because women are more likely to experience an insufficient milk supply during the first days after delivery, it is crucial to understand the roots of this pervasive belief in different cultures in order to address it effectively (Otoo et al, 2009).

A key barrier for the scale up of BF promotion programs is the lack of adequate communication skills among health care providers and peer counselors/community health workers (UNICEF, 2010; WHO,2008). Thus, developing a work force that is well trained on the technical aspects of lactation management and BF promotion is necessary, but not a sufficient condition for successful scale up. Scale up requires developing the communication and counseling skills of individuals providing BF support to women. Good receptivity is most likely when women and individuals in their circle of influence fully engage in the decision making process (UNICEF, 2010); otherwise, efforts to successfully engage target individuals are compromised and scale up eventually fails. Innovative facility and community-based BF promotion approaches (through peer counselors, CHWs, mother-to-mother support groups,

etc.) are indeed crucial for proper engagement of target individuals (Baker et al , 2006; Salud et al, 2009; Tylleskär et al, 2011; WHO, 2008).

Illustrative example: Bangladesh is a country where significant BF promotion efforts have taken place; however, less than half of Bangladeshi infants under 5 months are exclusively breastfed and this rate has remained stable since 1997. Although the Bangladeshi program was successful at implementing the WHO Code in the country, introducing maternity leave legislation, and promoting heavy investment heavily in BFHI efforts, the program failed to recognize that 85% of Bangladeshi newborns are delivered outside health facilities. Recognizing that the program has to be improved to be successful at engaging a key target audience (i.e., women who still have little contact with health sector maternity services), the country is currently piloting innovative community-based BF promotion approaches such as community nutrition promoters and mother support groups (UNICEF, 2010).

Sri Lanka, a country where 95% of women attend prenatal care and deliver in health care facilities, in contrast with Bangladesh, was able to increase EBF among children under 5 months from 17% in 1995 to 76% in 2006. Two major components of the country's program were: (i) extensive lactation management training of the vast majority of health workers posted in hospitals and field clinics; (ii) working together with public health midwifes providing home visits within the first 10 days after delivery. The Sri Lanka experience strongly supports the need for national BF promotion programs to engage target women at both the health facility and community level through innovative approaches (UNICEF, 2010).

Mass media in Brazil was also used for engaging women with the BF program, in addition to its use during the components of innovate and develop steps discussed before, and

focused on directly empowering women to breastfeed through messages combating the belief that women do not produce enough milk to breastfeed exclusively. Messages were delivered through highly innovative methods, such as being printed on electricity bills, bank statements, and TV spots. The TV spots featured well-known sports stars and other celebrities, and were aired during commercial breaks of a popular soap opera with an audience reach estimated at 500 million viewers in just two cities. Thus, large numbers of women and families were exposed multiple times to these messages (Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Rea, 2003).

Devolve

This component involves the index user groups spreading the innovation within their peer networks, shifting the process to be mostly driven by the user groups and their networks rather than by the original innovator or external party. These user groups and their networks replicate and release the innovation (in adapted and potentially failed forms) in the way they see most appropriate.

Key enabling factors: Once a BF promotion program has been successfully scaled up and EBF uptake is widespread among the index user groups, efforts to devolve for continued spreading among the next generation of 'users' are critical for sustaining the initial scale up phase. For this to happen, six conditions need to be met. First, effective sustainable lactation management and communication/counseling through train-the-trainers programs need to be in place (Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Labbok and McDonald, 1990; WHO, 1998). Second, a sustainable workforce development pipeline including medical, nursing, and technical schools needs to be developed (Jelliffe and Jelliffe, 1998; Labbok and McDonald, 1990; UNICEF, 2010). Third, national intersectoral BF coordination with adequate budget allocation should not rely

heavily on foreign aid and it should be highly decentralized, as in the case of Brazil (De Oliveira, 2003; de Oliveira, 2005; Rea, 2003). Key sectors to be involved should be: target women and communities, government, civil society (eg, Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs), philanthropists), international agencies, medical societies, academic researchers, and mass media (Baker et al 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Rea, 2003; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008). Fourth, systems to avoid redundancies by incorporating BF promotion through existing programs (diarrhea, immunizations, family planning, growth monitoring) must be in place (Bhandari et al, 2008; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008). Fifth, facility and community based infrastructure needed for effective BF promotion must also be in place (Bhandari et al, 2008; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008). Sixth, there must be monitoring and evaluation systems that include low-cost rapid response management information systems to facilitate local decentralized management of BF promotion efforts (Baker et al, 2006; Bhandari et al, 2008; Pérez-Escamilla, 2004; Rea, 2003).

Scale-up experiences have also identified specific barriers for devolving, including lack of proper incentives for staff, program "fatigue", draining of trained workforce members from the index user groups, and attempting to devolve through staff who are already overburdened with other duties (Bhandari et al, 2008; Horton et al, 1996; Pérez-Escamilla, 2004; UNICEF, 2010; WHO, 2008). Program "fatigue" has been identified to be one of the reasons for a decline in BFHI quality in several countries (Pérez-Escamilla, 2007), including El Salvador (Pérez-Escamilla, 2004), where BFHI was launched over a decade ago. It is apparent that the fidelity to the 'package' of steps has declined with time, especially once initial certification and recognition is obtained (Pérez-Escamilla, 2004).

Illustrative example: Whereas the case of Brazil illustrates a successful decentralized scale-up model that meets the six devolving criteria outlined above, the literature is full of examples of initiatives (e.g., Pérez-Escamilla, 2004; Pérez-Escamilla, 2007) and countries where initial programs do not devolve.

The national Brazilian BF program illustrates how a well-coordinated multi-sectoral national BF promotion program likely explains the increase in median BF duration from 2 to 10 months in a 25 year long period (Rea, 2003). Impressive improvements in EBF were documented over the same period of time. The process that led to the successful scaling up of BF promotion in Brazil included the following steps (IOM, 2011): (i) baseline needs assessment including data on infant feeding practices, (ii) advocacy (including the sensitization of decision makers based on scientific evidence of BF health and economic benefits and international consensus on BF policies/recommendations), (iii) national and local mass media campaigns, social mobilization (e.g., world BF week), (iv) implementation and spread of BFHI, (v) lactation management and communications/counseling trainings (development of human resources), (vi) legislation (maternity/paternity leave, BF at work), and (vii) monitoring and evaluation (including monitoring of the WHO Code). There was a lag time of about six years before significant BF duration increases began to be detected, although this time frame for scale up results may differ in other contexts. During the first three to four years, barriers for BF (free formula distribution, unethical advertisement by infant formula companies, medical education biases) were much stronger than facilitators (e.g., single institution/small scale BF promotion efforts, small advocacy efforts). The balance between barriers and facilitators improved significantly across time. Dependency on foreign assistance for sustainability also declined as

the country continued building its own critical capacity to succeed, and eventually reaching a point where it has become self sustained.

A recent analysis of the work of Rea and others in Brazil by Pérez-Escamilla posits that the successful national program can be represented by a social marketing framework (IOM, 2011, Figure 2). The Brazilian experience offers two important lessons. First, social marketing can be a very useful conceptual framework for guiding the scale up of BF promotion programs. This framework, which is fully consistent with the AIDED model, suggests that when a product is available (such as BF) to fulfill a need (maternal-child health improvement), can be offered to consumers in highly affordable and accessible attractive packages (e.g., BFHI, peer counseling, mother support groups), and is positioned through key locations (health facilities, communities), then the dissemination, diffusion, and scale up of a public health intervention is easily facilitated. The successful social marketing of BF promotion in Brazil relied on (i) strong support from government, civil society, international agencies, academic and philanthropic organizations, (ii) mass media (public opinion, behavior change communications), (iii) strong intersectoral coordination, and (iv) decentralization. Second, the relatively long initial lag time observed in Brazil may be shorter in countries with fewer initial barriers for BF promotion scale up. Empirical evidence supporting this proposition is accumulating from other countries (Salud et al, 2009; Timpo, 2007).

In contrast with Brazil, the Philippines national experience illustrates how initial scale up can become unsustainable when the conditions for effective devolution are not met. In the Philippines, EBF increased in the mid 1990's after a vigorous launching and spread of BFHI and WHO Code implementation. Nevertheless, little improvement was observed thereafter with

only about one third of Filipino infants under 3 months being exclusively breastfed. A case study analysis (UNICEF, 2010) concluded that the main reasons for lack of sustainability were: (i) disengagement of ministry of health with the program due to restructuring, (ii) high turnover of staff involved with BF program without replacements, (iii) collapse of monitoring and evaluation system, (iv) re-strengthening marketing efforts by infant formula companies (very likely as a result of the weakening of the WHO Code implementation), and (v) highly centralized system with little devolving capabilities, especially at the community level.

The Philippines case study, together with the Brazilian experience, provides empirical support to the notion that multi-component, well-coordinated intersectoral programs are the engine that drives not only successful initial scale up, but the ability to devolve or sustain the program. The key program components are highly interdependent on each other; thus, once any of the key elements in the system starts to fail, the engine that drives the BF promotion program starts unraveling.

Discussion

An integration of the peer reviewed and gray literature evidence covering Sub-Saharan Africa, Latin America, and Asia (Central, Pacific Rim, South, and Southeast) suggests that scale up of BF promotion & support programs may be accomplished with deliberate attention to and investment in the components of the AIDED model, in combination with conceptual frameworks such as social marketing. Successful scale-up efforts have built upon evidenceinformed advocacy to achieve social mobilization, foster political will, and eventually to implement hospital and community-based BF promotion policies and legislation (e.g., WHO Code, maternity leave legislation, BF friendly work environments). Scale up has been facilitated through extensive use of health communications strategies and massive professional and paraprofessional training/education efforts based on 'cascade training' models. Scale up requires a high degree of inter-sectoral coordination, usually at the national and local levels, based on a flexible decentralized structure, and sustainability requires the availability of low-cost and rapid response monitoring and evaluation systems. Scale up at the community level has usually been attained by incorporating BF promotion into multiple existing programs (e.g., c-IMCI, growth monitoring, diarrhea, immunizations, family planning). Although the process of adoption and spread is now relatively well understood, we still have much to learn about how best to sustain the impacts that have been demonstrated to happen in a relatively short period of time (i.e., less than three years).

Large scale, mixed methods studies are needed to better understand how to: (i) develop national and local coordination of flexible decentralized system with adequate quality controls, (ii) incorporate BF promotion through existing programs whenever possible (but ensuring that critical mass is in place for adequate EBF support), (iii) develop a sustainable pipeline of highly qualified lactation management professionals and paraprofessionals via training of trainers programs and strengthening of health professional school curriculums, (iv) strengthen monitoring and evaluation systems (including quality control), (v) provide innovative incentives to empower communities to develop a sense of ownership of the programs, (vi) better define the optimal background, training, roles, tasks, and incentives needed for a well prepared and sustainable workforce of community-based paraprofessionals (rapid turnover is a big problem), and (vii) avoid high reliance in foreign aid for sustaining program.

The well documented case-studies of Brazil (Rea, 2003) and Ghana (Timpo, 2007), together with the scale-up studies conducted by UNICEF (2010) and WHO (2008) in numerous countries, indicate that the evidence-informed recommendations emanating from consensus meetings were critical steps needed for national and global scale up. The challenges of the scale-up process may potentially be met through well planned devolving strategies accompanied by low-cost rapid response BF counseling monitoring systems as illustrated by the national MADLAC experience in El Salvador (Pérez-Escamilla, 2004).

Community-based BF support (represented by step 10 of BFHI) has become the focus of national programs seeking to improve and sustain EBF rates. The PROMISE-EBF large scale randomized trial conducted in Sub-Saharan Africa (Tylleskär et al, 2011) demonstrates that BF peer counseling can indeed be effective at scale at the community level. However it also demonstrates that context matters. In this instance, the major EBF improvements found in Burkina Faso and Uganda could not be detected in South Africa, a country with exceedingly low EBF rates perhaps as a result of widespread availability of infant formula. There is indeed a critical need to conduct health economics studies to understand the cost-effectiveness of community-based BF promotion in diverse settings.

The AIDED model encapsulates the essential steps needed to successfully scale up BF promotion in LMICs. Although major knowledge gaps remain, substantial progress over the past two decades provides a wealth of knowledge ready to be used for scaling up BF promotion in diverse socio-economic and cultural contexts. We recommend the implementation of largescale studies to test the empirical validity of the EBF scale-up AIDED model, and to continue filling in the knowledge gaps in the long term in different socio-economic and cultural contexts.

Because most BF problems initially develop during the first hours or days after delivery, it is crucial that scaling up efforts targeting EBF are preceded by formative research to understand how best to reach out to women with sound BF information and support prenatally and in the immediate hours/days following delivery, regardless of where it takes place (IOM, 2011; UNICEF, 2010).

References

*denotes peer-reviewed article used for data extraction in systematic literature review **denotes gray literature source used for data extraction in systematic literature review

- Baker EJ, Sanei LC, Franklin N. (2006) Early initiation of and exclusive breastfeeding in largescale community-based programmes in Bolivia and Madagascar. J Health Popul Nutr 24(4):530-9. *
- Bhandari N, Kabir AK, Salam MA. (2008) Mainstreaming nutrition into maternal and child health programmes: scaling up of exclusive breastfeeding. Matern Child Nutr 4 Suppl 1:5-23. *
- Bhutta ZA, Chopra M, Axelson H, Berman P, Boerma T, Bryce J, Bustreo F, Cavagnero E, Cometto G, Daelmans B, de Francisco A, Fogstad H, Gupta N, Laski L, Lawn J, Maliqi B, Mason E, Pitt C, Requejo J, Starrs A, Victora CG, Wardlaw T. (2010) Countdown to 2015 decade report (2000-10): taking stock of maternal, newborn, and child survival. Lancet 375(9730):2032-44.
- Bhutta ZA, Ahmed T, Black RE, Cousens S, Dewey K, Giugliani E, Haider BA, Kirkwood B, Morris SS, Sachdev HP, Shekar M. (2008) Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. What works? Interventions for maternal and child undernutrition and survival. Lancet 371(9610):417-40.
- Brion MJ, Lawlor DA, Matijasevich A, Horta B, Anselmi L, Araújo CL, Menezes AM, Victora CG, Smith GD. (2011) What are the causal effects of breastfeeding on IQ, obesity and blood pressure? Evidence from comparing high-income with middle-income cohorts. Int J Epidemiol 40(3):670-80.
- Burke J. (2004) Infant HIV infection: acceptability of preventive strategies in central Tanzania. AIDS Educ Prev 16(5):415-25. *
- Chapman DJ, Morel K, Anderson AK, Damio G, Pérez-Escamilla R. (2010) Breastfeeding peer counseling: from efficacy through scale up. J Hum Lact 26(3):314-26.
- Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. (2002) Breast cancer and breastfeeding: collaborative reanalysis of individual data from 47 epidemiological studies in 30 countries, including 50,302 women with breast cancer and 96,973 women without the disease. Lancet 360(9328):187-95.
- de Oliveira MI, Camacho LA, Souza IE. (2005) Breastfeeding promotion, protection, and support in primary health care in the State of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: a case of evidence-based public health policy. Cad Saude Publica 21(6):1901-10. *

- de Oliveira MI, Camacho LA, Tedstone AE. (2003) A method for the evaluation of primary health care units' practice in the promotion, protection, and support of breastfeeding: results from the state of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. J Hum Lact 19(4):365-73. *
- Harder T, Bergmann R, Kallischnigg G, Plagemann A. (2005) Duration of breastfeeding and risk of overweight: a meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 162:397-403.
- Hauck FR, Thompson JM, Tanabe KO, Moon RY, Vennemann MM. (2011) Breastfeeding and reduced risk of sudden infant death syndrome: a meta-analysis. Pediatrics 128(1):103-10.
- Horton S, Sanghvi T, Phillips M, Fiedler J, Perez-Escamilla R, Lutter C, Rivera A, Segall-Correa AM. (1996) Breastfeeding promotion and priority setting in health. Health Policy Plan 11(2):156-68. *
- Institute of Medicine (IOM). (2011) Updating the USDA National Breastfeeding Campaign: Workshop Summary. Washington DC: National Academies Press. Available at: <u>http://www.iom.edu/Reports/2011/Updating-the-USDA-National-Breastfeeding-Campaign-Workshop-Summary.aspx</u> [Accessed: September 25, 2011]
- Jelliffe DB, Jelliffe EFP, eds. (1988) Programmes to promote breastfeeding. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press. **
- Labbok M, McDonald M, eds. (1990) Proceedings of the interagency workshop on health care practices related to breastfeeding. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 31(Supp 1). *
- Lamberti LM, Fischer Walker CL, Noiman A, Victora C, Black RE. (2011) Breastfeeding and the risk for diarrhea morbidity and mortality. BMC Public Health 11 (Suppl 3):S15.
- Otoo GE, Lartey AA, Pérez-Escamilla R. (2009) Perceived incentives and barriers to exclusive breastfeeding among periurban Ghanaian women. J Hum Lact 25(1):34-41.
- Owen CG, Martin RM, Whincup PH, Davey Smith G. (2005) Effect of infant feeding on the risk of obesity across the life course: a quantitative review of published evidence. Pediatrics 115:1367--77.
- Pérez-Escamilla R. (2007) Evidence based breast-feeding promotion: the Baby-Friendly Hospital Initiative. J Nutr 137(2):484-7.
- Perez-Escamilla R. (2004) Effectiveness of MADLAC at Improving Breastfeeding Promotion and Counseling Indicators in Maternity Wards in El Salvador. Washington, DC: USAID. Available at: <u>http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNADD052.pdf</u> [accessed: September 25, 2011]. **

- Rea MF. (2003) A review of breastfeeding in Brazil and how the country has reached ten months' breastfeeding duration. Cad Saude Publica 19 (Suppl 1):S37-45. *
- Salud MA, Gallardo JI, Dineros JA, Gammad AF, Basilio J, Borja V, Iellamo A, Worobec L, Sobel H, Olivé JM. (2006) People's initiative to counteract misinformation and marketing practices: the Pembo, Philippines, breastfeeding experience. J Hum Lact 25(3):341-9. *
- Timpo OM. (2007) Programs and policies associated with improved exclusive breastfeeding rates in Ghana: 1989-2003. Master's thesis, University of Connecticut, Storrs, USA. **
- Tognetti J. (1985) A retrospective and prospective look at international breastfeeding promotion programs. Washington DC: USAID (mimeo). **
- Tylleskär T, Jackson D, Meda N, Engebretsen IM, Chopra M, Diallo AH, Doherty T, Ekström EC, Fadnes LT, Goga A, Kankasa C, Klungsøyr JI, Lombard C, Nankabirwa V, Nankunda JK, Van de Perre P, Sanders D, Shanmugam R, Sommerfelt H, Wamani H, Tumwine JK. (2011) PROMISE-EBF Study Group. Exclusive breastfeeding promotion by peer counsellors in sub-Saharan Africa (PROMISE-EBF): a cluster-randomised trial. Lancet 378(9789):420-7.
- UNICEF. (2010) Consolidated report of six-country review of breastfeeding programmes. New York: UNICEF. Available at: <u>http://www.unicef.org/nutrition/files/IYCF_Booklet_April_2010_Web.pdf</u> [accessed: September 25, 2011] **
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2008) Learning from large-scale community-based programmes to improve breastfeeding practices. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press.
 Available at: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2008/9789241597371_eng.pdf</u>
 [accessed: September 25, 2011] **
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2001) Global strategy on infant and young child feeding. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press. Available at: <u>http://apps.who.int/gb/archive/pdf_files/WHA55/ea5515.pdf</u> [Accessed: September 25, 2011]
- World Health Organization (WHO). (1998) Evidence for the ten steps to successful breastfeeding. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press. Available at: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2004/9241591544_eng.pdf</u> [accessed: September 25, 2011] **

Chapter 3 Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Academic literature review sample selection



Figure 2. Social marketing framework for breastfeeding programs presented at Institute of Medicine (IOM) United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) BF Campaign Workshop



Source: Pérez-Escamilla (2011). Presented at the IOM USDA BF campaign workshop IOM (2011)

Table 1. Characteristics of final literature sample for data extraction (n=17)

	# of
	sources
Geographic area of BF promotion program ¹	
Latin America & Caribbean: Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Honduras, Mexico, Trinidad & Tobago	7
Sub-Saharan Africa: Benin, Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Madagascar, Mali, Uganda, South Africa, Tanzania	5
East Asia: Papua New Guinea, Philippines	5
South Asia: Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Sri Lanka	4
Southeast Asia: Cambodia, Indonesia, Thailand	3
Methods used in study ¹	
Case study	6
Literature review	4
Thought piece using empirical evidence from other studies	4
Pre-post intervention without comparison group	3
Cross-sectional interviews/questionnaire	2
Qualitative in-depth interview/focus group/participant observation	2
Pre-post intervention with comparison group	2
Randomized Controlled Community Trial	1
Cost-effectiveness	1
¹ Total is greater than 100% as some sources covered multiple countries, and/or used multiple methods.	

Table 2. Enabling factors for the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of exclusive breastfeeding by AIDED model components

Enabling Factor	# sources citing factor	AIDED model components mapped to factor
Contextual		
International advocacy groups: IBFAN, WABA	5	Develop
Evidence-based recommendations: timely initiation of BF; EBF for 6 months (WHO)	5	Develop
International consensus meetings/declarations: Bellagio and beyond	8	Develop
Political support		
Cost/savings analyses	6	Assess
Local advocacy & coalition building, including public opinion leaders	8	Develop
Civil society mobilization & engagement	6	Develop
Political sensitization	6	Develop
Political will	6	Develop
Long term commitment to scaling-up	9	Devolve
Process and sustainability facilitators		
Research & evaluation		
Baseline facility and community needs assessments	7	Assess
Operational (formative) research/pilot studies	8	Assess
Program delivery		
Facility-based delivery system: e.g., BFHI	8	Innovate, Develop, Engage, Devolve
Community-based EBF promotion & support: baby friendly primary health care units, peer counselors, community health workers, mother-to-mother support groups	8	Innovate, Develop, Engage, Devolve
Communications/mass media campaigns; targeting opinion leaders, policy makers, mothers; simple and doable messages; celebrities	8	Innovate, Develop, Engage
Visible community events: world breastfeeding week, other	3	Innovate, Engage, Devolve
Program delivery through other existing programs: immunizations, diarrheal control, family planning, and other programs	6	Innovate, Develop, Engage, Devolve
Workforce development		
Training: administrators, health professionals, and paraprofessionals	10	Develop, Devolve

Endorsement from medical societies	3	Develop
Medical/nursing school curriculums	3	Develop
Legislation		
Legislation: maternity leave, work place, WHO Code	6	Develop, Devolve
Program coordination & quality control		
Intersectoral coordination: government, civil society (NGOs, philanthropists), medical societies, academic researchers, mass media	8	Develop, Engage, Devolve
Monitoring and evaluation; low-cost; rapid response	6	Assess, Devolve

Table 3. Barriers to the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of exclusive breastfeeding by AIDED model components

Barrier	# sources citing factor	AIDED model component(s) mapped to factor
Unethical marketing of infant formula	7	Develop, Engage, Devolve
Maternal employment	2	Engage
Unsustainable workforce development system (affects sustainability)	3	Devolve
Overburdened staff in medical facilities & in community health settings	1	Devolve
CHW investment just to promote BF difficult to justify	5	Develop, Devolve
Strong dependency on international aid (affects sustainability)	3	Devolve
Weak M&E systems	3	Assess, Develop, Devolve
Prolonged lag time before impacts can be detected	1	Devolve
Lack of community-level BF promotion and support	3	Develop, Engage, Devolve
Unpaid "volunteers" high turnover	3	Develop, Devolve
Cultural beliefs: "insufficient" milk, other	5	Innovate, Engage
Lack of multilevel incentives	1	Assess, Devolve
Program "fatigue"	2	Devolve
Lack of referral system for lactation management problems	1	Engage
Poor interpersonal communication skills among peer counselors/community health workers	2	Assess, Develop, Engage

Chapter 4 - Community Health Worker Approaches: An Application of the AIDED Model

Background

Community health workers (CHWs) are a critical element of primary health care delivery, particularly in low- and middle-income countries. CHWs provide basic public health services and medical care and are typically members of the communities in which they work. CHW activities may include educating community members about health risks, promoting healthy behaviors, or linking community members with providers at formal health care facilities. CHWs are often volunteers although some receive financial compensation or other benefits; however, CHWs lack a professional health care certification, which distinguishes them from other health care providers such as doctors or nurses (Lewin et al, 2010). CHWs are also known in some contexts as village health workers, community health promoters, lay health workers, *promotores*, and other terms (Bhattacharyya et al, 2001; Bhutta et al, 2010). Because of their ability to reach community members at relatively low cost, CHWs have been proposed and deployed as a means for achieving a wide range of disease prevention and health system strengthening objectives (Haines et al, 2007; Hermann et al, 2009).

The positive impact of CHWs on disease prevention, healthy behavior adoption, and access to care has been documented in diverse contexts (EHSE/JSI Project, 2001; Lewin et al, 2010; Bhutta et al, 2010). In low- and middle-income countries, CHWs have been found to be effective in reducing neonatal mortality (Baqui et al, 2008), child mortality due to pneumonia (Sazawal and Black, 2003), and mortality due to malaria (Kidane and Morrow, 2000; Wibulpolprasert, 1991). CHWs have been successful in promoting improved health behaviors including exclusive breastfeeding (Agrasada et al, 2005), adherence to HIV antiretroviral therapy and counseling (Hermann et al, 2009; Torpey et al, 2008), childhood immunization (Lewin et al, 2010), early prenatal care usage (Ahluwahlia et al, 2010), and tuberculosis treatment completion (Clarke et al, 2005). CHWs have also been a central component in the implementation of Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI) strategies, which have succeeded in reducing child mortality in multiple low- and middle-income countries (Arifeen et al, 2009; Bhattacharyya et al, 2001).

Despite the substantial evidence about the positive impact of CHWs as a model of care, less is known about effective approaches to scaling up and sustaining CHW programs. Although the scale up of individual CHW initiatives has been studied (Dawson et al, 2008; Gilson et al, 1989; Glenton et al, 2010; Koenig et al, 2004), we lack a synthesis of these studies to distill and extract key factors in the successful scale up of such programs. Accordingly, we sought to summarize existing empirical literature on scaling up and sustaining the CHW model in low- and middle-income countries with attention to factors associated with successful scale up of these programs. In addition, we sought to map the findings from the empirical literature to the conceptual components of the AIDED model to offer insight into the more general question of how to scale up innovations in organizational forms, i.e., innovations in how health services are organized for delivery. This information can provide useful guidance to policymakers, researchers, and practitioners seeking to promote CHW models of primary care or other innovations in health service delivery.

Methods

We conducted a systematic review of the peer-reviewed and gray literature on the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of CHW programs in low- and middle-income countries. We defined CHWs as persons trained to assist professional health personnel

in communicating with residents in the community concerning health needs, health behaviors, and/or the availability of health services. For both the peer-reviewed and gray literature, we searched for publications that contained keywords related both to CHWs and to dissemination, diffusion, scale up, or sustainability. The keywords used to search for CHWs were community health worker, community health aide, community worker, village health worker, barefoot doctor, health mediator, lay health worker, *promotores de salud*, peer counselor. The keywords used to search for dissemination, diffusion, scale up, or sustainability were replication, scale up, sustainability, diffusion, dissemination, take up, innovation, diffusion of innovation, technology transfer, information dissemination, acculturation, assimilation, and fidelity. The electronic search strings were refined iteratively in response to emerging data and modified as appropriate for different databases, while retaining a consistent set of core search terms across all searches. We included papers that (i) discussed CHWs, (ii) addressed factors related to the diffusion, dissemination, scale up, or sustainability of CHWs, and (iii) went beyond superficial description or commentary.

Searches for peer-reviewed literature were conducted in 11 electronic databases: MEDLINE, CINAHL, EMBASE, Web of Knowledge, PsycINFO, Global Health, EconLit, Social Sciences Citation Index, International Bibliography of Social Sciences, Social Services Abstracts, and Sociological Abstracts. We included any literature published since the earliest date indexed in each database up to the December 2010 search date. These peer-reviewed literature searches yielded an initial sample of 590 unique articles after eliminating duplicates (**Figure 1**). We screened the abstracts of all articles in this initial sample (n=590). An article was excluded at the abstract screening stage if it did not address CHWs as defined in this study (n=283) or if it did not discuss the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, or sustainability of CHWs (n=203). We then screened the full text of the articles retained following abstract screening (n=104). At the full text screening stage, an article was excluded if it did not meet the study's definition of CHWs (n=9), if it did not address dissemination, diffusion, scale up, or sustainability of CHWs (n=39), if it did not address low- or middle-income countries (n=3), if it was superficial in its discussion of CHWs and/or did not provide empirical evidence about the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, or sustainability of CHW programs (n=2), or if the full text of the article was not available online (n=33). Following the full text screening, 18 articles were retained for data extraction and analysis.

The gray literature searches targeted the publications/resources databases and web sites of the WHO, UNICEF, UNDP, UNFPA, the World Bank, the African Development Bank, the Inter-American Development Bank, and the Asian Development Bank. We also reviewed project reports published by major international aid organizations (USAID, CIDA, DFID, SIDA, GTZ), the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, and other influential nongovernmental organizations and partnerships in global health including CARE, GAIN, Family Health International, Partners in Health, John Snow, Inc., and Management Sciences for Health. Gray literature searches included any documents available via the organization's web site on the February 2011 search dates. Due to the large volume of hits generated from these web site searches, the titles of all hits were screened first. If a document appeared relevant on the basis of its title, the full text was reviewed using the same exclusion criteria as applied to the peerreviewed literature. This process resulted in five documents that addressed dissemination,

diffusion, scale up, or sustainability of community health workers in low- and middle-income countries.

Data extraction from the final sample of peer-reviewed articles (n=18) and gray literature documents (n=5) was conducted independently by two research team members using a pre-established data extraction form. For each article, the data extraction process identified the study design, the geographic location and type of health activities of the CHW intervention, the key findings related to scale up or sustainability of the CHW intervention, and the degree of success in scaling up or sustaining the intervention. Differences in preliminary data extraction results were harmonized through discussion between the two team members to arrive at a final set of factors influencing the success of CHW program scale up or sustainability. Enabling factors and barriers to scale up or sustainability were then grouped into thematic categories, with disagreements resolved through negotiated consensus between the two team members. These enabling factors and barriers were then mapped to the five AIDED model components.

Results

The final sample of 23 sources (18 peer-reviewed articles and 5 gray literature documents) included studies representing a range of geographies, methodologies, and focus areas for the CHW programs (**Table 1**). The studies included CHW programs from 25 countries, with South Asia and sub-Saharan Africa having the greatest number of studies in the sample (n=10 respectively). The most frequently studied CHW focus area was maternal, child, and newborn health and family planning (n=9); multiple sources examined CHW programs focused on specific diseases such as HIV/AIDS and/or tuberculosis (n=6), malaria (n=5), river blindness (n=4), and pneumonia (n=1). Nine of the studies used quantitative methods with either cross

sectional (n=6) or longitudinal (n=3) designs. Six of the studies used qualitative methods, such as in-depth interviews, focus groups, or observations. Seven sources presented retrospective case studies and four used literature reviews on topics related to CHW performance. The sample also included a commentary on one of the qualitative studies in our sample.

The data extraction process identified 29 enabling factors and 22 barriers to dissemination, diffusion, scale up, or sustainability of CHW programs. These enabling factors and barriers were then mapped to the five AIDED components (**Tables 2 and 3**), with some being mapped to multiple AIDED components. In the following section, we summarize the factors and barriers identified in the literature as they relate to each component of the AIDED model and provide illustrative examples for each.

Assess

The assess component refers to assessment of the broad landscape within and around a potential user community, including the needs and wants of the user community, its absorptive capacity, and the political, economic, legal/regulatory, technological and social conditions in its internal and external environments.

Enabling factors: Three enabling factors mapped to the assess component. In some cases, assessment activities were explicit; in other cases, the assessment process was inferred from a demonstrated awareness of community or environmental conditions that informed CHW program design. These enabling factors were alignment of the CHW approach with religious, moral, or ideological norms of social service (n=8), assessment of and adaptation to community needs (n=3), and targeting the CHW program to a community with favorable characteristics (n=2).
Barriers: The AIDED model suggests that the main barrier to scale up related to the assess component is the absence or inadequacy of assessment, which limits the ability of program implementers to tailor the CHW program to community needs and wants or to environmental conditions. Although a lack of assessment was not specifically mentioned in any of the literature sources as a barrier to scale up, five of the barriers found in the literature related to community or environmental conditions that might have been identified through assessment. These barriers were insufficient pay or incentives for CHWs relative to other employment opportunities (n=12), lack of support from family members/spouses for CHWs' role (n=2), CHW health messages that conflicted with community values/beliefs (n=2), inequitable distribution of incentives among different types of CHWs (n=1), and social norms around gender roles, specifically resistance to women working as CHWs (n=1).

Illustrative example: In the Gadchiroli district of India, a field trial of the impact of community health workers on neonatal mortality began by assessing the attitudes and behaviors of community members towards neonatal health (Bang et al, 2005). The researchers used focus groups of mothers and grandmothers to determine the level of knowledge around neonatal health in the target communities. These early-stage assessments revealed a fatalistic attitude towards neonatal survival, examples of taboos and harmful practices, as well as a lack of information about appropriate neonatal care within these communities. The focus group findings were used to inform the design of the CHW intervention, which focused heavily on health education to equip mothers with better knowledge and skills to care for their newborns.

Innovate

The innovate component includes designing, re-designing, and packaging an innovation so that the innovation is acceptable and perceived as advantageous by potential user groups in their specific context or environment. These processes of designing, re-designing, and packaging the innovation are aimed at achieving "fit" between the innovation, the user group, and environmental conditions.

Enabling factors: There were 24 enabling factors that mapped to the innovate component. These "design and packaging" enabling factors included the development of processes for CHW selection, training, motivation, supervision, and integration with the community and the larger health system. The most frequently cited enabling factors under this component were the recruitment of CHWs from and by the community (n=11), consistent management and supervision of CHWs and the CHW program (n=10), CHW integration or cooperation with the broader health system and existing providers (n=9), the selection of respected and motivated individuals to serve as CHWs (n=8), the alignment of the CHW approach with religious, moral, or ideological norms of social service (n=8), the provision of pay, stipend, or transportation support to CHWs (n=7), community perception of CHW tasks as valuable and focused (n=6), the existence of strong community partnership, support, or champions, including cooperation of the CHW program with existing community organizations (n=6), intensive initial or ongoing training (n=5), and the involvement of women in the CHW program (n=5). Additional enabling factors mapped to the innovate component are reported in Table 2.

Barriers: Eleven barriers mapped to the innovate component. The most frequently cited barriers were insufficient pay or incentive for CHWs relative to other employment opportunities (n=12), weak management and supervision of CHWs or the CHW program (n=9), lack of community support or perceived value of CHWs (n=8), lack of integration or respect for CHWs within the formal health system (n=7), poor training of CHWs (n=6), and lack of supplies needed by CHWs (n=5). Additional barriers from the literature that mapped to the innovate component are reported in **Table 3**.

Illustrative example: Supervision was a frequently cited aspect of the design and packaging of CHW programs that either enhanced or inhibited scale up and sustainability. Design questions relating to supervision included who would serve as supervisors, how frequently supervision would occur, where supervision would take place, and what purpose supervision would serve. The literature did not suggest a single supervision model that was effective in all circumstances; however, the consistency of supervision was identified as a critical determinant of successful CHW program scale up and sustainability in Bangladesh, Burma, Ethiopia, India, Nepal, Nigeria, Pakistan, and South Africa (Lee et al, 2009; Bang et al, 2005; Dawson et al, 2008; Emukah et al, 2008; Van Ginneken et al, 2010; Bhutta et al, 2010).

In terms of the choice of supervisors, several CHW programs scaled up using existing health care professionals as supervisors, including Brazil (Bhutta et al, 2010), Nepal (Dawson et al, 2008), Ethiopia (EHSE/JSI Project, 2001), and Honduras (Bhattacharyya et al, 2001). In other cases, however, supervision by health professionals inhibited scale up, as in Botswana where health facility staff who supervised CHWs assigned them additional facility-based responsibilities that detracted from CHWs' community work (Gilson et al, 1989), or in South

Africa where respondents indicated that nurse supervisors were unfamiliar with communitybased work and were unable to support CHWs in meaningful ways (Van Ginneken et al, 2010). An alternative approach, used by large-scale CHW programs, was to deploy more senior CHWs as supervisors, either formally as in Haiti, Pakistan, and Uganda, or informally as in Thailand (Bhutta et al, 2010; Katabarwa et al, 2005). In Uganda, a mechanism of joint supervision by the community and by the health system was established, with both parties contributing to evaluations of CHW performance (Bhutta et al, 2010).

The frequency of supervision among successful CHW programs cited in the reviewed literature ranged from daily to biweekly to monthly, although some sources did not report the frequency. A number of CHW programs, such as the shasto shebikas in Bangladesh, conducted supervision in the communities where CHWs worked whereas others, such as the Female Community Health Volunteers in Nepal, scheduled supervision to coincide with meetings or refresher trainings of CHWs in a centralized location (UNICEF, 2004). CHW programs used supervision as an accountability mechanism for evaluating CHW performance and/or an opportunity for continuing training and troubleshooting. The use of data as an explicit part of the supervisory session was identified as an enabling factor in multiple CHW programs (Bhattacharyya et al, 2001; Bhutta et al, 2010). For example, in Afghanistan, the Health Sector Support Project's systematic approach to checking CHWs' reports was a source of encouragement and motivation to CHWs, who felt that it increased the fairness of the program's compensation scheme by identifying CHWs who were and were not fulfilling their obligations (Bhattacharyya et al, 2001). These dimensions of supervision are aspects of the design of CHW programs that were tailored to fit the target community.

Develop

The develop component comprises efforts to foster enabling relationships, environments, and networks among partners that can facilitate spread of the innovation. Activities within the develop component address political, economic, socio-cultural, technological, and infrastructure conditions outside of the user group to create an environment that enables and supports take up of the innovation.

Enabling factors: Seven enabling factors mapped to the develop component. These enabling factors were integration or cooperation of CHWs with the health system or existing health care providers (n=9), Ministry of Health or other government support as reflected in financial support and rewards for CHWs, advocacy for CHWs, or initiation of the CHW program (n=9), granting CHWs preferential access to other health and development services (n=2), CHWs' coordination of their activities with non-health sector development programs (n=1), the availability of sufficient funding for the CHW program (n=1), co-financing of the CHW program by multiple levels of government (n=1), and the definition of the CHW role in a way that is clear to the CHW, community, and health system (n=1).

Barriers: Eight barriers mapped to the develop component. These were the lack of integration or respect of CHWs within the hierarchy of the health system (n=7), resistance to the CHW role from other health care providers (n=4), inadequate support from the Ministry of Health, sometimes due to competition from other health programs (n=4), unpredictability or reduction of donor funding for the CHW program (n=4), inequitable distribution of incentives among different types of CHWs (n=1), competition from private sector drug vendors (n=1),

failure to secure local government support for the CHW program (n=1), and political upheaval (n=1).

Illustrative example: In Nepal, a technical working group composed of representatives from the government of Nepal and international partners (UNICEF, WHO, USAID, and John Snow International) proposed a new CHW program to provide community-based pneumonia care using an existing CHW platform, the Female Community Health Volunteers (FCHV), that had been developed for vitamin A distribution (Dawson et al, 2008). Although the FCHV program had been successful in vitamin A distribution and other health tasks, some government officials were skeptical about whether the FCHVs – women with limited literacy and living in rural areas – would be able to correctly diagnose and treat pneumonia cases. To develop support among these government stakeholders, the technical working group conducted a trial of the new FCHV pneumonia model in two intervention districts and compared the results against two non-intervention districts that did not use FCHVs for pneumonia management. The trial found that the FCHVs' diagnoses of pneumonia matched those of an external surveyor in 81% of cases, and that when classification was correct the FCHVs always chose the correct treatment. In the intervention districts, the proportion of expected cases receiving treatment increased from a baseline of 18% to 35% in the first year of the trial; there was no change in the non-intervention districts. This evidence from the trial influenced government decision makers to scale up the program from the two initial intervention districts to 42 districts across the country over the next decade, expanding the role and sustaining the value of FCHVs in their communities.

Engage

Although engagement occurs throughout the process of dissemination and diffusion, it is particularly central to the tasks of introducing the innovation into the user group, translating the innovation so that user groups can assimilate it, and integrating the innovation into the routine practices and social norms of the user group. This component includes activities analogous to those of the innovate component but with the key difference that these activities occur within the user group.

Enabling factors: There were nine enabling factors mapped to the engage component. These enabling factors were the recruitment of CHWs from and by the community (n=11), the selection of respected and motivated individuals as CHWs (n=8), the alignment of the CHW approach with religious, moral, or ideological norms of social service (n=8), community perception of CHW tasks as valuable and focused (n=6), CHWs' perception of their role as a path to a job later (n=4), assessment of and adaptation to community needs (n=3), the targeting of the CHW program to communities with favorable characteristics (n=2), the incorporation of community or health facility field experience into CHW training (n=1), and the definition of the CHW role in a way that is clear to the CHW, community, and health system (n=1).

Barriers: Six barriers mapped to the engage component. These were lack of community support or lack of perceived value of the CHW (n=8), lack of support from a CHW's family members for the CHW's role (n=2), conflicts between CHW health messages and community values or beliefs (n=2), community perceptions of the CHW as a government employee rather than as a community volunteer (n=2), social norms around gender roles, specifically resistance

to women working as CHWs (n=1), and community mistrust of the external NGO sponsoring the CHW program (n=1).

Illustrative example: Multiple CHW programs leveraged existing social norms and structures to facilitate entry, acceptance, and success of the CHW program in new communities. In Uganda, CHWs distributing ivermectin, a drug for the control of onchocerciasis, were found to be improperly charging fees for the drug to community members who were not of their same kinship group (Katabarwa et al, 2005; Katabarwa and Richards, 2001). To mitigate the incentive for CHWs to charge fees to non-kin community members, the NGO running the onchocerciasis control program revised the selection procedures and service areas to follow kinship rather than geographic lines, with CHWs selected by their respective kinsmen in a general meeting and responsible for providing services only in their respective kinship zones rather than to a geographically-defined community. Because these kinship networks were governed by social norms of mutual aid and accountability, reorganization of the CHW program along kinship lines reduced the practice of CHWs charging for their services and enabled the onchocerciasis control program to achieve and maintain its coverage target.

In Nepal, the FCHV program was scaled up to the national level and sustained for more than 20 years without the use of financial incentives for CHWs, supported instead by CHWs' belief that they had an obligation to their communities and that their service to the community garnered religious and moral merit (*dharma*) (Glenton et al, 2010; UNICEF, 2004; Maes et al, 2010). Some FCHV program informants reported that FCHVs did not want to receive a formal salary because their volunteer status garnered respect and moral approbation in the community, which would be jeopardized if FCHVs were paid for their services (Glenton et al,

2010). Although some debate exists around whether or not FCHVs should receive monetary or other material benefits (UNICEF, 2004; Maes et al, 2010), the evidence from Nepal demonstrates the potential scale, endurance, and cost effectiveness of CHW programs that succeed in integrating themselves with existing community norms.

Devolve

This component involves the index user groups releasing and spreading the innovation to new user groups within their peer networks. These user groups and their networks replicate and release the innovation (in adapted and potentially failed forms) in the way they see most appropriate. The literature reviewed on CHW programs identified only one enabling factor mapped to the devolve component, namely when children or family members of CHWs assumed the CHW role when the CHW retired (n=1). None of the barriers mapped to the devolve component.

Illustrative example: Thailand offers an example of the spread of CHWs from one generation to the next. In Thailand, the Village Health Volunteer (VHV) program has operated since 1978, with nationwide coverage since 1986 (Bhutta et al, 2010). Many VHVs serve for life, with their children or other family members assuming the role when the original VHV retires. This transmission of the VHV role within families across generations was identified as a factor that has enhanced the sustainability of the program within the broader context of continued support and supervision from Thailand's formal public sector health system.

Discussion

Our results offer empirical support, in varying degrees, for the five AIDED model components. Activities within the components of innovate, develop, and engage were

consistently described as essential to CHW program expansion and endurance. Key aspects of innovate, develop, and engage included designing the CHW program in tailored ways to be acceptable and attractive within community norms, addressing potential resistance from potentially competing providers and other environmental forces, and working in close collaboration to integrate within existing community activities. In contrast, activities in the assess and devolve components of the AIDED model were supported in the literature but in more implicit ways. For instance, many of the barriers to scale up and sustainability that were identified in the literature might have been addressed through early-stage assessment, although this was not explicitly documented in the literature. Examples of barriers that might have been detected by assessment included competition from other CHW programs or private sector drug vendors, the availability of non-CHW paid employment in a community, and social norms around gender roles and family responsibilities in the community. We hypothesize that the lack of assess component activities may reflect a relatively 'top down' approach to CHWs, which the AIDED model suggests will be less successful in scale up and sustainability. In the case of the devolve component, we hypothesize that the literature offers few examples of community members or CHWs themselves spreading the CHW program to new communities because CHW programs are typically not designed to be self-replicating in this way, mainly for reasons of quality control and the non-profit nature of many CHW programs.

Our findings suggest several lessons for efforts to scale up CHW programs as well as other organizational form innovations in low- and middle-income countries. First, integrating CHWs with existing health service delivery organizations and the formal health system contributes to successful dissemination and sustainability. Integration with the existing health

system spans the components of assess, innovate, and develop. Integration begins under the assess component through such activities as identifying the structure, functions, and success of existing health care providers and other CHW programs. Under the innovate component, integration with the health system involves defining CHW roles relative to those of professional health care providers, setting CHW incentives that are compatible with those in the existing health system, developing referral systems from CHWs to health care facilities, and creating reliable supply chains. Under the develop component, fostering support to facilitate integration may include securing public endorsements of the CHW program from government leaders, employing professional health care providers as supervisors of CHWs, or cultivating sustainable sources of financing for the CHW program from government, donors, and the community. These different aspects of integration enhance the likelihood of a CHW program successfully embedding and sustaining itself in index user groups and subsequent user groups.

Second, CHW programs need to be designed in such a way as to be acceptable to the community in which they will operate. The literature suggests that CHW programs need to be evidence-based and aligned with epidemiological need as well as responsive to community preferences and demands. Activities under the assess, innovate, and engage components are important to designing CHW programs that not only respond to objective health needs in the community but that are *perceived* as valuable by that community. Designing and packaging CHW programs to be accepted by the community requires understanding a community's perceived needs, such as for curative care rather than preventative education (Bhattacharyya et al, 2001). CHW programs may need to start with 'quick wins' and visible life-saving interventions such as obstetric care or pneumonia treatment for infants to gain credibility and

secure an audience for preventive activities such as counseling on reproductive health and nutrition. A repeated finding from the literature is that CHWs need to be credible people in the community in order to be accepted by that community. In many of the cases reviewed, credibility required that the CHW had to be a member of the community that he or she served, whether this community was a target population, a geographically-delimited territory, or a kinship group; in addition, successful programs often involved the community in nominating or selecting individuals to join the CHW program. CHW services also need to be effective in order for the program to be accepted by the community. Effectiveness of CHW services also depends on inputs such as consistent supervision, monitoring and feedback systems, continuing education through refresher training, and training of CHWs in communication and facilitation skills in addition to technical care giving. These inputs can be designed under the innovate component and they are implemented and refined through engagement with the community.

Third, CHW programs need to be designed to withstand competition from the broader economic environment. Although CHW programs operate in environments with social, political, and technological dimensions, the economic environment was consistently highlighted in the literature as a potential threat to the survival and success of CHW programs. As many CHWs are de facto volunteers working without any formal salary, the availability of more lucrative employment alternatives was a leading cause of attrition among CHWs in multiple studies (Delacotte et al, 1996; Edwards and Roelofs, 2006; Emukah et al, 2008). Even among CHWs who did receive monetary remuneration of some kind, irregular payment of these stipends led CHWs to drop out of the program in search of more consistent income sources (Bhutta et al, 2010; Bhattacharyya et al, 2001). Some CHW programs in which CHWs sold

medicines and supplies also faced competition from existing private sector vendors (UNICEF, 2004). In communities in which multiple types of CHW or other community development workers operated, inequalities in the levels of financial incentives bred jealousy and discontent, which may have lessened some CHWs' enthusiasm for their work (Bhutta et al, 2010; Bhattacharyya et al, 2001). In addition, CHW programs also faced competition from other health sector programs that attracted donor and government support away from CHWs (Van Ginneken et al, 2010; Edwards and Roelofs, 2006). Several studies cited CHWs' desire for professional advancement through their CHW activities (Gilson et al, 1989; Schneider et al, 2008), and where such opportunities for professional advancement were formally incorporated into CHW programs, such as in Pakistan, Ethiopia, and Haiti, they were viewed as contributing to CHW motivation and program success (Bhutta et al, 2010).

These findings suggest that the economic environment must be considered in the components of assess, innovate, and develop. Under the assess component, existing CHW programs and competing suppliers of goods and services in the target user groups need to be identified. Prevailing employment opportunities for individuals who might be selected as CHWs should also be considered. For example, some CHW programs explicitly targeted communities with a high proportion of educated residents but few job opportunities for those residents (Gilson et al, 1989; Bhutta et al, 2010). Assessment also includes diagnosis of the likely funding situation, including the sustainability of donor or government funding and the degree of competition from other health priorities. Under the innovate component, the literature suggests that designing CHW programs to withstand competition chiefly involves developing the right mix of monetary and non-monetary incentives to maintain CHW participation, or

developing a low-cost training model that reduces the costs of attrition. Building explicit opportunities for continuing education, certification, or other professional advancement into the CHW program and setting CHW selection criteria to choose those with fewer alternative employment prospects may also insulate CHW programs against economic competition in the environment. The develop component may involve activities such as cultivating ongoing funding for the CHW program from donors and governments, leveraging the CHW platform to secure funding from other health and development programs, or advocating for regulations that restrict competition from other service providers such as unlicensed pharmacies.

Fourth, mechanisms for maintaining morale and motivation of CHWs need to be built in to the program. Maintaining CHW morale and motivation was described in the literature primarily as an issue of program design, which was mapped to the innovate component of the AIDED model. Multiple studies described the need to supply some ongoing form of incentive or motivation to CHWs; however, CHW programs differed as to whether this source would be CHWs themselves, the community, or an external agency. Programs in which CHWs were selfmotivated included those in which CHWs believed their service to be religious in nature (or contributing to a personal religious goal) and those using peer networks or teams of CHWs to deliver services or to provide feedback and support. Examples of community-based motivations for CHWs included community management committees to which the CHW was accountable (Uganda; Bhutta et al, 2010), selection of CHWs to serve their own kinship group rather than a geographic community (Uganda; Katabarwa et al, 2005), creation of community funds to support the costs of the CHW program (Nepal; UNICEF, 2004), exemption of CHWs from community labor requirements (Bhutan; UNICEF, 2004), and regular festivals held by the

community to celebrate CHWs' work (Madagascar; Bhattacharyya et al, 2001; Thailand; Bhutta et al, 2010). External agency motivations often took the form of either non-monetary material or status rewards. Non-monetary material rewards included preferential access to micro-credit or health care services or in-kind gifts such as foodstuffs. Status rewards included special forms of identification, such as badges or t-shirts, or public recognition through ceremonies or certificates. Some of the CHW programs described in the literature combined multiple sources of motivation from CHWs themselves, the community, and external agencies; no single best combination of motivational approaches emerged, but rather the combination of motivational sources depended on the program's specific context.

A related series of findings on CHW morale and motivation emphasized the need to avoid overloading CHWs, especially when they were volunteers with other household or employment responsibilities. Even CHW programs with motivational elements could fail if CHWs were required to spend too much time traveling between houses or communities (Nigeria; Emukah et al, 2008), if their CHW duties conflicted with other household or family obligations (India; Sivaram and Celentano, 2003; Ethiopia; EHSE/JSI Project, 2001), or if the CHW was assigned too many tasks without adequate training or supervision (Bhattacharyya et al, 2001). An important activity under the innovate component is therefore matching CHWs' responsibilities with their available time and with the resources available for training and supervision so as to maintain CHW morale and motivation.

Fifth, each CHW program must address the inherent tension between the community and the larger formal health care system in a context-appropriate manner during both design and implementation, which may require adaptation throughout the life of the program. The

literature suggests that CHW approaches are successful if they are at once strongly connected to the community and also have a clearly defined role and relationship with the formal health system that is supported by government and other health service providers. CHW integration with the existing health system can provide increased investment, training, coordination, and motivation for CHWs as their role may open future employment opportunities in the health system. CHWs' close ties to the health system may also enhance the community's perception of CHWs' competence within the community as well. Nevertheless, such ties may also alienate the CHW from his or her community or cause the community to lose trust in the CHW. In some settings, affiliation with government services such as health care or community education may have negative connotations for historical reasons (EHSE/JSI Project, 2001). Some sources noted that when CHWs were paid a salary by the government, the community began to perceive them as government employees rather than as volunteers serving their own communities, which reduced the CHW's acceptance in the community (UNICEF, 2004; Bhattacharyya et al, 2001). In addition, material benefits afforded to CHWs, such as priority access to health care, had the potential to breed resentment among community members (Bhattacharyya et al, 2001). Thus the factors that motivate CHWs to continue their work may simultaneously limit the effectiveness of that work in the community. Managing this tension may require adjustments in the design of CHW incentives, the criteria for CHW selection, or the content of CHW training. The right balance between CHWs' identification with the community and integration with the broader health system will vary by context; this should be considered during both the assess and innovate components and further adjusted during the engage and devolve components.

Finally, activities within the devolve component of the AIDED model where CHW programs would be self-propagating to new communities are uncommon in the literature. Health system decision makers and CHW program managers must determine whether designing CHW programs to be self-replicating is desirable and feasible. The CHW program spread envisaged in the devolve component of the AIDED model was not described in the literature reviewed, except in the instance of transmission of the CHW role from parent to child (i.e., from one generational community to the next). Instead the CHW programs that achieved large-scale coverage and that were sustained over an extended period were all actively promoted and supported by government agencies or NGOs that were at least partially external to the communities served. These results highlight the importance of developing support among external stakeholders in scaling up and sustaining CHW programs but also raise the question of why communities or CHWs themselves do not spread the program to new communities.

We suggest that the literature's lack of examples of spread consistent with the devolve component of the AIDED model reflects both the non-revenue generating structure of many CHW programs and the need for quality control over CHW services. As a result of this combination of features, expansion of CHW programs to new communities tends to impose new costs (e.g., of training and supervision) but tends not to generate new revenues for the program. First, CHW programs are typically not profit-generating, which limits the incentive for CHWs or members of communities served by CHWs to establish CHW programs in new communities. In addition, many of the CHW programs reviewed for this study were designed to target groups with limited purchasing power, such as women and children. CHW programs also

frequently focus on preventive education, the benefits of which may not be immediately evident or may only accrue if a large enough segment of the population adopts new health behaviors, which limits the potential for CHWs to charge individuals for services rendered. The literature included selected examples of programs in which CHWs earned a small profit margin on drug sales, which was a potentially sustainable source of revenue; however, these programs experienced difficulties including supply chain interruptions and community suspicions of CHWs' motives in selling drugs (EHSE/JSI Project, 2001; UNICEF, 2004). Second, for reasons of ethics, legality, and efficacy, CHW programs, like other health programs, need to meet certain standards of quality health education and care. One mechanism for maintaining quality of CHW services is limiting training provision to only a few authorized sources (typically a government agency or NGO). As a result, the establishment of new CHW programs typically requires training, materials, or a certification of the CHW's expertise that must be provided by an entity external to the community. In theory, CHWs could be equipped not only with the skills needed for their educative or curative functions but also with skills for introducing the CHW program to new communities (e.g., for explaining the CHW role and its benefits to community leaders or referring interested individuals and communities to CHW program managers). One question for further research may be whether some training and CHW selection aspects of programs might be devolved while maintaining centralized control over quality of services and program accountability.

The lessons discussed above should be interpreted in light of several limitations. First, the final sample of peer-reviewed and gray literature sources on CHW program scale up and sustainability in low- and middle-income countries was limited (n=23). Although the literature

on CHW programs in general is substantial, there are still relatively few detailed studies of how CHW programs in these contexts expanded from idea to large scale sustained implementation. Nonetheless, the literature we reviewed included CHW programs from 25 different countries, allowing us to distill common themes across diverse programs. Second, our inclusion of gray literature, which has not been peer-reviewed, carries a potential risk that the data extracted from these sources may have been biased by the political or financial interests of the authors or publishing agencies; however, as the specific agencies publishing our gray literature (USAID, WHO, UNICEF, and the Asian Development Bank) are commonly cited sources of technical analysis and statistical data, we decided that the benefits of including this literature outweighed the risks. Finally, we analyzed the results of the literature review with respect to the AIDED model; although the model was developed using insights from key informants with extensive field experience, it has not been tested in full in a field-based setting. We acknowledge that the enabling factors and barriers for CHW program scale up and sustainability identified from the literature might be organized in ways other than the AIDED model, and that subsequent field testing of the AIDED model may update the model's components in ways that would imply a reorganization of the identified enabling factors and barriers.

Conclusions

CHW programs have been successfully scaled up and sustained in multiple low- and middle-income countries including Nepal (Dawson et al, 2008; Glenton et al, 2010), Bangladesh (UNICEF, 2004; Bhutta et al, 2010), Pakistan (Sultan et al, 2002; Bhutta et al, 2010), Thailand (Bhutta et al, 2010), and Brazil (Bhutta et al, 2010). Based on our review of the literature, shared characteristics of successful programs included strong support from both the

communities in which CHWs worked and the entities in the broader environment surrounding these communities, in particular the formal health care system. These programs also featured CHW programs designed to be effective in the respective contexts in which they operate through particular combinations of CHW role definition, selection, training, motivation, and supervision. The activities of designing effective CHW programs, developing support in the broader environment, and engaging beneficiary communities map to components of innovate, develop, and engage in the AIDED model. A frontier for further research is determining the relative importance of the components of assess and devolve in the AIDED model in contributing to CHW program scale up and sustainability. Furthermore, the development and testing of new CHW program designs in targeted geographies that can devolve with limited ongoing external investment would be a marked step forward in promoting large-scale spread of the CHW model. Such research can support the further scale up CHW programs and help realize the potential of this proven innovation to improve health in low- and middle-income countries.

References

*denotes peer-reviewed article used for data extraction in systematic literature review **denotes gray literature source used for data extraction in systematic literature review

- Agrasada GV, Gustafsson J, Kylberg E, Ewald U. (2005) Postnatal peer counseling on exclusive breastfeeding of low-birth weight infants: a randomized, controlled trial. Acta Paediatrica 94(8): 1109–15.
- Ahluwalia IB, Robinson D, Vallely L, Gieseker KE, Kabakama A. (2010) Sustainability of community-capacity to promote safer motherhood in northwest Tanzania: what remains? Global Health Promotion 17: 39.
- Arifeen ES, Hoque DE, Akter T, Rahman M, Hoque ME, Begum K, et al. (2009) Effect of the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness strategy on childhood mortality and nutrition in a rural area in Bangladesh: a cluster randomised trial. The Lancet 374 (9687): 393-403.
- Bang AT, Bang RA, Reddy HM. (2005) Home-based neonatal care: summary and applications of the field trial in rural Gadchiroli, India (1993 to 2003). Journal of Perinatology 25(Suppl 1): S62-S71.*
- Baqui AH, Arifeen ES, Darmstadt GL, Ahmed S, Williams EK, Seraji HR, et al. (2008) Effect of community-based newborn-care intervention package implemented through two service-delivery strategies in Sylhet district, Bangladesh: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. The Lancet 371(9628): 1936–44.
- Bhattacharyya K, Winch P, LeBan K, Tien M. (2001) Community Health Worker Incentives and Disincentives: How They Affect Motivation, Retention, and Sustainability. Arlington, VA: Basic Support for Institutionalizing Child Survival Project (BASICS II) for the United States Agency for International Development.**
- Bhutta ZA, Lassi ZS, Pariyo G, Huicho L. 2010. Global Experience of Community Health Workers for Delivery of Health Related Millennium Development Goals: A Systematic Review, Country Case Studies, and Recommendations for Integration into National Health Systems. Geneva: Global Health Workforce Alliance and World Health Organization.**
- Clarke M, Dick J, Zwarenstein M, Lombard CJ, Diwan VK. (2005) Lay health worker intervention with choice of DOT superior to standard TB care for farm dwellers in South Africa: a cluster randomised control trial. International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease 9(6):673–79.
- Dawson P, Pradhan Y, Houston R, Karki S, Poudel D, Hodgins S. (2008) From research to national expansion: 20 years' experience of community-based management of childhood pneumonia in Nepal. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 86(5): 339-43.*

- Delacollette C, Van der Stuyft P, Molima K. (1996) Using community health workers for malaria control: experience in Zaire. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 74(4): 423-30.*
- Edwards NC, Roelofs SM. (2006) Sustainability: the elusive dimension of international health projects. Canadian Journal of Public Health 97(1): 45-49.*
- EHSE/JSI Project, Health Finance Team. (2001) Making Community Health Workers Cost-Effective and Sustainable. Addis Ababa: USAID Ethiopia, John Snow, Inc., Abt Associates.**
- Emukah EC, Enyinnaya U, Olaniran NS, Akpan EA, Hopkins DR, Miri ES, et al. (2008) Factors affecting the attrition of community-directed distributors of ivermectin, in an onchocerciasis-control programme in the Imo and Abia states of south-eastern Nigeria. Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology 102(1): 45-51.*
- Ewasechko A., (ed.) (2009) Asia NGO Workshop: Studies of Innovation from Asia's NGOs. Manila: Development Finance International, Inc. in conjunction with the Asian Development Bank, GlaxoSmithKline, and Save the Children.**
- Gilson L, Walt G, Heggenhougen K, Owuor-Omondi L, Perera M, Ross D, et al. (1989) National community health worker programs: how can they be strengthened? Journal of Public Health Policy 10(4): 518-32.*
- Glenton C, Scheel IB, Pradhan S, Lewin S, Hodgins S, Shrestha V. (2010) The female community health volunteer programme in Nepal: decision makers' perceptions of volunteerism, payment and other incentives. Social Science & Medicine 70(12): 1920-27.*
- Haines A, Sanders D, Lehmann U, Rowe A, Lawn J, Jan S, et al. (2007) Achieving child survival goals: potential contributions of community health workers. The Lancet 369(9579): 2121-31.
- Hermann K, Van Damme W, Pariyo G, Schouten E, Assefa Y, Cirera A, Massavon W. (2009) Community health workers for ART in sub-Saharan Africa: learning from experiences – capitalizing on new opportunities. Human Resources for Health 7:31.
- Katabarwa MN, Habomugisha P, Richards Jr FO, Hopkins D. (2005) Community-directed interventions strategy enhances efficient and effective integration of health care delivery and development activities in rural disadvantaged communities of Uganda. Tropical Medicine & International Health 10(4): 312-21.*
- Katabarwa MN, Richards Jr FO. (2001) Community-directed health (CDH) workers enhance the performance and sustainability of CDH programmes: experience from ivermectin distribution in Uganda. Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology 95(3): 275-68.*

- Kidane G, Morrow RH. (2000) Teaching mothers to provide home treatment of malaria in Tigray, Ethiopia: a randomised trial. The Lancet 356(9229): 550-55.
- Koenig SP, Leandre F, Farmer PE. (2004) Scaling-up HIV treatment programmes in resourcelimited settings: the rural Haiti experience. AIDS 18(Suppl 3): S21-S25.*
- Lee CI, Smith LS, Shwe Oo EK, Scharschmidt BC, Whichard E, Kler T, et al. (2009) Internally displaced human resources for health: villager health worker partnerships to scale up a malaria control programme in active conflict areas of eastern Burma. Global Public Health 4(3): 229-41.*
- Lewin S, Munabi-Babigumira S, Glenton C, Daniels K, Bosch-Capblanch X, van Wyk BE, et al. (2010) Lay health workers in primary and community health care for maternal and child health and the management of infectious diseases. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews Issue 3 Art. No.: CD004015. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004015.pub3
- Maes KC, Kohrt BA, Closser S. (2010) Culture, status and context in community health worker pay: Pitfalls and opportunities for policy research. A commentary on Glenton et al. Social Science and Medicine 71(8): 1375-78.*
- Sazawal S, Black RE. (2003) Effect of pneumonia case management on mortality in neonates, infants, and preschool children: a meta-analysis of community-based trials. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 3: 547–56.
- Schneider H, Hlophe H, van Rensburg D. (2008) Community health workers and the response to HIV/AIDS in South Africa: tensions and prospects. Health Policy & Planning 23(3): 179-87.*
- Simon S, Chu K, Frieden M, Candrinho B, Ford N, Schneider H, Biot M. (2009) An integrated approach of community health worker support for HIV/AIDS and TB care in Angonia district, Mozambique. BMC International Health and Human Rights 9(1): 13.*
- Sivaram S, Celentano DD. (2003) Training outreach workers for AIDS prevention in rural India: is it sustainable? Health Policy & Planning 18(4): 411-20.*
- Sultan M, Cleland JG, Ali MM. (2002) Assessment of a new approach to family planning services in rural Pakistan. American Journal of Public Health 92(7): 1168-72.*
- Torpey KE, Kabaso ME, Mutale LN, Kamanga MK, Mwango AJ, Simpungwe J, et al. (2008) Adherence support workers: a way to address human resource constraints in antiretroviral treatment programs in the public health setting in Zambia. PLoS One 3(5):e2204.

- UNICEF. (2004) What Works for Children in South Asia: Community Health Workers. Kathmandu: UNICEF Regional Office for South Asia.**
- Van Ginneken N, Lewin S, Berridge V. (2010) The emergence of community health worker programmes in the late apartheid era in South Africa: an historical analysis. Social Science & Medicine 71(6): 1110-18.*
- Wibulpolprasert S. (1991) Community Financing: Thailand's Experience. Health Policy & Planning 6(4): 354-60.
- Wringe A, Cataldo F, Stevenson N, Fakoya A. (2010) Delivering comprehensive home-based care programmes for HIV: a review of lessons learned and challenges ahead in the era of antiretroviral Therapy. Health Policy and Planning 25(5): 352-62.*

Chapter 4 Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Peer-reviewed literature review sample selection



Table 1. Characteristics of final literature sample (n = 23 sources)

	# of sources
Geographic area of CHW program ¹	
South Asia: Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Nepal, Pakistan, Sri Lanka	10
Sub-Saharan Africa: Botswana, Ethiopia, Ghana, Madagascar, Mozambique, Nigeria, South Africa, Uganda, Zaire	10
Latin America & Caribbean: Brazil, Colombia, El Salvador, Haiti, Honduras	4
Southeast Asia: Burma, Indonesia, Thailand	3
East Asia: China	1
LMICs (General)	1
Responsibility area of CHWs ¹	
Maternal, child, and newborn health/family planning	9
AIDS/HIV and/or tuberculosis	6
Malaria	5
General primary health care	4
River blindness	4
Nutrition	1
Pneumonia	1
Methods used in study ¹	
Case study	7
Cross-sectional interviews/questionnaire	6
Qualitative in-depth interview/focus group/participant observation	6
Literature review	4
Pre-post intervention with comparison group	2
Pre-post intervention without comparison group	1
Thought piece using empirical evidence from other studies	1
Success of scale up or sustainability of CHW program	
Success	7
Mixed success and failure	12
Failure	3
Unclear	1
¹ Total is greater than 100% as some sources covered multiple countries, and/or used multiple methods.	

Table 2. Enabling factors for the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of community health workers (CHW) by AIDED model components

Enabling factor	# sources citing factor	AIDED model component(s) mapped to factor
CHWs were recruited from and/or by the community	11	Innovate; Engage
Consistent management and supervision of CHWs and CHW program	10	Innovate
Ministry of Health or other government support, as reflected in financial support and rewards for CHWs, advocacy for CHWs, or initiation of CHW program	9	Develop
Integration/cooperation with broader health system/existing health care providers	9	Innovate; Develop
Respected and motivated people were selected as CHWs	8	Innovate; Engage
CHW approach was aligned with religious, moral, or ideological norms of social service	8	Assess; Innovate; Engage
Pay, stipend, or transportation support provided	7	Innovate
Strong community partnership/support/champions, including cooperation of CHW program with existing community organizations	6	Innovate
Tasks of CHW viewed as valuable and focused by community	6	Innovate; Engage
Gender/female involvement	5	Innovate
Intensive training (some sources specify ongoing or interval training)	5	Innovate
CHW position was viewed as path to a job later	4	Innovate; Engage
Regular monitoring and feedback; evaluation data used	3	Innovate
Assessment of/adaptation to community needs	3	Assess; Innovate; Engage
Effective supply chain	3	Innovate
Sufficient funding available for CHW program (specific funding mechanisms for CHW program established)	2	Develop
CHWs were given preferential treatment/access to other health and development services (e.g., micro-credit, appointments at health clinic)	2	Innovate; Develop
CHWs work in teams/networks	2	Innovate

Narrowly focused set of tasks/role (disease-specific)	2	Innovate
Program targeted to communities with favorable characteristics (e.g., educated residents but limited employment options, commitment to improving own health)	2	Assess; Innovate; Engage
Children or family members of CHWs assumed CHW role when CHW retired	1	Devolve
CHW role is well defined and clear to CHW, community, and health system	1	Innovate; Develop; Engage
CHW training involves community and/or health facility field experience	1	Innovate; Engage
CHWs coordinated their activities with non-health sector development programs	1	Develop
Co-financing of CHW program by multiple levels of government (e.g., central, state, and municipal)	1	Develop
Design of CHW incentives based on behavioral science models	1	Innovate
Nonmonetary incentives provided (e.g., food or household goods, certificates, identification badges, job aids)	1	Innovate
Flexible schedule for fulfilling CHW role	1	Innovate
Charismatic initial leader of CHW program	1	Innovate

Table 3. Barriers to the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of community health workers by AIDED model components

Barrier	# sources citing factor	AIDED model components mapped to factor
Not enough pay or incentive for CHWs; CHWs wanted other employment, found other employment that paid more, or had other employment/work that competed with CHW role	12	Assess; Innovate
Weak or inconsistent management and supervision of CHWs and CHW program	9	Innovate
Lack of community support or lack of perceived value of CHW	8	Innovate; Engage
CHW was not respected or not integrated in hierarchy of health system	7	Innovate; Develop
Poor training of CHWs	6	Innovate
Lack of supplies needed by CHWs	5	Innovate
Unpredictability or reduction of donor funding for CHW program	4	Develop
Provider resistance to CHW role	4	Develop
Lack of or reduction in support from Ministry of Health, competition from other health programs	4	Develop
Distance between houses/work sites	3	Innovate
Lack of support from family members/spouses for CHWs' role	2	Assess; Engage
Stress/low morale among CHWs; CHWs feel overwhelmed by assigned tasks	2	Innovate
Inconsistent payment of monetary incentives (e.g., payment did not come on time or in promised amount)	2	Innovate
CHW health messages conflicted with community values/beliefs	2	Assess; Innovate; Engage
Lack of fidelity to recommended disease diagnosis and treatment practices	2	Innovate
Community views CHW as government employee rather than community volunteer	2	Engage
Inequitable distribution of incentives among different types of CHWs (e.g., some categories paid, others unpaid)	1	Assess; Innovate; Develop
Social norms around gender roles/ resistance to women working as CHWs	1	Assess; Engage

Community mistrust of external NGO sponsoring CHW program	1	Engage
Competition from private sector drug vendors	1	Develop
Failure to secure local government support for CHW program	1	Develop
Political upheaval	1	Develop

Chapter 5 – Social Marketing: An Application of the AIDED Model

Background

Social marketing is the application of commercial marketing techniques to design and implement programs to promote socially beneficial behavior change (Grier and Bryant, 2005). First termed 'social marketing' in the early 1970s by Philip Kotler and Gerald Zaltman (Ling et al, 1992; Sherris et al, 1985), the social marketing methodology is derived from the commercial marketing conceptual framework that includes exchange theory; audience segmentation; competition; the marketing mix of product, price, place, and promotion; consumer orientation; and continuous monitoring (Grier and Bryant, 2005). Social marketing methods have been applied all over the world, including low- and middle-income countries, with aims as diverse as promoting iron-folic acid supplementation (Cavalli-Sforza, 2005), increasing contraceptive prevalence rates (Agha et al, 2006), and enhancing human rights campaigns (Mendelson and Gerber, 2007).

Social marketing efforts have been linked to increases in targeted behaviors but not without controversy. Successful social marketing programs have resulted in increased use of insecticide-treated nets and antimalarial drugs (World Health Organization, 2006), expansion of intrauterine device and medical abortion services (Ewasechko, 2009), scale up of exclusive breastfeeding practices (Institute of Medicine, 2011), and increased utilization of effective family planning methods (Solo et al, 2005). Social marketing is also credited with contributing to the sustainability of product supply in some middle-income countries (Agha et al, 2006). At the same time, experts have argued that some social marketing campaigns have employed topdown approaches with limited local ownership (Wisner, 1988) and have been overly focused on individual behavior change with inadequate attention to the systems and social forces that result in individuals' choices (Ling et al, 1992; Pfeiffer, 2004). Additionally, some critics have suggested that social marketing relies too much on encouraging product sales and focuses on reported behavior rather than on changing actual behavior (Pfeiffer, 2004), as was the case with a Department for International Development-funded contraceptive social marketing initiative in India. The project was designed around the target of selling 45 million condoms and 550,000 cycles of oral pills. Despite this large scope, no funding was allocated to raising public awareness, monitoring results, or collecting feedback from consumers. Additionally, while the program made impressive progress on its goals (selling 44 million condoms and 776,000 cycles of oral pills) the emphasis on sales targets over consumer awareness objectives prompted an over-stretch in resources that rendered the initiative unsustainable (DFID, 1998).

Although extensive literature exists on the use of social marketing methods to promote particular health interventions, we know less about the dissemination, diffusion, and scale up of social marketing as a field or practice. We therefore conducted a review of peer-reviewed and gray literature related to the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of social marketing with an emphasis on the enabling factors and barriers for widespread scale up of social marketing. Findings may offer useful guidance to donors, educators, researchers and practitioners seeking to develop replicable social marketing programs and to promote social marketing as a field.

Methods

To identify the relevant peer-reviewed literature, we searched 11 electronic databases (CINAHL, Econlit, Global Health, IBSS, MEDLINE (Ovid), PsycINFO (Ovid), Scopus (EMBASE), Social Sciences Citation Index, Social Services Abstracts, Sociological Abstracts, and Web of Knowledge) for literature addressing the diffusion, dissemination, scale up and/or sustainability of social marketing. For the purposes of our study, we defined social marketing as the application of commercial marketing techniques to promote ideas, attitudes and behaviors in a target audience; focusing on the design and use of programs seeking to achieve specific behavioral goals for the benefit of the general society. Programs in which the primary goal is to earn a profit were excluded.

The searches yielded an initial sample of unique articles after eliminating duplicates (Figure 1). We screened the abstracts of all articles in this initial sample (n=538) in two phases. First, in the abstract-screening phase, the article was included if two criteria were met: (1) the intervention met our study's definition of social marketing, and (2) the paper specifically addressed factors related to the diffusion, dissemination, scale up, or sustainability of the intervention. We excluded studies in which the full-text paper was not available online or were written in languages other than English, French or Spanish. We also excluded studies that were judged to be clearly irrelevant based on the abstract alone.

In the second phase of the screening process, the full-text papers were reviewed. In addition to the inclusion criteria applied in phase 1, the paper had to "go beyond superficial description or commentary and/or provide empirical evidence" in order to be included. We excluded papers that referenced social marketing projects only in high- or upper-middleincome countries, as well as papers that only referenced the scale up of a particular health intervention through social marketing, rather than the scale up of social marketing itself. Two of the documents retrieved through this method were published by UN agencies (WHO and UNAIDS), so they were set aside to be assessed as part of the gray literature review. A review of

gray literature was performed using the web sites of major global health organizations, including multilateral technical assistance and funding agencies (the World Health Organization, the United Nations Development Programme, the United Nations Population Fund, the United Nations Children's Fund, the World Bank, the African Development Bank, the Asian Development Bank, and the Inter-American Development Bank), bilateral development assistance agencies (the U.S. Agency for International Development, the UK Department for International Development, the Canadian International Development Agency, the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency, and the German Technical Cooperation), public-private partnerships (the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria and the Global Alliance for Improved Nutrition), and nongovernmental implementers (CARE, Family Health International, Partners in Health, Management Sciences for Health, and John Snow, Inc.). Gray literature searches included any documents available via the organization's web site on the February 2011 search dates. While this process retrieved several documents in which social marketing was discussed as a means of scaling up other family health innovations, only three of these were considered appropriate to addressing the scale up of social marketing itself. These were then combined with those that were retrieved as part of the academic literature review, making a total of five gray literature documents appropriate for data extraction.

Data extraction from the final sample of academic articles (n=9) and gray literature documents (n=8) was conducted independently by two research team members using a preestablished data extraction form. For each article, the data extraction process identified the study design, geographic location, and key findings related to scale up and/or sustainability. Differences in preliminary data extraction results were harmonized through discussion between

the two team members to arrive at a final set of factors influencing the success of social marketing program scale up and/or sustainability. Enabling factors and barriers to scale up and/or sustainability were then grouped into thematic categories, with disagreements resolved through negotiated consensus between the two team members.

Results

The final sample of 17 sources (9 academic articles and 8 gray literature documents) included studies representing a range of geographies and methodologies (**Table 1**). The final sample included 10 reports on social marketing in multiple low- and middle-income countries, 1 from Mozambique, 1 from Zambia, 1 from Peru, 1 from Senegal, 2 from East Asia, and 1 study that did not report a specific country. Nine of the final 17 sources used a case study methodology, 6 were thought pieces using empirical evidence from other studies, and 2 were literature reviews.

The data extraction process identified 6 enabling factors and 8 barriers to the scale up or sustainability of social marketing programs in the 17 articles that were retained in the final sample. These enabling factors and barriers were mapped to the 5 AIDED components (**Tables 2 and 3**). In mapping the enabling factors and barriers to the AIDED components, we included both cases where social marketing as a business model spread from one organization to another as well as where social marketing campaigns spread to new geographic or demographic communities. Some enabling factors and barriers mapped to multiple components, and we discussed these within the component with which they were most aligned. In the following section, we summarize the factors (or key activities) and barriers
identified in the literature as they relate to each component of the AIDED model, and provide illustrative examples for each.

Assess

The assess component refers to assessment of the broad landscape within a potential user community, including the receptivity and demands of the user community, its absorptive capacity, and the political, economic, legal/regulatory, technological and social conditions within its internal and external environment.

Enabling factors: One enabling factor was mapped to the assess component: comprehensive formative research to enable market segmentation, tailored promotional and educational materials and delivery strategies (n=5). One barrier factor mapped to the assess component, essentially the converse of the enabling factor: lack of formative research to understand social/cultural norms, preferences and concerns of target user groups (n=1).

Illustrative examples: Bangladesh saw great success with contraceptive social marketing in the 1980s, with over 130 million condoms and more than 2.2 million cycles of oral contraceptives distributed in a 10-year period (Ling et al, 1992). These high distribution rates have been attributed in part to qualitative formative research that helped to effectively segment the audience and identify potential sources of resistance. The research identified men as the target audience of the media program because of their perceived unwillingness to accept contraceptive use (Ling et al, 1992). Research also found that men were most receptive to messaging that promoted family planning as a vehicle for enabling them to better educate their children (Sherris et al, 1985). Fourteen months after the start of the radio campaign, the program witnessed an increase in interpersonal discussions about family planning and a decrease in the number of people who believed that modern contraception is unsafe (Ling et al, 1992).

Another example of successful scale up of social marketing comes from the Global Public-Private Partnership for Handwashing with Soap (GPPPHS), which in the ten years since inception has moved from a three-country pilot to hand washing with soap campaigns in 15 countries. The Partnership also launched the world's first ever Global Handwashing Day, which had events in 73 countries in 2008, and in 2009, had participation from 600,000 schools across 83 countries (GPPPHS: History of the PPPHW). Founded in 2001, the GPPPHS was heavily influenced by the lessons learned from the hand washing initiative Programma Saniya, in Burkina Faso, which found that careful consumer research at the outset of a hand washing promotion program was a key factor for achieving results (Favin and Alfaro, 2004). As a result, the GPPPHS pilot project in Senegal implemented a large quantitative study to identify which behavioral determinants were correlated with hand washing with soap among mothers, finding that access to soap and to a designated place for hand washing were statistically correlated with hand washing (Devine and Koita 2010). The project team therefore identified the creation of a designated place for hand washing, as well as improving the availability of soap and water in the household as key objectives. In the same campaign, a billboard was developed to address a woman's commitment to the health of her family. An image of a mother and her children was used with the statement, 'I commit myself to getting my family to wash hands with soap.' During a monthly meeting with project teams, in response to men's frustration with being excluded from the campaign and from household visits with fieldworkers, GPPPHS produced a

revised billboard depicting husband and wife with the saying, 'We commit ourselves more than ever to getting our family to wash their hands with soap.' (Devine and Koita, 2010)

The potential consequences of failing to assess social/cultural and religious norms and concerns is highlighted in an example from Mozambique, where a national condom social marketing project produced a destructive backlash within the country's deeply religious communities when the messaging employed controversial images and suggestive slogans. Communities were not substantively consulted in the design of the campaign to promote the 'Jeito' brand of condom, nor was the influential network of Pentecostal and African Independent Churches (to which more than 50 percent of the peri-urban populations belong) substantially engaged. This group later became a vocal protestor to the campaign, which was perceived as promoting the promiscuity that they ultimately came to believe was the cause of HIV (Pfeiffer, 2004). This example illustrates how a top-down approach that ignores community participation in all phases of scale up can not only alienate important segments of the population that could have been allies, but also spread messages that are harmful and deepen the complexity of the problem.

Innovate

The innovate component includes designing, redesigning, and packaging an innovation so that it is acceptable and perceived as advantageous by potential user groups in their specific context or environment.

Enabling factors: Three factors mapped to the innovate component: use of comprehensive, formative and ongoing research data to tailor and refine design and packaging

(n=5), use of indigenous institutions (e.g., local authorities) and people in program planning (n=6), and public-private partnership in delivery of social marketing campaigns (n=7).

Barriers: Two barriers mapped to the innovate component: lack of community participation/top down strategies (n=3) and insufficient attention to social determinants of health in innovation design (n=3).

Illustrative examples: A project focused on improving reproductive health education for women in remote and inaccessible areas in Kenya designed the program to fit the local environment and practices. Because women travelled regularly to markets in their districts, the 'Market Day Midwives' project placed kiosks in the markets of 12 districts, staffed by trained midwives. Initially, the midwives had been trained to emphasize family planning and maternal-child health; however interest and demand prompted the program to grow to include perinatal care and prevention of sexually transmitted diseases, and to expand the target groups to include adolescents of both sexes and men. Although local authorities (secular and religious leaders and district health management teams) initially opposed this expansion of services, as public enthusiasm increased they became supportive, with important roles in leading publicity drives to raise awareness. Kiosks were outfitted with supplies such as male condoms, medical supplies and vaccines, essentially evolving into informal clinics. After two years, the number of clients attending these kiosks grew by 600 percent – from 164,600 in the first year to 989,000 in the second (Fox, 2000).

In Zambia, partnership with the commercial sector allowed for expanded reach of a campaign to promote the use of insecticide-treated nets. A voucher program sponsored by NetMark posted advertising in Zambian railway lines and encouraged the sale of ITNs through

local distributors. Of the 389,000 ITNs distributed by NetMark in the period between 2002 and 2005, nearly a quarter were facilitated by the voucher process. At the same time, partnership with the Mama Safenite brand of ITN has allowed for subsidized distribution at antenatal clinics, expanding into seven of the country's nine provinces by 2005 (WHO, 2006).

An example of the failure to design an innovation so that it would be acceptable to potential user groups comes from a contraceptive social marketing campaign in Honduras. In the packaging phase, program staff considered input from formative research with community members, but had failed to work with government officials. Program staff chose to name the condoms "Guardian". All of the packaging and promotional materials were produced before the program staff discovered that "guardian" is the name the Honduran Ministry of Health had given its rural health workers (Sherris et al, 1985) and would likely confuse or not appeal to potential user groups.

Develop

The develop component refers to priming the environment to be supportive of increased use of the innovation, not only enhancing awareness of the innovation but also building support from stakeholders and addressing resistance that might exist.

Enabling factors: Two enabling factors mapped to the develop component: government support for the innovation (n=2) and public-private partnerships (n=7).

Barriers: Four barriers mapped to the develop component: inadequate documentation of lessons learned and success of social marketing (n=3), limited evidence of cost-effectiveness (n=4), perception of social marketing as a poorly defined or insufficiently rigorous field (n=2), and competition from public sector and subsidized programs (n=1).

Illustrative examples: Multiple examples of the ways in which public-private partnerships may be advantageous in social marketing efforts are described in Partnerships for Malaria: engaging the formal and informal sectors (WHO 2006). A multi-stakeholder partnership in Tanzania aimed at reducing malaria had representation from private sector (including net and insecticide manufacturers, and marketing firms), public and NGO sectors, research and academic institutions, donors, and multilateral agencies. Each stakeholder's unique strengths were leveraged as part of a taskforce against malaria. For example, the government created an enabling environment for ITNs by focusing on policy and regulatory issues such as the removal of taxes, favorable insecticide regulatory conditions, net quality control and generic demand creation. The NGO sector focused on developing grass root demand, the research community assisted with informing the innovation design through product development and market research, and bilateral donors provided strategic funding support and helped with strategic thinking across sectors. The resulting social marketing project SMARTNET, managed by PSI Tanzania, supported the expansion of the Tanzanian net manufacturers' market through advertisement of their products, help with distribution and transport subsidies to remote locations. By 2004, nearly 2 million insecticide-bundled nets had been distributed and growth was projected to continue (WHO, 2006).

One example of how social marketing can expand commercial markets and support increased use of the innovation comes from Nigeria, where a Futures Group initiative used donor funds to support and strengthen the marketing efforts of competing manufacturers of insecticides and nets. The project partnered with the commercial sector on product branding and enhancement of distribution networks and led to a boost in competition that has driven down prices, created wider choice for consumers, encouraged distributors to improve their own marketing strategies, and generally increased business confidence into the ITN market (WHO, 2006).

Engage

Although engagement occurs throughout the process of dissemination and diffusion, it is particularly central to the tasks of introducing the innovation into the user group, translating the innovation so that user groups can assimilate the new information, and integrating the innovation into the routine practices and social norms of the user group. Descriptions of activities within the engage component were uncommon in the literature, although social marketing case studies do describe engaging users through tailored messaging. When the engage component was discussed, it was often in the context of failing to introduce, translate, or integrate social marketing successfully.

Enabling factors: Three factors pertinent to the engage component were identified in the literature: use of indigenous institutions (e.g. local authorities) and people in program planning, operation and evaluation of social marketing campaigns (n= 6), development of professional standards and academic training programs to legitimize social marketing as a field (n=1), public-private partnerships (n=7) and engagement at all levels with the various stakeholders identified as essential to social marketing's success (n=1).

Barriers: Two barriers to scale up related to the engage component pertain to perceptions that social marketing pays insufficient attention to the social determinants of health (n=3), and is perceived as a poorly defined or insufficiently rigorous field (n=2).

Illustrative examples: One example of a public-private partnership helping to take social marketing to scale comes from a program in India that is working to expand the provision of intrauterine devices and medical abortion services in two of the poorest regions. Indian nonprofit Janani combines social marketing with a clinic-based service delivery program and franchise network through which doctors in rural areas provide low-cost services. Janani's network of franchised 'Titli' centers is run by over 22,000 rural medical practitioners who are trained to sell condoms, oral contraceptives and over-the-counter pregnancy tests. Importantly, each practitioner is partnered with a woman from the community who acts as liaison between the rural communities and the clinics. Large subsidies provided by the Government of India for condoms and pills make contraceptives affordable to Janani's predominantly poor clients. Additionally, Janani's IUD program has benefited from the National Rural Health Mission Public-Private Partnership, through which the government accredits NGOs and private sector health facilities and provides financial support for some health services. Over a 9-year period, Janani protected 10.2 million couples and averted 5.8 million unwanted pregnancies, and in 2009 was in the process of increasing its Suriya clinics from 18 to 40 in order to expand IUD and medical abortion services (Ewasechko, 2009).

The hand washing initiative demonstrates the importance of local translation of the innovation in ways that can be appreciated by the target user group. The same core message "wash your hands with soap," had to be delivered in a way that was particular to each community. While the innovation successfully replicated in more than a dozen settings, in each country the Partnership took the time to evaluate hand washing behaviors and find local champions to oversee the initiative (GPPPHS, History of the PPPHW). The insight collected in

each user group informed the development of effective, locally-appropriate campaigns. When piloted in Peru, research found that a major barrier to using soap was the misconception that rinsing hands in water is sufficient for making them clean. To counteract this belief, the project team developed a superhero character, Super Jaboncín, who "gains the power to fight germs by adding soap to water (Devine and Peschiera, 2010)." A later campaign, initiated in Vietnam, crafted a culturally relevant character called Bi, a local schoolboy whose adventures with hand washing were presented in comics in a popular children's magazine and later modified into an animated cartoon (Dutton et al, 2011).

Devolve

The devolve component involves the index user groups releasing and spreading the innovation for its re-introduction in new user groups within their social or professional networks. We found little discussion of enabling factors and barriers for devolve in the literature, although some of the prominent social marketing campaigns in public health have demonstrated sustainability and have expanded to new communities and contexts over time (Sherris et al, 1985; Institute of Medicine, 2011; GPPPHS, History of the PPPHW).

Enabling factors: Two enabling factors related to the devolution of an innovation was public-private partnerships (n=7) and the use of indigenous institutions in program planning, operation and evaluation (n=6).

Barrier: Three barriers to scale up were mapped to devolve: limited evidence that social marketing of certain behaviors or products is cost-effective (n=4), a weak commercial infrastructure (n=1), and competition from the public sector and other subsidized programs (n=1).

Illustrative examples: In Morocco and the Dominican Republic, donor-funded projects partnered with commercial entities that marketed their contraceptive brands at prices lower than the prices of other commercial brands. Termed the 'manufacturer's model,' the partnership made it profitable for the commercial entity to continue the distribution and marketing of the product after the donor support ended. In both countries, the commercial sector share of the oral contraceptive market increased among lower- and middle-income women during the donor-supported period of implementation; with some variance, these increases were sustained in the period following donor withdrawal (Agha et al, 2006). Importantly, the manufacturer's model is likely to be successful only if certain conditions are met. Evidence from contraceptive social marketing suggests that the manufacturer's model should only be considered in middle-income countries that already have developed markets for the particular health product to be marketed (Hovig, 2001).

Discussion

Our results offer empirical support, in varying degrees, for the five AIDED model components. A significant limitation in our analysis was the focus on scaling up social marketing in low-income countries, which is not often studied. While ample research has been conducted on social marketing campaigns in high-income countries, these were excluded as part of our research design. Furthermore, when social marketing is discussed in the literature, in any setting, it is almost always a vehicle for scaling up other public health interventions. Very little has been written about how to scale up social marketing as an innovation in itself.

The literature includes examples of activities in assess, innovate and develop that were described as vital to the scale up of social marketing. In particular, formative research,

conducted at the earliest stages of the process using multiple approaches and sources of data, is essential for the development of social marketing campaigns. Potential sources of data include demographic, psychographic (attitudes, preferences) and social structure (church, work, family) information as well as communication and information distribution channel maps. The lack of such research has substantially undermined change efforts. As demonstrated by the hand washing and family planning programs described here, tailored messaging informed by indepth research of consumer behaviors and preferences is central to the process of both designing and implementing successful social marketing campaigns.

Less commonly described in the literature are activities that might comprise the engage and devolve components of the AIDED model. The lack of examples of engage (including entry, translation, and integration) is consistent with criticisms that social marketing is often more top-down in its approach. The absence of devolve reflects the relative rarity with which social marketing has become self-propagating and diffused across user groups. This is likely due to the current ambiguity about the definition and methodology of social marketing, the lack of academic research and compelling evidence about its cost-effectiveness, and the perceptions in some low-income countries that marketing approaches cannot be used effectively in public health. Future work to scale up social marketing will require investment in strategies to overcome these barriers to its widespread application as a public health intervention.

References

*denotes peer-reviewed article used for data extraction in systematic literature review **denotes gray literature source used for data extraction in systematic literature review

- Agha S, Do M, Armand F. (2006) When donor support ends: The fate of social marketing products and the markets they help create. Social Marketing Quarterly 12(2): 28-42. *
- Andreasen AR. (2002) Marketing social marketing in the social change marketplace. Journal of Public Policy and Marketing 21(1): 3-13. *
- Cavalli-Sforza T. (2005) Effectiveness of weekly iron-folic acid supplementation to prevent and control anemia among women of reproductive age in three Asian countries: development of the master protocol and implementation plan. Nutrition Reviews 63(s2): S77-S80. *
- Devine J, Peschiera RF. (2010) Peru: A handwashing behavior change Journey. Water and Sanitation Program: Learning Note. Washington, D.C.: World Bank/Water and Sanitation Program. **
- Devine J, Koita SN. (2010) Senegal: A handwashing behavior change journey. Water and Sanitation Program: Learning Note. Washington, D.C.: World Bank/Water and Sanitation Program. **
- DFID, UK Department for International Development. (1998) A Synthesis of Population Project Evaluations. London: Department for International Development.
- Dutton P, Blackett I, Nguyen NK, Rafiqah I, Sarasdyani W, Nguyen MH, Grossman AL, Weitz A. (2011) Handwashing with Soap – Two Paths to National-Scale Programs. Washington, D.C.: World Bank/Water and Sanitation Program.
- Ewasechko A. (ed.) (2009) Asia NGO Workshop: Studies of Innovation from Asia's NGOs. Manila: Development Finance International, Inc. in conjunction with the Asian Development Bank, GlaxoSmithKline, and Save the Children. **
- Favin M, Alfaro D. (2008) Enabling environment assessment and baseline for scaling up handwashing programs: Peru. Washington, D.C.: World Bank/Water and Sanitation Program.
- Fox MP. (2000) Condom social marketing: Selected case studies. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). **
- Grier S, Bryant CA. (2005) Social Marketing in Public Health. Annu Rev Pub Health 26:319-39.
- GPPPHS, The Global Public-Private Partnership for Handwashing with Soap (Accessed Sept. 21, 2011) History of the PPPHW. <u>http://stage.globalhandwashing.org/history-ppphw</u>.

- Hovig D. (2001) The Conflict Between Profits and Public Health: A Comparison of Contraceptive Social Marketing Models. Washington, D.C.: Population Services International, Research Division. **
- Institute of Medicine. (2011) Updating the USDA National Breastfeeding Campaign, Workshop Summary. Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press.
- Ling JC, Franklin BA, Linsteadt JF, Gearon SA. (1992) Social marketing: Its place in public health. Annu. Rev. Public Health 13:341-62. *
- Mendelson SE, Gerber TP. (2007) Activist culture and transnational diffusion: Social marketing and human rights groups in Russia. Post-Soviet Affairs 23(1):50-75.
- Pfeiffer J. (2004) Condom social marketing, pentecostalism, and structural adjustment in Mozambique: a clash of AIDS prevention messages. Medical Anthropology Quarterly 18(1): 77-103. *
- Population Services International. (1998) Social marketing: An effective tool in the global response to HIV/AIDS. Geneva: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS).
- PRISMA. (2004) Behavioural study of handwashing with soap in peri-urban and rural areas of Peru. Lima: USAID/Environmental Health Project.
- Sherris JD, Ravenholt BB, Blackburn R, Greenberg RH, Kak N, Porter RW, Saunders S. (1985) Contraceptive social marketing: Lessons from experience. Population Reports, Series J 8(3). **
- Slaski X, Thurber MC. (2009) Research Note: Cookstoves and obstacles to technology adoption by the poor. Stanford, CA: Program on Energy and Sustainable Development. *
- Solo J, Odonkor M, Pile JM, Wickstrom J. (2005) Repositioning family planning Ghana case study: "Give them the power". New York: The ACQUIRE Project/EngenderHealth.
- Svenkerud PJ, Singhal A. (1998) Enhancing the effectiveness of HIV/AIDS prevention programs targeted to unique population groups in Thailand: lessons learned from applying concepts of diffusion of innovation and social marketing. Journal of Health Communication 3:193-216. *
- Thevos AK, Olsen SJ, Rangel JM, Kaona FAD, Tembo M, Quick RE. (2002) Social marketing and motivational interviewing as community interventions for safe water behaviors: follow up surveys in Zambia. International Quarterly of Community Health Education 21(1): 51-65. *
- World Health Organization. (2006) Partnerships for malaria control: Engaging the formal and informal sectors. Geneva: WHO Press. **

Wisner B. (1988) Gobi versus PHC? Some dangers of selective primary health care. Social Science & Medicine 26(9): 963-9. *

Chapter 5 Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Literature review schematic



(n = 9)

Table 1. Characteristics of final literature sample (n = 17 sources)

	# of sources
Methodology	
Comparative case study	2
Case study	3
Mixed methods case study	3
Thought piece with empirical evidence from other studies	6
Case control study	1
Literature review	2
TOTAL	17
Geographic area	
Multiple (LMIC)	10
East Asia	2
East Africa	2
West Africa	1
South America	1
None stated	1
TOTAL	17

Table 2. Enabling factors for dissemination, diffusion, and scale up, and sustainability of social marketing by AIDED model components (n=17)

Enabling Factor	# sources citing factor	AIDED model component(s) mapped to factor
Comprehensive formative research to enable market segmentation, tailored messaging and delivery strategies	5	Assess, Innovate
Professional standards/training for social marketing practitioners	1	Engage
Use of indigenous institutions (e.g. local authorities) and people in program planning, operation and evaluation	6	Innovate, Engage, Devolve
Government support (economic, regulatory)	2	Develop
Public-private partnerships	7	Innovate, Develop, Engage, Devolve
Purposeful engagement at all levels with the various stakeholders identified as essential to social marketing's success	1	Engage

Table 3. Barriers to the dissemination, diffusion, scale up, and sustainability of social marketing by AIDED model components (n = 17)

Barrier	# sources citing barrier	AIDED model component(s) mapped to factor
Lack of community participation/top-down strategies	3	Innovate, Engage
Weak commercial infrastructure	1	Devolve
Lack of formative research to understand social/cultural norms, preferences and concerns of target user group	1	Assess, Innovate
Insufficient attention to social determinants of health	3	Innovate
Inadequate documentation of lessons learned and success stories of social marketing	3	Develop
Limited evidence of cost-effectiveness	4	Develop
Perception of social marketing as poorly defined or insufficiently rigorous field	2	Develop, Engage
Competition from public sector and subsidized programs	1	Develop, Devolve

Chapter 6 - Summary and Next Steps

In this report, we present the product of a multi-pronged effort of our multidisciplinary team: the AIDED model. Our team consisted of representatives from a broad range of scientific disciplines, including cell biology, economics, history, management, organizational behavior, political science, public health, and social psychology; this diversity of perspectives was critical to generating new insights into the process of scale up. We conducted a comprehensive, systematic review of relevant empirical evidence in peer-reviewed and gray literature and original qualitative data from experts and practitioners in global health and family health innovations. Feedback from 'pressure testing' has been incorporated to the extent feasible within the scope of this project (See **Appendix** for feedback and our responses).

Despite the in-depth analysis that resulted in the AIDED model, it is nonetheless in a nascent stage. Central to validating the model are prospective studies in which the AIDED approach is applied in low-income countries, and its evolution tracked systematically using appropriate measures for the five components and their constituent activities. In this chapter, we summarize evidence supporting the AIDED model and propose a framework for measurement.

Summary of evidence supporting the AIDED model

As presented previously in this report, we found strong evidence from the literature that supports the model's innovate, develop, and engage components; however, although the model's assess and devolve components were described by key informants, we found relatively weak evidence for these components in the peer-reviewed or gray literature. One possible explanation for the lack of inclusion of assessment processes in written reports on scale-up efforts is that program implementers or evaluators may consider assessment as a standard

practice and therefore may limit their description in reports. In reports that include descriptions of assessment, little detail was provided. Consequently, important questions remain pertaining to the optimal investment in and approach to assessment activities. Key informants indicated that such activities were essential to successful scale up; however, the peer-reviewed literature has not examined this question in sufficient detail to support a conclusion.

We also found relatively weak evidence in the literature pertaining to effective approaches to the activities in the devolve component, despite substantial discussion of this issue by the key informants. The limited data on devolve activities was especially apparent for the CHW approach and social marketing innovations, whereas devolve activities were better documented for Depo-Provera and exclusive breastfeeding. We hypothesize that devolve activities may be limited in cases where continued external investment is needed to sustain programs (such as with the organization of government service delivery required with CHW approaches) or where negative perceptions of the innovation persist (such as in the case of social marketing in some geographies). The devolve component, particularly the role of social networks of user groups, is a critical focal area for future investigation. To what extent do innovation designers, funders, or program managers consider the potential for devolve activities in developing their designs and implementation strategies? In cases where scale up occurs, what is the role of social networks and can the process of spread from the index user groups to the second generation of user groups be mapped and evaluated precisely? These questions merit further research using rigorous qualitative and quantitative approaches, including case study methods and of social network mapping.

A key question for funders and other family health stakeholders is whether programs that use the AIDED model scale up more rapidly, more sustainably, or more cost-effectively than do programs that do not use the AIDED model. Given the substantial investment of time and resources required to carry out the activities in assess, develop and engage components, full application of the AIDED model will require substantial time investment. Nevertheless, we propose that programs using the AIDED model are more likely to be sustained than those that do not make such investments. We hypothesize that the higher upfront investment required in activities in the components of assess, develop, and engage may offset subsequent costs in the devolve component. These hypotheses require further investigation to confirm.

Central to addressing these questions is improved measurement of the key activities and outcomes of each component of the AIDED model. Development of the framework and tools for measurement is both feasible and important for validating the AIDED model in prospective studies and for evaluating its potential use with other public health innovations. Following is a framework for measurement of scale up activities and success using the AIDED model.

Framework for measurement of the AIDED model

We developed a template of activities, outputs, outcomes, outcome indicators, and means of measuring progress for the five components of scale up using the AIDED model (**Figures 1-5**). These figures display approaches and measures that may be applicable in a variety of environments and for a range of family health innovation types (e.g., product, health behavior, organizational form, or business model innovations). Many of the proposed outcome indicators could be measured using existing methods such as needs assessment, stakeholder mapping, situation analysis, and knowledge or opinion surveys; however, such methods may be time consuming or difficult to conduct in an increasing number of user groups simultaneously as an innovation scales up. The tools developed to implement these measures could be refined with application and validated to ensure that the activities identified within each component are associated with more successful scale up.

Next steps

Our systematic literature review indicates that we lack a robust evidence base for the practical "how to" of scaling up family health innovations in low-income countries. The number of studies that describe scale up of family health innovations in low-income countries remains limited, and only a small fraction of these studies provide detail sufficient to allow future innovators to replicate scale-up successes or avoid scale-up failures. Prospective studies that include in-depth and precise analysis over longer time periods are needed to document the trajectories of decisions and conditions that lead to both successful and failed scale-up efforts are needed. In addition, assuming support for the AIDED model, we suggest that the model might also be used to inform the following next steps:

- Creation of project proposal guidelines that explicitly require prospective implementers to consider and plan for activities in each of the five components of the AIDED model of scale up at the proposal stage;
- Development of proposal evaluation methods to enable prospective funders to assess the scale up potential of proposals;

- Adaptation of existing or creation of new user-friendly, field-ready social network mapping tools appropriate for mapping social networks relevant to family health innovations in low-income countries;
- Establishment of an "Assessment Fund" mechanism that would finance early stage diagnostic activities such as those included in the assess component of the AIDED model to ensure that prospective implementers have collected the information needed to inform scale-up strategy, and to assist prospective funders in selecting among possible scale-up investments; and
- Establishment of a "Devolution Fund" mechanism that would fund a variety of supports for social networks and ongoing convening of stakeholders in diverse formats. These assessment and devolution funds are particularly critical, particularly because such activities are not typically or explicitly supported through existing funding programs.

Conclusion

We sought to develop a practical model for dissemination and diffusion of innovations to understand what works in scaling up evidence-based health innovations in low-income countries, with particular focus on spread processes at the organizational and community levels, where adopting entities could include user communities, provider organizations, and policy making groups. Additionally, we sought to develop a model that would be applicable to different types of family health innovations, including products, health behaviors, organizational forms, and business models. The AIDED model reflects a comprehensive synthesis of the current knowledge base on scale up of four family health innovations, derived from empirical research and diverse conceptual and theoretical literature. Further refinement and application of the AIDED model offer promise to improve family health in low-income countries globally.

Chapter 6 Figures and Tables

Figure 1. Assess component: Flowchart of activities, outputs, outcomes, indicators, and means of measurement



¹ See forthcoming work by Dearing et al. on system readiness, expected to be submitted to BMGF in 2012.

Figure 2. Innovate component: Flowchart of activities, outputs, outcomes, indicators, and means of measurement



Figure 3. Develop component: Flowchart of activities, outputs, outcomes, indicators, and means of measurement



Figure 4. Engage component: Flowchart of activities, outputs, outcomes, indicators, and means of measurement



Figure 5. Devolve component: Flowchart of activities, outputs, outcomes, indicators, and means of measurement



Appendix

Summary of feedback in "pressure testing" sessions and our responses

To ensure that our work would have practical use, we 'pressure tested' the AIDED model with experts. Each expert provided excellent feedback, which we have summarized below with our responses to each comment. We believe our work has been strengthened substantially by this expert review and our revisions.

Pressure testing activities

We used two approaches for pressure testing the AIDED model. First, we conducted 'member checking' (Lincoln and Guba, 1985), or 'respondent validation' (Mays and Pope, 2000), a commonly used technique to establish credibility of qualitative research findings. In this process, data and interpretations are shared with study participants so that they can confirm credibility of the information. Participant reactions to the analyses are then incorporated into the analysis. We conducted these sessions with 5 of the key informants participating in the indepth interview component of the projects. Second, we presented the model in five venues, with the explicit goal of obtaining reactions and feedback; these venues were The Unite for Sight meeting (April 2011), a presentation to knowledge network experts Kate Pugh and Larry Prusak (May 2011), a telephone conference with experts from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (June 2011), and the Yale Global Health Leadership Institute Research in Progress seminar (September 2011). Some of the suggestions were relatively minor, specific and easily incorporated into the materials. In this document, we summarize the major substantive feedback, together with a brief summary of our response to integrate this feedback into the report and power point depiction of the AIDED model.

Response to feedback

The various pressure testing activities provided useful input throughout the development of the model. The feedback ranged from very detailed to high level conceptual issues. We have carefully considered all of the feedback and incorporated suggestions as feasible and appropriate

1. Discussion of community assessment relative to need, demand, and receptivity

Respondents underscored the importance of community receptivity to the innovation and cautioned against beginning the model with the innovation, rather than beginning with the user groups' receptivity to the innovation.

Response: We have revised the assessment aspect of the AIDED model to include assessment of user groups' receptivity. We also have noted the differences between public health need and

economic demand and suggested that receptivity is the more precise way to describe users groups where spread is possible.

2. Clarification of the concept "user group"

Our use of the term "user group" generated some confusion or concern among some respondents who considered the term "group" an oversimplification. They highlighted the diversity of actors involved in successful dissemination from national to district level to community levels, and the fact that environmental barriers would have different influences on different groups.

Response: The user groups in the AIDED model are end user groups, although we recognize the critically important roles of other groups (e.g., NGOs, Ministries of Health, providers) in the assess and develop components of the model.

3. Empirical testing of the model and measurement

Respondents were interested in empirical testing of the model, with the central recommendation being the development of measurement approaches for the model. Experts suggested that our previous tables were difficult to digest. People suggested streamlining their content, cutting words wherever possible. In addition, there was a request to reflect linkages across components, to convey that outputs in one stage may become inputs at the next stage.

Response: We agree that measurement is central to the implementation and empirical testing of the model. Comprehensive development of measures exceeds the scope of the present contract; however, we address issues of measurement and knowledge gaps in chapter 6, where we provide a draft framework that suggests activities, outputs, outcomes, outcome indicators, and means of measuring progress for each of the five components. We also improved the readability of the tables, not a set of 5 figures, and we suggest a series of next steps for this work.

4. Feedback on the AIDED figure/PowerPoint image

We have solicited extensive input on the graphic since its earliest version in Fall 2010. Key issues have included: a) reflect feedback loops in the model, b) begin with assessment of community receptivity, c) illustrate the principle of 'fit' better, d) represent constituent activities within each major component; and e) represent relationships between different actors in the process.

Response: The graphic of the AIDED model (Chapter 1, **Figure 2**) has been refined through several iterations in an effort to most effectively convey this highly complex process in an accessible format. We have expanded the figure to several slides, which together we believe address all of the above major comments.

5. Terminology

We received extensive feedback on the terminology throughout the pressure testing activities. Respondents suggested we be clear about the meaning of each term and avoid jargon when possible.

Response: In our final choice of terminology in these instances, we sought to be precise, concise and use language that is comprehensible and clear to the greatest extent possible. We provided explanatory text in the report to ensure clarity of key terms and concepts. In addition, we developed a glossary of terms which appears at the front of this report.

References

Lincoln Y, Guba E. (1985) Naturalistic inquiry. Newbury Park, Calif.: Sage.

Mays N, Pope C. (1995) Rigour and qualitative research. BMJ 311: 109-112.

Global Health Leadership Institute 55 Whitney Avenue, Suite 400 New Haven, CT 06510 www.yale.edu/ghli